Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya Programa de Doctorat de Matemàtica Aplicada

Departament de Matemàtica Aplicada I

HODGE NUMBERS OF IRREGULAR VARIETIES AND FIBRATIONS

by

VÍCTOR GONZÁLEZ-ALONSO

PhD dissertation

Advisors: Miguel Ángel Barja Yáñez and Juan Carlos Naranjo del Val

Barcelona, 8th of July

A Cris.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Realizar una tesis doctoral no es un viaje fácil y cómodo. Por suerte, en esta travesía he contado con magníficos compañeros que me han ayudado a esquivar baches y superar montañas. A todos ellos quiero dedicar unas palabras de agradecimiento, a sabiendas de que sólo reflejaran una pequeña parte de la realidad.

En primer lugar, quisiera mencionar a mis dos directores, Miguel Ángel y Juan Carlos, por todo lo que han hecho para que esta tesis haya llegado a su destino. Quiero agradecerles su infinita paciencia, sus valiosísimos consejos y su habilidad para guiarme, dejándome a la vez espacio para pensar por mí mismo. Tampoco puedo olvidar los innumerables cafés, comidas, cenas y viajes en que hemos compartido mucho más que geometría algebraica. Muchísimas gracias por estos casi cinco años.

Voglio anche ringraziare tantissimo il professore Gian Pietro Pirola. Lui è in qualche modo il nonno padre di questa tesi. Da lui ho imparato non solo molte idee e tecniche che ho usato spesso in questa tesi, ma anche storia e gastronomia italiana. Dal mio soggiorno a Pavia voglio ringraziare, per la sua gentilezza e ospitalità, il gruppo de geometria algebrica e gli studenti di dottorato di matematica, specialmente Lidia, Paola, Francesco, Valeria, Gloria, Emanuele e Andrea.

I would also like to thank Mihnea Popa. Our many hours working together during my stay in Chicago were unvaluable, and his ideas were crucial for many results of the first part of the thesis. Vorrei anche ringraziare Luigi, Katy e Marcial, perchè quei due mesi all'altro lato dall'oceano sono stati "superawsome" grazie a loro.

Hi ha hagut moltes persones que, no sent part activa d'aquesta tesi, han estat determinants en el camí que m'ha portat fins aquí. Molt especialment, vull agrair al Josep Grané haver-me convençut fa gairebé deu anys per emprendre aquesta aventura tan lluny dels meus. Gràcies per haver-me acompanyat als primers passos de la meva vida matemàtica.

També vull donar les gràcies a la Maria Alberich, per introduir-me des de molt aviat al món de la recerca, i no parar de proposar-me projectes singulars per distreure'm del món irregular. Espero seguir aprofitant-me de la teva energia en moltes futures col·laboracions i, sobre tot, mantenir la teva amistat en aquesta nova etapa.

No em puc oblidar del departament, els companys de despatx i els habituals de la sala del cafè. Uri, Patri, Xavi, Azahara, Eulàlia, Abdó, Adrià, Anna, Marta, Tere, Tomàs, Amadeu, Jesús, Jordi, Inma, Rosa Maria, Pau... moltes gràcies per totes les converses surrealistes entre tuppers i entrepans. També vull agrair al Jaume, al Josep i al Pere la seva disposició per ajudar-me en qualsevol pregunta que portés al seu despatx, així com a l'Hilda, l'Esther, la Maika i la Gemma per solucionar tots els problemes amb viatges, contractes i ordinadors. Aprofito també per donar les gràcies a la Mercè, la Mònica i la Raquel per estar més pendents que jo mateix dels tràmits que havia de fer a la facultat.

Una part gens menyspreable d'aquesta tesi ha crescut a la UB, on el Martín, el Carlos i la Tere m'han amenitzat molts cafès i dinars, i el José Ignacio, el Santiago, l'Ignasi i l'Eduard han compartit converses molt profitoses amb mi. Allà estaven també, sempre disposats a acollir-me al seu despatx (i fins i tot donar-me taula!), la germaneta Meri i el cosinet Andratx. Juntament amb el germà gran Martí, que fa temps va deixar el niu, han sigut la meva petita família geomètrica tot i no estar sempre junts. Moltes gràcies a tots.

La vida a Barcelona no hagués estat el mateix sense el Mikel, el Pedro, el Quim, el Dani i el Pau, descobrint la fauna santsenca a Villapolilla. Ni sense els esmorzars al Superàtic amb l'Arnau, la Laura, el Marcel i el Dídac. Ni sense els mojitos a la BdM amb l'Inma, l'Elena, el Guillem i l'Adrià. Mai oblidaré les taronges Glòria compartides amb el Jordi, la Tere, l'Alba, la Mercè, el Roc, l'Ol·lo, la Gabriela i l'Emília. De la FME em quedo amb les butis, les festes, i les tardes i nits d'estudi compartides amb la Itziar, el Pucho, el David, el Raül, el Xavi i l'Ari (i el tiramisù!). La meva salut mental hauria empitjorat encara més sense els frikis del TapiTrivial i, aquest últim any, els yonkis d'Error de Connexió. També vull donar les gràcies als companys de Germinal-Sants i al grup Antirumors, per no deixar-me perdre de vista el món en què vivim i ensenyar-me que, mica en mica, podem canviar alguna cosa.

Mirando a mi tierra natal, guardo un lugar muy especial los Q-3, infatigables compañeros de chamizo y mucho más, a los que no he dedicado tanto tiempo como se merecen. Gracias Eneko, Hapi, VikMD, Viti, Vesga, Pintxo, Miko, Kar, Borja y Mou, por saber hacer que todo siga igual después de tantos cambios. Gracias también Laura y Silvia, por las pocas tardes que hemos coincidido entre cafés y bravas. Y no me olvido de los Aguafiestas, ¡por las Fiestas más divertidas (e intensas) de los últimos años!

Para ir acabando, quiero agradecer a mis padres y mi hermano todo lo que han hecho por mi, no ya estos últimos años, sino desde siempre. Gracias Jaime, por contagiarme tu generosidad y enseñarme a seguir mi pasión sin obsesionarme por el futuro lejano. Gracias Mila, por inculcarme el valor del trabajo bien hecho, y por intentar hacer de mi una persona organizada y ordenada (ya sabes que sin mucho éxito). Y gracias Diego, por tu complicidad en tantas ocasiones estos 26 años. Gracias también a mis tíos, primos, y demás familia, en especial a los abuelos Vicente, Ramiro, Clemen y Peni. Y también a Miguel Ángel y Carmen, Tere, Emilio, Gloria y Lauren. Gracias a todos por el cariño que habéis dado a este *bicho raro*, que encima va y sale matemático (será cosa de la *falsa posición*).

And last, but not least at all, por un sin fin de motivos... Gracias Cris, no me imagino compañera mejor para pasear por el fondo de un acuario.

Contents

Acknowledgements Contents Summary							
				Ι	Ho	dge numbers of irregular varieties	13
				In	trod	uction	15
1	Pre	liminaries on irregular fibrations	19				
	1.1	Definitions and notation	19				
	1.2	Castelnuovo-de Franchis theorems	22				
	1.3	Generic vanishing theory	23				
	1.4	The BGG complex	25				
2	Generalizations of the derivative and BGG complexes						
	2.1	Partial Euler characteristics	28				
		2.1.1 First definitions	28				
		2.1.2 Linear bounds	29				
		2.1.3 Examples	33				
		2.1.4 Functoriality	39				
	2.2	Higher-rank derivative complexes	43				
		2.2.1 Definitions	44				
		2.2.2 Eagon-Northcott complexes	47				
		2.2.3 Exactness of $C_{\pi W}^{j}$	50				
		2.2.4 Subvarieties of Abelian varieties	58				
	2.3	Improved bounds for $h^{2,0}(X)$	62				
	2.4	Comparison of the two methods	66				
		2.4.1 A first (naive) approach	66				
		2.4.2 Chern Classes of Symmetric Powers	67				
		2.4.3 Bounds from non-vanishing of Chern classes	71				
		2.4.4 Bounds from positivity of Chern Classes	73				

Hodge numbers of irregular varieties and fibrations

\mathbf{A}	Explicit computations	79		
	A.1 Computing c_n (Sym ^r E) for E of arbitrary rank	79		
	A.2 Computations of $c(\mathcal{F}_{2,2})$	82		
II	Fibred surfaces	93		
In	troduction	95		
3	Preliminaries on fibred surfaces	99		
	3.1 Basic preliminaries	99		
	3.2 $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ and $\omega_{S/B}$	103		
	3.3 The irregular case	106		
	3.4 More numerical invariants	108		
4	Deformations of smooth curves	111		
	4.1 Infinitesimal deformations	111		
	4.2 Relative Ext sheaves	119		
	4.3 Global constructions	121		
5	Adjoint images	131		
	5.1 Adjoint images and infinitesimal deformations	131		
	5.2 The case of curves $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	136		
	5.3 Global adjoint	140		
6	On a conjecture of Xiao			
	6.1 State of the art \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	145		
	6.2 A technical result	147		
	6.3 Main results	153		
Bibliography				

SUMMARY

We present here a brief, precise overview of the contents of this Thesis. The main topic of the Thesis is the interplay between numerical invariants of a projective complex variety (or more generally, compact Kähler) and the properties of its fibrations over lower-dimensional varieties (if any). In fact, we have restricted the problem to irregular varieties, that is, varieties admitting non-zero holomorphic differential 1-forms. Because of this restriction, Abelian varieties (in particular, the Picard and Albanese varieties) will appear all along the memory.

Part I: Hodge numbers of irregular varieties

The first part of the Thesis deals with irregular varieties of arbitrary dimension, giving numerical conditions on their Hodge numbers that imply the existence of fibrations, or more generally, obtaining some inequalities between the Hodge numbers of varieties admitting some special subspaces of holomorphic forms.

In order to avoid unnecessary repetitions, if nothing is said explicitly X will denote a smooth irregular variety, either complex projective or compact Kähler, of dimension d and irregularity $q = q(X) = \dim H^0(X, \Omega_X^1)$.

It is known that some class of fibrations of an irregular variety X are closely related to the cohomological support loci $V^{i}(X)$, which are the closed subsets of $\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ defined as

$$V^{i}(X) = \left\{ L \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X) \mid h^{i}(X, \omega_{X} \otimes L) \neq 0 \right\}.$$

The basic results about these loci can be summarized in the following

Theorem 1.3.2 ([19] Th. 0.1, [41]). Let W be an irreducible component of some $V^{i}(X)$. Then

- 1. there exist a subtorus $Z \subseteq \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ and a torsion point $\beta \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ such that $W = \beta + Z$, and
- 2. there exists a fibration $f : X \to Y$ onto a normal variety Y of dimension dim $Y \leq d-i$, such that (any smooth model of) Y is of maximal Albanese dimension and $Z \subseteq f^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$.

Hodge numbers of irregular varieties and fibrations

Partial Euler characteristics

Our first family of results is inspired in the BGG complex introduced by Lazarsfeld and Popa in [27]. By truncating the BGG complex after some steps, and using the same techniques, we study the *partial Euler* characteristics of X, which are defined as follows.

Definition 2.1.1. For any integer $0 \le i \le d$, we define the *i*-th partial Euler characteristic of X as

$$\chi_{i}(X) = h^{i}(X, \omega_{X}) - h^{i+1}(X, \omega_{X}) + \dots + (-1)^{d-i} h^{d}(X, \omega_{X}).$$

To be precise, we obtain the following general inequalities.

Proposition 2.1.3. If X is any irregular variety, then

 $\chi_k(X) \ge 0$ for every $k \ge d - \dim alb_X(X)$.

Theorem 2.1.4. Let k be an integer such that $d - \dim alb_X(X) \le k < d$. If X does not admit any irregular fibration $f: X \to Y$ with $\dim Y < d - k$, or more generally, if \mathcal{O}_X is an isolated point of $V^i(X)$ for all i > k, then

$$\chi_r(X) \ge (q(X) - \dim X) + r$$

for all $k \leq r < d$.

Proposition 2.1.3 is also a consequence of the generic vanishing results of Green and Lazarsfeld [18] and their relation with the exactness of the derivative complexes studied also in [13], while Theorem 2.1.4 is analogous to the higher-dimensional Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality proved by Pareschi and Popa in [31], and later by Lazarsfeld and Popa in [27]. In fact, we prove Theorem 2.1.4 following the ideas of the latter.

After checking with some examples that these inequalities do not seem to be sharp, we exploit the functorial behaviour of the BGG complex to get much stronger inequalities for some varieties. Recall (Definition 2.1.12, taken from [35]) that an *m*-dimensional smooth subvariety $Y \subseteq A$ of an Abelian variety A is geometrically non-degenerate if the restriction $H^0(A, \Omega^m_A) \to H^0(Y, \omega_Y)$ is injective. We prove some general results about these subvarieties that ultimately give the following

Corollary 2.1.16. Let X be a smooth n-dimensional irregular variety such that its Albanese image $Y = alb_X(X)$ is smooth of dimension $m = \dim Y$. Assume moreover that $\mathcal{O}_X \in V^i(X)$ is isolated for every i > n - m and that Y is geometrically non-degenerate. Then

$$\chi_{n-r}(X) \ge \begin{pmatrix} q(X) - 1 \\ r \end{pmatrix} \quad \forall r = 1, \dots, m-1.$$

In particular, if X is primitive (hence of maximal Albanese dimension) and its Albanese image is smooth and non-degenerate, then

$$\chi_r(X) \ge \begin{pmatrix} q(X) - 1\\ \dim(X) - r \end{pmatrix} \quad \forall r = 1, \dots, \dim X - 1.$$

Higher-rank derivative complexes

Following the same stream of obtaining new inequalities between the Hodge numbers of X, we introduce the following higher-rank generalization of the derivative complex.

Definition 2.2.1. Fix integers $r \ge 1$ and $0 \le j \le d$, set $n = \min\{r, d\}$, and fix a linear subspace $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$. We define $C^j_{r,W}$ as the complex (of vector spaces)

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{1}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{i}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-n} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{n})$$

where the maps μ_i^j : Sym^{*r*-*i*} $W \otimes H^j(X, \Omega_X^i) \to$ Sym^{*r*-*i*-1} $W \otimes H^j(X, \Omega_X^{i+1})$ are given by

$$\mu_i^j\left((w_1\cdots w_{r-i})\otimes [\alpha]\right)=\sum_{t=1}^{r-i}\left(w_1\cdots \widehat{w_t}\cdots w_{r-i}\right)\otimes [w_t\wedge \alpha].$$

It is worth noting that, although the complexes $C_{r,n,W}^{j}$ above are generalizations of the derivative complexes, they have not been obtained from a "derivative construction". In fact, they are defined directly as above.

The higher-rank derivative complexes can be seen as the result of applying the j-th cohomology functor to the complex of sheaves

$$\mathcal{C}_{r,W}: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r} W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} W \otimes \Omega_{X}^{1} \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes \Omega_{X}^{i} \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-n} W \otimes \Omega_{X}^{n}.$$

Following an approach inspired in Section 3 of [18], we study the exactness of the $C_{r,W}^{j}$ with the combined use of two spectral sequences, both abutting to the hypercohomology of $C_{r,W}$. As in [18], one of the spectral sequences degenerates at the second page (see Proposition 2.2.10), but the other one is not so well behaved. In fact, the second spectral sequence depends on the cohomology sheaves \mathcal{H}^{j} of $\mathcal{C}_{r,W}$, which can be computed in some cases with the help of Eagon-Northcott type complexes. Indeed, $C_{r,W}$ is dual to such a complex $E_r(\phi_W)$, which is constructed from the dual ϕ_W of the evaluation map

$$ev_W: W \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \Omega^1_X.$$

Eagon-Northcott complexes have been extensively studied (see for example [14] Appendix A.6, [25] Appendix B, [8] or [1]), and their exactness depends on the degeneracy loci of ϕ . For any positive integer *i*, let

$$Z_{i}(W) = \left\{ p \in X \mid \operatorname{rk}\left(ev_{W}(p) : W \longrightarrow \Omega^{1}_{X}(p) \right) < i \right\},\$$

the locus where the 1-forms in W do not span a subspace of dimension at least i, and make the following

Definition 2.2.12 (Non-degenerate subspace). We say that a subspace $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ is non-degenerate if

$$\operatorname{codim} Z_i(W) \ge d - i + 1 \qquad \forall \, 1 \le i \le \min \left\{ \dim W, d \right\}.$$

It turns out that, if W is non-degenerate, the Eagon-Northcott complex $E_r(\phi)$ is exact and the cohomology sheaves \mathcal{H}^i of $\mathcal{C}_{r,W} = E_r(\phi)^{\vee}$ are easy to compute (Lemma 2.2.14). Finally, using the two spectral sequences mentioned above, we can prove the following general result.

Theorem 2.2.15. If W is non-degenerate, then the complex

$$C_{r,W}^{j}: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{i}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-n} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{n})$$

is exact at least in the first $d - \dim W - j + 1$ steps.

Subvarieties of Abelian varieties

In the case that X is a subvariety of an Abelian variety A such that $H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) = H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$, there are non-degenerate subspaces of any dimension $1 \le k \le q(X)$ (Proposition 2.2.20). Hence Theorem 2.2.15 gives in particular the following

Corollary 2.2.22. If X is a subvariety of an Abelian variety A such that $H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) = H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$, and $p, j \ge 0$ satisfy $\max\{p, j\} \le d + 1 - (p + j)$, then

$$h^{p,j}(X) \ge \binom{d+1-(p+j)}{p} \binom{d+1-(p+j)}{j}.$$

Improvements for $h^{2,0}(X)$

All the previous results are not directly related with the fibrations of X. In fact, they depend on the existence of non-degenerate subspaces of 1-forms, with the further restriction that they must have dimension $k \leq d$. Fortunately, the complex $C_{2,W}^0$ is easy to study more or less by hand, and much better results can be obtained.

Consider the wedge product map $\psi_2 : \bigwedge^2 H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) \to H^0(X, \Omega^2_X)$. An element $v \in \bigwedge^2 H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ has rank 2k if it can be expressed as

$$v = v_1 \wedge v_2 + \dots + v_{2k-1} \wedge v_{2k}$$

for some linearly independent $v_1, \ldots, v_{2k} \in H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$, and there is no such a expression with fewer terms (Definition 2.3.1).

Consider also the Grassmannian variety $\mathbb{G}_m = Gr(m, H^0(X, \Omega^1_X))$ of *m*-dimensional subspaces of $H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$. It is possible to glue all the $C^0_{2,W}$ into the following complex of vector bundles on \mathbb{G}_m ,

$$C_2^0: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^2 S \longrightarrow S \otimes H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}} \otimes H^0(X, \Omega^2_X),$$

where S is the tautological subbundle of \mathbb{G}_m . In fact, this can be done for any C_{rW}^j , obtaining higher-rank analogues of the BGG complex.

With these notations, the main result concerning C_2^0 is the following

Theorem 2.3.3. Fix a positive integer $k \leq \frac{q}{2}$. If every non-zero element in $\ker \psi_2$ has rank bigger than 2k, then the complex C_2^0 on \mathbb{G}_{2k} is generically exact.

Counting dimensions we obtain an inequality for $h^{2,0}(X)$.

Corollary 2.3.4. If there is no non-zero element of rank $2k \leq q$ in ker ψ_2 , then

$$h^{2,0}(X) \ge 2rq - \binom{2r+1}{2}$$

for all $1 \leq r \leq k$.

If X is not fibred, then all non-zero elements in ker ψ_2 have rank at least 2d (Lemma 2.3.7). Hence, taking the maximum of the right-hand sides of the above inequalities for $1 \leq r < d$, we obtain the final

Theorem 2.3.9. Let X be an irregular variety without fibrations over smaller-dimensional irregular varieties. Then it holds

$$h^{2,0}(X) \ge \begin{cases} \binom{q(X)}{2} & \text{if } q(X) \le 2 \dim X - 1\\ 2 (\dim X - 1) q(X) - \binom{2 \dim X - 1}{2} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This Theorem generalizes the Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality to higher dimensions, but in a different way than the works of Lazarsfeld, Pareschi and Popa ([31, 27]). The case $q \leq 2d - 1$ can be easily deduced from the work [10] of Causin and Pirola. On the other hand, for the general case $q \geq 2d$, Theorem 2.3.9 improves several inequalities obtained by Lombardi in [28] for d = 3, 4 (with slightly more restrictive hypothesis than only the non-existence of fibrations).

Comparing the two methods

In the final section of the first part of the Thesis we consider a different approach that could produce the same inequalities of Theorem 2.3.9, but starting from the general Theorem 2.2.15. If this new method works, it could be extended to other C_r^j and used to find stronger inequalities for Hodge numbers other than $h^{2,0}(X)$.

This new approach depends on general computations on the cohomology algebra of Grassmannian varieties, which we have only been able to carry out in some small cases. We have observed some regularities in these computations that would give the desired result (see Conjecture 2.4.4 and Proposition 2.4.5), but we have been unable to proof that they hold in the general case.

Part II: Fibred surfaces

In the second part of the Thesis, the scope is restricted, with some exceptions, to irregular surfaces fibred over a curve. The main objective is to prove the following

Theorem 6.3.4. Let $f : S \to B$ be a fibration of genus g, relative irregularity q_f and Clifford index c_f . If f is non-isotrivial, then

$$q_f \leq g - c_f.$$

Recall that the genus and the Clifford index of a fibration are respectively the genus and the Clifford index of a general fibre (Definitions 3.1.5 and 3.4.1), and that the relative irregularity $q_f = q(S) - g(B)$ is the difference between the irregularities of the total space S and the base B (Definition 3.1.6). Recall also that a fibration is isotrivial if all its smooth fibres are isomorphic (Definition 3.1.4).

In order to reach such a result, we have previously studied some aspects of infinitesimal deformations of smooth curves (Section 4.1), which we have then extended to arbitrary one-dimensional families of curves (Section 4.3). We have also developed some results about adjoint images (Chapter 5), which are a very useful tool to study both infinitesimal and local deformations of varieties of Albanese general type.

Infinitesimal deformations of smooth curves

In the first section of Chaper 4 we develop some ideas about infinitesimal deformations of smooth curves introduced by Collino and Pirola in [11], specially the concept of *divisor supporting a deformation*. Let C be a smooth compact curve of genus $g \ge 2$,

$$\mathcal{C} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[\epsilon] / (\epsilon^2)$$

an infinitesimal deformation, and let $\xi \in H^1(C, T_C)$ be its Kodaira-Spencer class. It is said (Definition 4.1.8) that ξ is *supported on* an effective divisor D if and only if it belongs to the kernel of

$$H^1(C, T_C) \longrightarrow H^1(C, T_C(D)).$$

We say furthermore that ξ is *minimally* supported on D if and only if it is not supported on any other effective divisor E < D.

From another point of view, ξ corresponds to the extension of locally free sheaves on C

$$\xi: \quad 0 \longrightarrow N_{C/\mathcal{C}}^{\vee} \cong \mathcal{O}_C \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{\mathcal{C}|C} \longrightarrow \omega_C \longrightarrow 0,$$

and it is supported on D if and only if the pull-back sequence ξ_D splits.



In fact, this definition (in any of its equivalent forms) can be extended to infinitesimal deformations of irregular varieties of any dimension (see Definition 5.1.3).

In a more geometrical flavor, one can define the span $\langle D \rangle$ of D inside the bicanonical space $\mathbb{P}\left(H^0\left(C,\omega_C^{\otimes 2}\right)^{\vee}\right) = \mathbb{P}\left(H^1\left(C,T_C\right)\right)$ as the intersection of all the hyperplanes schematically containing D. Then ξ is supported on D if and only if the point $[\xi]$ lies on $\langle D \rangle$.

The main result about infinitesimal deformations of smooth curves is the following theorem (due to Ginensky [17]), which gives a lower-bound on the rank of the cup-product map

$$\cup \xi : H^0(C, \omega_C) \longrightarrow H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$$

(written $\operatorname{rk} \xi$ for short) in terms of some invariants of a divisor D minimally supporting ξ .

Theorem 4.1.17. If ξ is minimally supported on D, then

$$\operatorname{rk} \xi \geq \deg D - 2 \dim |D|$$
.

One dimensional families of curves

After a technical interlude to introduce the relative Ext sheaves $\mathcal{E}xt_f^i$ (Section 4.2), we devote the last section of Chaper 4 to extend to arbitrary (one-dimensional) families of curves some of the concepts and results known for infinitesimal deformations. To be precise, let $f: S \to B$ be a fibration from a smooth surface S onto an analytical smooth curve B (not necessarily compact). Assume also that f is not isotrivial.

The role of the Kodaira-Spencer class of an infinitesimal deformation is now played by the exact sequence

$$\xi: \quad 0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \longrightarrow 0,$$

which serves as a definition of the sheaf of relative differentials $\Omega^1_{S/B}$.

We define the *relative bicanonical space* \mathbb{P} as the projective bundle corresponding to the sheaf

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_f^1\left(\Omega_{S/B}^1, f^*\omega_B\right),\,$$

that is, $\mathbb{P} = \operatorname{Proj}_{\mathcal{O}_B}(\operatorname{Sym}^* \mathcal{E}^{\vee})$. The extension ξ gives a section of \mathcal{E} , which is not identically zero because f is not isotrivial. Hence, it induces a section $\gamma: B \to \mathbb{P}$, which sends a general point $b \in B$ to the class of the infinitesimal deformation of the fibre $C_b = f^{-1}(b)$.

Given any subscheme $\Gamma \subset S$, we define its span $\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma} \subseteq \mathbb{P}$ (Definition 4.3.11) in such a way that over a general point $b \in B$ it coincides with the span of the divisor $\Gamma \cap C_b$ in the context of infinitesimal deformations. As a consequence of the way we construct \mathbb{P}_{Γ} , it turns out to depend only on the divisorial components of Γ dominating B (Corollary 4.3.15).

Let \mathcal{L}_{Γ} be the kernel of the composition

$$\Omega^1_{S/B} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \omega_{S/B} \to \omega_{S/B|\Gamma}$$

(for more details about the relative canonical sheaf $\omega_{S/B} = \omega_S \otimes f^* \omega_B^{\vee}$ and the map α see Section 3.2). Denote by ξ_{Γ} the pull-back sequence

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{\Gamma}: & 0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{\Gamma} \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\Gamma} \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ \xi: & 0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \longrightarrow 0 \end{aligned}$$

One could be tempted to define ξ to be supported on Γ if and only if \mathcal{L}_{Γ} splits. In general, this direct definition is too restrictive, so we have introduced a slightly more relaxed one (Definition 4.3.13). Although we do not reproduce it here because it is quite technical, we can informally say that ξ is supported on Γ if for a general $b \in B$, the deformation of the fibre C_b is supported on $\Gamma \cap C_b$.

One of the main properties of this definition is that it also can be characterized in terms of the span of Γ .

Proposition 4.3.14. The deformation ξ is supported on Γ if and only if the image of $\gamma : B \to \mathbb{P}$ lies in \mathbb{P}_{Γ} .

Also, in some cases, it can be characterized in terms of the splitting of the pull-back ξ_{Γ} .

Lemma 4.3.17. Assume that Γ_{div} , the divisorial subscheme of Γ , satisfies

$$\Gamma_{div} \cdot C_b < 2g - 2$$

for some smooth fibre C_b . Then ξ is supported on Γ if and only if the pull-back sequence ξ_{Γ} splits.

Adjoint images

In order to prove Theorem 6.3.4, we will first need to produce a subscheme supporting the fibration, or more generally, a subsheaf $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \Omega^1_{S/B}$ such that the pull-back of ξ splits. This is accomplished using adjoint images.

Adjoint images were introduced by Collino and Pirola in [11] for infinitesimal deformations of curves, and then extended to higher dimensions by Pirola and Zucconi in [34]. We devote the first sections of Chapter 5 to give an overview of the basic definitions and known results (basically, the Adjoint and Volumetric Theorems), which can be summarized as follows.

Let $\mathcal{X} \to \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[\epsilon] / (\epsilon^2)$ be an infinitesimal deformation of an irregular variety X of dimension d, and denote by $\xi \in H^1(X, T_X)$ its Kodaira-Spencer class. Let $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ be a (d+1)-dimensional subspace contained in

$$K_{\xi} = \ker \left(H^0 \left(X, \Omega^1_X \right) \xrightarrow{\cup \xi} H^1 \left(X, \mathcal{O}_X \right) \right)$$
$$= \operatorname{im} \left(H^0 \left(X, \Omega^1_{X|X} \right) \longrightarrow H^0 \left(X, \Omega^1_X \right) \right)$$

with basis w_1, \ldots, w_{d+1} . Define $W^d \subseteq H^0(X, \omega_X)$ as the image of $\bigwedge^d W$ by wedge product, and let D_W be the base divisor of the induced sublinear system of $|\omega_X|$ (assuming $W^d \neq 0$).

By the definition of K_{ξ} , we can choose some infinitesimal extensions $s_i \in H^0\left(X, \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}|X}\right)$ of the w_i . Their wedge product

$$\sigma = s_1 \wedge \dots \wedge s_{d+1}$$

belongs to $H^0(X, \omega_{\mathcal{X}|X})$, which is isomorphic to $H^0(X, \omega_X)$ by the Poincaré residue map. The content of the Adjoint Theorem (Theorem 5.1.4) is that $\sigma \in W^d$ if and only if ξ is supported on D_W . In this case, it is said that the adjoint class of W vanishes.

Our results about adjoint images concern only deformations of curves, giving numerical conditions that guarantee the existence of subspaces with vanishing adjoint class. We first deal with an infinitesimal deformation ξ of a curve C of genus g.

Theorem 5.2.7. If $V \subseteq K_{\xi}$ has dimension dim $V > \frac{g+1}{2}$, then there exists some 2-dimensional subspace $W \subseteq V$ with vanishing adjoint class.

In order to prove it we construct the *adjoint map*, a map of vector bundles on the Grassmannian \mathbb{G} of 2-dimensional subspaces of K_{ξ} , which vanishes at a point $W \in \mathbb{G}$ if and only if its adjoint image vanish. Then a computation of Chern classes finishes the proof.

All the discussions so far consider only infinitesimal deformations, but our setting is a global family of curves (over a compact curve B). Hence we devote the final section of Chapter 5 to construct a global version of the adjoint map. Since we need to consider 1-forms on every fibre that extend infinitesimally, we take the vector space

$$V = H^0\left(S, \Omega_S^1\right) / f^* H^0\left(B, \omega_B\right) \subseteq H^0\left(S, \Omega_{S/B}^1\right)$$

which has dimension q_f , and then consider vector subbundles of $V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B$ of rank 2. With a construction analogous to the case of infinitesimal deformations above, the *global adjoint map*, we can prove the second main result concerning adjoint images.

Theorem 5.3.4. *If*

$$q_f > \frac{g+1}{2}$$

then there exist a finite change of base $\pi : B' \to B$ and a rank-two vector subbundle $\mathcal{W} \subseteq V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{B'}$ whose associated global adjoint map vanishes identically.

Finally, after changing the base of the fibration by π , the Adjoint Theorem implies (Proposition 6.3.7) that the subsheaf we are looking for is the image of the relative evaluation map

$$f^*\mathcal{W} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S'/B'}.$$

In the language of supporting subschemes, this is equivalent to say that the fibration is supported on the zero locus of the above map.

Isotriviality of fibrations

The final chapter of the Thesis contains the proof of Theorem 6.3.4, part of which is based on the following structure result.

Theorem 6.3.1. Let $f : S \to B$ be a fibration of genus g and relative irregularity $q_f \ge 2$. Suppose it is supported on an effective divisor D such that $D \cdot C < 2g - 2$ and $h^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(D_{|C})) = 1$ for some smooth fibre C. Then, after finitely many blow-ups and a change of base, there is a different fibration $h : S \to B'$ over a curve of genus $g(B') = q_f$. In particular S is a covering of the product $B \times B'$, and both surfaces have the same irregularity.

In fact, Theorem 6.3.1 can be considered as the most important result in Chapter 6, giving a criterion for the isotriviality of fibred surfaces.

The proof of Theorem 6.3.1 relies on the following technical proposition, whose proof is the content of Section 6.2. As a matter of language, we say that a subsheaf $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω^1_S if there is an injective map $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_S$ factoring the inclusion into $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ (Definition 6.2.1). Equivalently, $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω^1_S if the pull-back sequence $\xi_{\mathcal{L}}$ is split.

Proposition 6.2.2. Assume that $f : S \to B$ is a fibration with reduced fibres. If a rank-one subsheaf $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ satisfies deg $(\mathcal{L}_{|C_b}) > 0$ for some smooth fibre C_b and lifts to Ω^1_S , then there exists an effective divisor D on S such that

1. the inclusions $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ and $\omega_{S/B}(-D) \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B}$ fit into the following chain

$$\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B} (-D) \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \stackrel{\alpha}{\hookrightarrow} \omega_{S/B},$$

- 2. the injection $\omega_{S/B}(-D) \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω^1_S ,
- 3. $D \cdot C_b < 2g 2$ for any fibre C_b ,
- 4. D has no component contracted by f, and
- 5. the quotient $\Omega_{S}^{1}/\omega_{S/B}(-D)$ is isomorphic to

$$f^*\omega_B \otimes \mathcal{O}_S\left(D\right) \otimes I_Z$$

for some finite subscheme $Z \subset S$, hence torsion-free.

Roughly speaking, Proposition 6.2.2 says that from a supporting subscheme Γ (or subsheaf of $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifting to Ω^1_S) which is not too big on a general fibre, we can obtain a *subdivisor* $D \subset \Gamma$ with much better properties and still supporting the deformation.

Finally, we include an alternative proof of a case of Theorem 6.3.4 which works also for local deformations (in fact, it is a local version of Theorem 6.3.1). It falls in the context of the Volumetric Theorem of Pirola and Zucconi [34], assuming that there is a map from the fibration to a trivial family of Abelian varieties. The precise statement is

Proposition 6.3.9. Suppose that $f: S \to B$ is a fibration where the base B is a smooth, not necessarily compact curve. Assume that there is an Abelian variety A of dimension a, and a morphism $\Phi: S \to A \times B$ respecting the fibres of f and such that the image of any restriction to a fibre $\phi_b: C_b \to A$ generates A. Suppose also that the deformation is supported on a divisor $D \subset S$ such that $h^0(C_b, \mathcal{O}_{C_b}(D)) = 1$ for general $b \in B$. If $a > \frac{g+1}{2}$, then f is isotrivial.



HODGE NUMBERS OF IRREGULAR VARIETIES

INTRODUCTION TO PART I

In the classification of higher dimensional algebraic varieties, a first step can be to decide whether the variety admits (or not) a fibration onto a variety of lower dimension. If the answer is positive, then one can reduce the problem to the study of the base and the fibres, which are of lower dimension and, somehow, eaiser than the original variety. Therefore, it is interesting to have any kind of criteria to decide the existence of fibrations whose total space is the given variety, and in particular, it is useful to know conditions on the numerical invariants of the variety (e.g. its Betti, Chern or Hodge numbers) implying that it is (or not) fibred.

A paradigmatical example is the classical Castelnuovo-de Franchis theorem, which says that an irregular surface S admits a fibration onto a curve of genus $g \ge 2$ if and only if there are two holomorphic 1-forms whose wedge product is zero. This theorem gives a numerical criterion in the spirit mentioned above: if the geometric genus $p_g(S)$ and the irregularity q(S) of the surface satisfy

$$p_g(S) \le 2q(S) - 4,\tag{1}$$

then there exist two 1-forms wedging to zero, and therefore the variety is fibred.

The Castelnuovo-de Franchis theorem suggests that, for an irregular variety X, its higher irrational pencils (fibrations analogous to surfaces fibred over curves of genus $g \ge 2$) are closely related to some special property of the algebra of holomorphic differential forms. In fact, let A = Alb(X) be its Albanese variety, and $a = \text{alb}_X : X \to A$ its Albanese morphism. Since

$$a^*: H^0\left(A, \Omega^1_A\right) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^0\left(X, \Omega^1_X\right)$$

is an isomorphism, and $H^0(A, \Omega_A^k) \cong \bigwedge^k H^0(A, \Omega_A^1)$, the pull-back maps $a^*: H^0(A, \Omega_A^k) \to H^0(X, \Omega_X^k)$ are precisely the wedge product maps

$$\psi_k : \bigwedge^k H^0\left(X, \Omega^1_X\right) \longrightarrow H^0\left(X, \Omega^k_X\right).$$

Because of this interpretation, the maps ψ_k are very related to the geometry of X. In particular, Catanese [9] and Ran [35] proved independently the *Generalized Castelnuovo-de Franchis theorem* (Theorem 1.2.3), which roughly speaking says that the higher irrational pencils of X correspond to

Hodge numbers of irregular varieties and fibrations

the decomposable elements in the kernels of the ψ_k . As a consequence, one obtains that a non-fibred irregular variety X must verify

$$h^{k,0}(X) > k(q(X) - k)$$

for every $k = 1, \ldots, \dim X$.

Beyond the existence of decomposable elements in its kernel, the case k = 2 has been studied by Causin and Pirola in [10], proving in particular that ψ_2 is injective for $q \leq 2d - 1$, and also by Barja, Naranjo and Pirola in [2], where they focus on the consequences of the existence of elements of rank 2d (what they call generalized Lagrangian forms) in the kernel of ψ_2 .

A completely different approach is followed by Green and Lazarsfeld in [18, 19], where they introduced the *derivative complexes* and related the higher irrational pencils to the positive-dimensional components of the *cohomological support loci* of the variety. This alternative characterization led to the following different generalization of the Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality (1) for varieties without higher irrational pencils:

$$\chi(X,\omega_X) \ge q(X) - \dim X.$$

This inequality was first obtained by Pareschi and Popa in [31], using the Fourier-Mukai transform and the Evans-Griffith Syzygy Theorem, and later by Lazarsfeld and Popa in [27], using a completely different technique: the *BGG complex*, which aggregates all the possible derivative complexes into a complex of vector bundles on a projective space. Using a similar construction (a BGG complex for the sheaves Ω_X^p of holomorphic *p*-forms), Lombardi obtained in [28] more inequalities involving the Hodge numbers of varieties all whose 1-forms vanish at most at isolated points (a much more restrictive hypothesis than the non-existence of fibrations). Following the ideas in [27], we have used the BGG complex to obtain some new inequalities for the *partial Euler characteristics* of the variety.

While the derivative and BGG complexes take into account only the multiplicative structure of the algebra $\bigoplus_{p=0}^{d} H^0(X, \Omega_X^p)$ of holomorphic forms, we have constructed some generalizations, the *higher-rank derivative* and *Grassmannian BGG complexes*, that also capture some of the additive structure. Although we have not been able to directly relate the exactness of our complexes neither to the existence of fibrations nor to the cohomological support loci of the variety, we do have proved exactness in a few steps in terms of the degeneracy loci of a subspace $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega_X^1)$ (Theorem 2.2.15). This approach is based on some ideas used by Green and Lazarsfeld in [18] to prove a Kodaira-Nakano type generic vanishing theorem. As an application, we obtain sharp lower bounds for some Hodge numbers of subvarieties of Abelian varieties. The exactness of the higher-rank derivative complexes of X can also be studied by means of the ψ_k . In fact, these maps give a natural morphism of complexes from the higher-rank derivative complexes of A = Alb(X)(which are exact because A is a complex torus) to those of X. Following this approach, it is possible to strength some of our general results mentioned above. In fact, we have been able to characterize the exactness of the shortest higher-rank derivative complex in terms of the kernel of ψ_2 and, as a byproduct, we have obtained a stronger lower bound for the $h^{2,0}$ of a variety without higher irrational pencils (Theorem 2.3.9). This new inequality generalizes (1) in a different way than Lazarsfeld, Pareschi and Popa, and also generalizes some inequalities proven by Lombardi [28] for threefolds and fourfolds.



PRELIMINARIES ON IRREGULAR FIBRATIONS

In this chapter we summarize the main known results relating fibrations of irregular varieties and inequalities between their Hodge numbers. We first introduce in Section 1.1 the basic notation that will be used both in this chapter and in Chapter 2. After that, we recall in Section 1.2 the Castelnuovo-de Franchis theorems, both the original version (for surfaces) and the general one (due to Catanese and Ran). Then, we devote Section 1.3 to the most basic results about generic vanishing theory and the structure of the cohomological support loci. To close the chapter, we briefly recall in Section 1.4 the construction of the BGG complex and the generalization of the Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality obtained from it.

1.1 DEFINITIONS AND NOTATION

In this first section we set de basic notation and definitions that will be used along Part I.

Throughout Chapters 1 and 2, X will denote a complex smooth irregular projective (or more generally, compact Kähler) variety of dimension $d = \dim X$. Quite often, for the sake of brevity, we will denote by $V = H^0(X, \Omega_X^1)$ the space of holomorphic 1-forms on X.

Recall that the *irregularity* of X is the dimension of V, and it is denoted by q(X) or simply by q. Note that q will always be assumed to be positive. The Hodge numbers of X will be denoted by

$$h^{i,j} = h^{i,j} \left(X \right) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^j \left(X, \Omega^i_X \right),$$

and sometimes by $h^{p,j}$ or $h^{p,q}$ when no confusion may arise between the second superindex and the irregularity.

Hodge numbers of irregular varieties and fibrations

More generally, if \mathcal{F} is a coherent sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X -modules, we will write

$$h^{i}(\mathcal{F}) = h^{i}(X, \mathcal{F}) = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} H^{i}(X, \mathcal{F})$$

for the dimesion of its *i*-th cohomology group.

We will denote the holomorphic Euler-Poincaré characteristic of X as

$$\chi(X) = \chi(X, \omega_X) = h^{d,0} - h^{d-1,0} + \dots + (-1)^d$$
.

The Albanese torus of X will be denoted by A = Alb(X), and the Albanese morphism will be written as $a = \text{alb}_X : X \to A$. Recall that A is a q-dimensional complex torus, which is projective (i.e., an Abelian variety) if X is projective too.

Definition 1.1.1. An irregular variety X is said to be of maximal Albanese dimension if dim $a(X) = \dim X$ i.e., if the Albanese morphism is generically finite.

If furthermore a is not surjective, i.e. $a(X) \subsetneq Alb(X)$, X is said to be of Albanese general type.

These definitions can be extended to non-smooth varieties considering any desingularization.

Equivalently, a variety is of Albanese general type if it is of maximal Albanese dimension and $q(X) > \dim X$. For example, every irregular curve (i.e. of genus $g \ge 1$) is of maximal Albanese dimension, because the Albanese map is nothing but the Abel-Jacobi map. Moreover, the curves of Albanese general type are exactly the curves of genus $g \ge 2$.

For any $k = 1, \ldots, d$, let

$$\psi_k : \bigwedge^k H^0\left(X, \Omega^1_X\right) \longrightarrow H^0\left(X, \Omega^k_X\right)$$

be the map induced by wedge product. Since $a^* : H^0(A, \Omega^1_A) \to H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ is an isomorphism and $H^0(A, \Omega^k_A) \cong \bigwedge^k H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$, we can identify ψ_k with the pull-back $a^* : H^0(A, \Omega^k_A) \to H^0(X, \Omega^k_X)$ of k-forms by the Albanese morphism.

We will now introduce some basic notions on fibrations of irregular varieties. Recall that a *fibration* is a surjective proper flat morphism $f : X \to Y$ of varieties which has connected fibres. If X is compact, we can remove the properness from the definition, while if Y is a (smooth) curve, the flatness is automatic.

When dealing with irregular varieties, one can consider some special classes of fibrations.

Definition 1.1.2. A fibration $f : X \to Y$ is called irregular if Y is irregular. If furthermore Y is of Albanese general type, then f is said to be a higher irrational pencil (on X).

Note that irregular fibrations (resp. higher irrational pencils) are higherdimensional analogues to fibrations over non-rational curves (resp. curves of genus $g \ge 2$).

We will often deal with linear subspaces of V, hence with Grassmannian varieties. For any positive integer k, we will denote by $\mathbb{G}_k = Gr(k, V)$ the Grassmannian of k-dimensional subspaces of V. Recall that \mathbb{G}_k is naturally a subvariety of the projective space $\mathbb{P}_k = \mathbb{P}\left(\bigwedge^k V\right)$ via the Plücker embedding.

In general, if E is any vector space and $e \in E$ is a non-zero vector, we will denote by $\mathbb{P}(E)$ the projective space of one-dimensional subspaces of E, and by $[e] \in \mathbb{P}(E)$ the point corresponding to e. With this notation, the Plücker embedding maps the subspace spanned by $v_1, \ldots, v_k \in V$ to the point $[v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_k] \in \mathbb{P}_k$.

Still about Grassmannian varieties, we will denote by $S \subset \mathbb{G}_k \times V$ the tautological subbundle of \mathbb{G}_k , i.e., the vector bundle of rank k such that $S_W = W$ for any $W \in \mathbb{G}_k$. The tautological quotient bundle of \mathbb{G}_k will be denoted by $Q = (\mathbb{G}_k \times V) / S$.

For some explicit computations in the cohomology algebra of \mathbb{G}_k , we will use the following notation for Schubert classes. Fixed a basis $\{v_1, \ldots, v_q\}$ of V, and given a non-increasing sequence

$$\lambda = (q - k \ge \lambda_1 \ge \lambda_2 \ge \dots \ge \lambda_k \ge 0),$$

the set

$$\Sigma_{\lambda} = \{ W \in \mathbb{G}_k \mid \dim \left(W \cap \mathbb{C} \left\langle v_1, \dots, v_{q-k+i-\lambda_i} \right\rangle \right) \ge i \}$$

is a closed cycle of (real) codimension $2\sum_i \lambda_i = 2 |\lambda|$, called the *Schubert* cycle associated to λ and the chosen basis. Its cohomology class, which is independent of the choice of the basis, will be denoted by

$$\sigma_{\lambda} \in H^{2|\lambda|}\left(\mathbb{G}_k, \mathbb{C}\right).$$

We will also use symmetric powers of vector spaces and vector bundles. If E is a vector space (or a vector bundle over some smooth variety), we will denote by $\operatorname{Sym}^r E$ its r-th symmetric power, which is a quotient of $E^{\otimes r}$. We will denote elements in $\operatorname{Sym}^r E$ using multiplicative notation, so that if $e_1, \ldots, e_r \in E$ are arbitrary elements, we will denote by $e_1 \cdots e_r \in \operatorname{Sym}^r E$ the image of $e_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes e_r$, and by e_1^r the image of $e_1^{\otimes r} = e_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes e_1$. Since the base field has characteristic zero, we can also identify $\operatorname{Sym}^r E$ with the subspace of $E^{\otimes r}$ of symmetric tensors.

At some point, secant varieties of \mathbb{G}_k inside \mathbb{P}_k will appear. In general, if $Z \subset \mathbb{P}(E)$ is any projective variety, and r is any positive integer, we will denote by $\operatorname{Sec}^r(Z) \subseteq \mathbb{P}(E)$ the r-th secant variety of Z i.e., the closure of the union of the (r-1)-planes spanned by r independent points in Z. In particular, $\operatorname{Sec}^1(Z) = Z$ and $\operatorname{Sec}^2(Z)$ is the usual secant variety of Z. More explicitly, $\operatorname{Sec}^r(Z)$ is the closure of the set

 $\{[e_1 + \dots + e_r] \mid [e_1], \dots, [e_r] \in Z\}.$

Finally, we will often use the following definition for complexes of vector spaces.

Definition 1.1.3. We say that a complex of vector spaces

 $0 \longrightarrow V_0 \xrightarrow{\phi_0} V_1 \xrightarrow{\phi_1} \cdots \longrightarrow V_k \xrightarrow{\phi_k} \cdots$

is exact in the first n steps if the truncated complex

 $0 \longrightarrow V_0 \longrightarrow V_1 \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow V_n$

is exact, or equivalently, if the (co)homology groups $H^i = \ker \phi_i / \operatorname{im} \phi_{i-1}$ vanish for i < n.

1.2 CASTELNUOVO-DE FRANCHIS THEOREMS

It is well known that some kind of fibrations of surfaces are closely related to the structure of the algebra of differential forms, as the following result (which goes back to Castelnuovo and de Franchis) shows.

Proposition 1.2.1 (Castelnuovo-de Franchis, [5] Prop. X.9, or [4] Prop. IV.5.1). Let S be a compact surface having two linearly independent holomorphic 1-forms w_1, w_2 such that $w_1 \wedge w_2 \equiv 0$. Then there exist a fibration $f: S \to B$ onto a smooth curve B of genus $g \geq 2$, and 1-forms $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in H^0(B, \Omega_B^1)$ such that $w_i = f^* \alpha_i$ for i = 1, 2.

Looking at the numerical invariants of S, this proposition has the following

Corollary 1.2.2 (Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality, [4] Prop. IV.5.2). If S is a compact surface that does not admit any fibration onto a curve of genus $g \ge 2$, then

$$p_g(S) \ge 2q(S) - 3.$$
 (1.1)

In higher dimensions, we can take the higher irrational pencils as analogues to fibrations over curves of genus $g \ge 2$. They are related to the maps ψ_k (hence to the structure of the algebra of holomorphic forms) by the following result, which was proven independently and with very different techniques by Catanese and Ran, and is clearly a generalization of Proposition 1.2.1.

Theorem 1.2.3 (Generalized Castelnuovo-de Franchis, [9] Th. 1.14, or [35] Prop. II.1). If $w_1, \ldots, w_k \in H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ are linearly independent 1-forms such that $\psi_k (w_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge w_k) = 0$, then there exists a higher irrational pencil $f: X \to Y$ over a normal variety Y of dimension dim Y < k and such that $w_i \in f^*H^0(Y, \Omega^1_Y)$.

This result motivates the following

Definition 1.2.4. An irregular variety X is said to be primitive if it does not admit any higher irrational pencil.

With this definition, Theorem 1.2.3 can be restated as "X is primitive if and only if the maps ψ_k are injective in decomposable elements".

As in the case of surfaces, Theorem 1.2.3 has consequences on the Hodge numbers of a primitive variety X.

Corollary 1.2.5. If X is a primitive irregular variety of dimension d, then

$$h^{k,0} \ge k (q(X) - k) + 1$$

for every $k = 1, \ldots, d$.

Note that, indeed, for k = d = 2 we recover the inequality (1.1).

1.3 GENERIC VANISHING THEORY

We recall now the basic concepts about generic vanishing theory. The main objects are the cohomological support loci.

Definition 1.3.1. Let X be an irregular (smooth) variety of dimension d. The cohomological support loci of ω_X are the sets

$$V^{i}(X) = V^{i}(X, \omega_{X}) = \left\{ L \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X) \mid h^{i}(X, \omega_{X} \otimes L) \neq 0 \right\},\$$

where i = 1, ..., d.

The main result about the structure of these sets and their relation to the geometry of X was proved by Green and Lazarsfeld, with an important addition due to Simpson (the fact that the translations are given by torsion elements).

Theorem 1.3.2 ([19] Th. 0.1, [41]). Let X be an irregular variety of dimension d, and let W be an irreducible component of some $V^{i}(X)$. Then

- 1. there exist a subtorus $Z \subseteq \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ and a torsion point $\beta \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ such that $W = \beta + Z$, and
- 2. there exists a fibration $f : X \to Y$ onto a normal variety Y of dimension dim $Y \leq d-i$, such that (any smooth model of) Y is of maximal Albanese dimension and $Z \subseteq f^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(Y)$.

As a corollary, they obtained the following result, previously proved also by Green and Lazarsfeld.

Theorem 1.3.3 ([18] Th. 1). For any irregular variety X of dimension d,

 $\operatorname{codim}_{\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)} V^{i}(X) \geq i - (d - \dim a(X)).$

In particular, $h^{i}(L) = 0$ for general L and $i < \dim a(X)$.

Clearly, the bigger the Albanese dimension of X, the stronger this result is, giving the best results when X is a variety of maximal Albanese dimension. In this case, the $V^{i}(X)$ also satisfy the following chain of inclusions

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X) \supseteq V^{0}(X) \supseteq V^{1}(X) \supseteq \ldots \supseteq V^{d}(X) = \{\mathcal{O}_{X}\}.$$

Finally, we want to recall that the cohomological support loci $V^{i}(X)$ are also related to the exactness of a special Koszul-like complexes. For any non-zero $v \in H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X})$, consider the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \xrightarrow{\cup v} H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \xrightarrow{\cup v} \cdots \xrightarrow{\cup v} H^d(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \longrightarrow 0 \quad (1.2)$$

given by cup-product with v.

Lemma 1.3.4 ([13] Th. 1.2(3)). With the above notations, if v is tangent at \mathcal{O}_X to some component of $V^i(X)$, then both maps in

$$H^{i-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \xrightarrow{\cup v} H^i(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \xrightarrow{\cup v} H^{i+1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$$

vanish, whereas if v is not tangent to any component of $V^{i}(X)$, then the complex (1.2) is exact at $H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X})$.

1.4 THE BGG COMPLEX

To close this first chapter of preliminaries, we want to say a few words about the BGG complex, a complex of vector bundles on $\mathbb{P}(H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X))$ introduced by Lazarsfeld and Popa in [27].

For the sake of brevity, denote by $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X))$ the projective space of one-dimensional subspaces of $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$. Over a point $[v] \in \mathbb{P}$, we can consider the complex (1.2) given by successive cup product with v. Letting [v] vary in \mathbb{P} , these complexes glue to give the linear complex

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d) \otimes H^{0}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d+1) \otimes H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \cdots$$
$$\cdots \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \otimes H^{d-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \otimes H^{d}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}).$$
(1.3)

Definition 1.4.1. The complex (1.3) is called the BGG complex of X, and it is denoted by BGG(X). The cokernel of the right-most map,

$$\mathcal{F} = \operatorname{coker} \left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \left(-1 \right) \otimes H^{d-1} \left(X, \mathcal{O}_X \right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \otimes H^d \left(X, \mathcal{O}_X \right) \right),$$

is called the BGG sheaf of X.

The reason for this name is that it is quite related to the BGG correspondence introduced by Bernšteĭn, Gel'fand and Gel'fand in [6].

The exactness of BGG(X) turns out to be governed by the Albanese map of X and its irregular fibrations

Theorem 1.4.2 ([27] Th. A). The complex BGG(X) is exact in the first dim $alb_X(X)$ steps. Moreover, if X admits no irregular fibration, then \mathcal{F} is a vector bundle on \mathbb{P} of rank $\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F} = \chi(X)$, and BGG(X) is a linear resolution of \mathcal{F} .

Amongst other applications, the BGG complex is used by Lazarsfeld and Popa in [27] to prove the following higher-dimensional analogue of the Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality (1.1). The same result has been previously obtained by Pareschi and Popa in [31], using very different methods (namely, the Fourier-Mukai transform and the Evans-Griffith Syzygy Theorem).

Theorem 1.4.3 ([27] Th. C(iii)). If X is an irregular variety that does not admit any irregular fibration, or, more generally, $\mathcal{O}_X \in \text{Pic}^0(X)$ is an isolated point of $V^i(\omega_X)$ for every i > 0, then

$$\chi(X) \ge q(X) - \dim X$$

Note that this generalization is very different from Corollary 1.2.5 for higher dimensions, but for dim X = 2 the classical inequality (1.1) is also recovered.

Chapter Two

GENERALIZATIONS OF THE DERIVATIVE AND BGG COMPLEXES

In this chapter we develop different methods to obtain inequalities between the Hodge numbers of a smooth, compact, irregular Kähler variety, assuming suitable geometric hypothesis. In particular, we obtain some generalizations to arbitrary dimensions of some inequalities known for surfaces, threefolds and fourfolds without higher irrational pencils.

More precisely, in Section 2.1 we generalize the methods used by Lazarsfeld and Popa in [27] (mainly, the BGG complex), obtaining inequalities for the *partial Euler characteristics* of irregular varieties that do not admit fibrations over Albanese general type varieties of low dimension. We also study the functoriality of our constructions, obtaining inequalities for irregular varieties whose Albanese image is smooth and non-degenerate.

In the second section, we extend the construction of the BGG complex in order to allow not only one-dimensional subspaces. The resulting complexes are closely related to the complexes of Eagon-Northcott type (as the BGG complex is related to the Koszul complex of a 1-form). With this modification, we let the additive structure of the cohomology algebra of the variety to play a role. This extra flexibility leads to more general inequalities between the Hodge numbers of the variety, but also need slightly stronger hypothesis (the non-existence of higher irrational pencils is apparently not enough).

Section 2.3 presents a different approach to study the shortest case of the above-mentioned complexes. Therein we obtain much stronger inequalities than with the general method, and they are valid for every irregular variety without higher irrational pencils (and even more general varieties).

Finally, in the fourth section, we present some methods that could lead to the inequalities of Section 2.3 using the results in Section 2.2. They depend on some computations on the cohomology ring of Grassmannian varieties that we have carried out in some particular cases (see Appendix A), but we have not been able to do in the general case. Hence, some parts of this last section are quite conjectural.

2.1 PARTIAL EULER CHARACTERISTICS

In this section we introduce a generalization of the methods used in [27] (*truncated* BGG complexes) to obtain linear lower bounds on the *partial Euler characteristics* of an irregular variety. Later on, we compute these partial characteristics for some families of irregular varieties (suitable sub-varieties of Abelian varieties), and we close the section with a study of the functorial properties of the truncated complexes to strongly improve the linear bounds for varieties whose Albanese image is geometrically non-degenerate.

2.1.1 First definitions

Definition 2.1.1. Let X be any (compact, smooth) variety of dimension $d = \dim X$, and fix an integer $0 \le i \le d$. We define the *i*-th partial Euler characteristic of X as

$$\chi_{i} = \chi_{i} (X) = \chi_{i} (X, \omega_{X}) =$$

= $h^{i} (X, \omega_{X}) - h^{i+1} (X, \omega_{X}) + \dots + (-1)^{d-i} h^{d} (X, \omega_{X}).$

Note that $\chi_0(X) = \chi(X)$ is the usual holomorphic Euler-Poincaré characteristic, and on the other extreme, $\chi_d(X) = 1$ and $\chi_{d-1}(X) = q(X) - 1$.

In Section 1.4 we have recalled the construction and main properties of the BGG complex of X: it is the linear complex BGG(X) of vector bundles

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d) \otimes H^{0}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d+1) \otimes H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \cdots$$
$$\cdots \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \otimes H^{d-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \otimes H^{d}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}),$$

on $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}_X = \mathbb{P}(H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)) \cong \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$, which over a point $[v] \in \mathbb{P}$ is given by cup-product with v.

Definition 2.1.2. For any r = 0, ..., d - 1 we define the r-th BGG sheaf of X as

$$\mathcal{F}^{r} = \operatorname{coker}\left\{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-r-1\right) \otimes H^{d-r-1}\left(X,\mathcal{O}_{X}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-r\right) \otimes H^{d-r}\left(X,\mathcal{O}_{X}\right)\right\}$$

Note also that for r = 0 we recover the BGG sheaf introduced by Lazarsfeld and Popa.
By Theorem 1.4.2, the complex

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d) \otimes H^{0}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d+1) \otimes H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \cdots$$
$$\cdots \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-k) \otimes H^{d-k}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \mathcal{F}^{k} \to 0 \quad (2.1)$$

is exact for any $k \ge d - \dim alb_X(X)$. It is possible to split the above complex into the short exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d) \otimes H^{0}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-d+1) \otimes H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \to \mathcal{F}^{d-1} \to 0$$
(2.2)

and

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}^{r+1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-r) \otimes H^{d-r}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}^r \longrightarrow 0$$
 (2.3)

for $r = k, k + 1, \dots, d - 2$. The next result follows immediately.

Proposition 2.1.3. If X is any irregular variety, then

 $\chi_k(X) = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}^k \ge 0 \quad \text{for every } k \ge d - \dim \operatorname{alb}_X(X).$

In particular, we recover that $\chi(X) \ge 0$ for any variety of maximal Albanese dimension.

2.1.2 Linear bounds

The third statement of Theorem 1.4.3 asserts that if X does not admit any irregular fibration, or more generally, if \mathcal{O}_X is an isolated point of $V^i(X)$ for every i > 0, then $\chi \ge q(X) - d$. This result is clearly an improvement of Proposition 2.1.3 for k = 0, hence for X of maximal Albanese dimension. We will now prove a similar result, using the same techniques, for all the partial Euler characteristics starting from the dimension of the general fibre of the Albanese map.

Theorem 2.1.4. Let k be an integer such that $d - \dim alb_X(X) \le k < d$. If X does not admit any irregular fibration $f: X \to Y$ with $\dim Y < d - k$, or more generally, if \mathcal{O}_X is an isolated point of $V^i(X)$ for all i > k, then

$$\chi_r(X) \ge (q(X) - \dim X) + r \tag{2.4}$$

for all $k \leq r < d$.

Remark 2.1.5. Let us consider the extremal cases of k.

1. For k = r = 0 we recover the result of Lazarsfeld and Popa (Theorem 1.4.3).

2. The case r = d - 1 is automatically satisfied with equality, since by definition

 $\chi_{d-1}(X) = q - 1 = (q - d) + (d - 1).$

Therefore, Theorem 2.1.4 has interest only for $k \leq d-2$.

Remark 2.1.6. In the recent work [30], Mendes-Lopes, Pardini and Pirola prove (Theorem 1.2) that a smooth projective variety X of Albanese general type, dimension $d \ge 3$, irregularity $q \ge d+1$, and without higher irrational pencils satisfies

$$\chi_1(X) \ge q - 1.$$

This inequality improves Theorem 2.1.4 for k = 1, with the only extra assumption that X does not admit a fibration by curves over an Albanese general type variety.

Before proceeding with the proof, we need an auxiliary lemma. It is analogous to a result used in [27] and proved explicitly in [28], but we prefer to prove it here for the sake of completeness.

Lemma 2.1.7. For any integer $r = d - \dim alb_X(X), \ldots, d-1$ it holds $H^i(\mathcal{F}^r(m)) = 0$ for every $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ and every 0 < i < q - d + r - 1.

Proof. For r = d - 1, the short exact sequence (2.2) (twisted by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(m)$) gives the exact sequence

$$H^{i}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-d+1+m\right)\right)^{\oplus h^{1}(\mathcal{O}_{X})} \to H^{i}\left(\mathcal{F}^{d-1}\left(m\right)\right) \to \\ \to H^{i+1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-d+m\right)\right)^{\oplus h^{0}(\mathcal{O}_{X})},$$

where the outer terms vanish as soon as 0 < i < i + 1 < q - 1, that is, if 0 < i < q - 2 = q - d + r - 1. Therefore, we obtain that $H^i(\mathcal{F}^{d-1}(m))$ for all $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ and 0 < i < q - d + r - 1, as wanted.

For the rest of the cases, the sequence (2.3) (again twisted by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(m)$) gives the exact sequence

$$H^{i}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-r+m\right)\right)^{\oplus h^{d-r}(\mathcal{O}_{X})} \to H^{i}\left(\mathcal{F}^{r}\left(m\right)\right) \to \\ \to H^{i+1}\left(\mathcal{F}^{r+1}\left(m\right)\right) \to H^{i+1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-r+m\right)\right)^{\oplus h^{d-r}(\mathcal{O}_{X})},$$

where again the outer terms vanish if 0 < i < q-2. Hence, for 0 < i < q-2 there are isomorphisms

$$H^{i}\left(\mathcal{F}^{r}\left(m\right)\right) \cong H^{i+1}\left(\mathcal{F}^{r+1}\left(m\right)\right),$$

and by descending induction over r, the rightmost cohomology group vanish for 0 < i + 1 < q - d + r, so that $H^i(\mathcal{F}^r(m)) = 0$ if 0 < i < q - d + r - 1 as claimed.

As Lazarsfeld and Popa did, we will use the following result on vector bundles on projective spaces (whose proof can be found, for example, in [26], Example 7.3.10).

Theorem 2.1.8 (Evans-Griffith). Let *E* be a vector bundle of rank $e \geq 2$ on \mathbb{P}^n such that

$$H^{i}(\mathbb{P}^{n}, E(k)) = 0 \text{ for all } 1 \leq i \leq e-1 \text{ and every } k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (2.5)

Then E is a direct sum of line bundles.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.4. First of all, by Lemma 1.3.4, if a tangent vector $v \in H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \cong T_{\mathcal{O}_X} \operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ is not tangent (at \mathcal{O}_X) to any component of $V^r(X)$, then the sequence

$$H^{r-1}(X,\omega_X) \xrightarrow{\cup v} H^r(X,\omega_X) \xrightarrow{\cup v} H^{r+1}(X,\omega_X)$$

is exact, or equivalently,

$$H^{d-r-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \xrightarrow{\cup v} H^{d-r}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \xrightarrow{\cup v} H^{d-r+1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$$

is exact. Therefore, if \mathcal{O}_X is an isolated point of $V^r(X)$ for every r > k, the sequence (2.1) is exact at every point, hence the differentials have constant rank, as well as each of the BGG sheaves \mathcal{F}^r , $r = k, \ldots, d-1$, which are thus locally free.

Now Lemma 2.1.7 says that for any $r = k, \ldots, d-1, \mathcal{F}^r$ satisfies (2.5) for every $1 \leq i \leq q-d+r-2$. Hence, if $\chi_r = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}^r \leq q-d+r-1$, Theorem 2.1.8 implies that \mathcal{F}^r is either a direct sum of line bundles or 0 (in case $\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}^r = 0$, since \mathcal{F}^r is locally free). Therefore, it only remains to check that none of the \mathcal{F}^r is either zero or a sum of line bundles.

Let r be the maximal integer between k and d-1 such that

$$\chi_r \le q - d + r - 1,\tag{2.6}$$

and thus \mathcal{F}^r is either zero or sum of line bundles (if there is no such r, we are done). Note that $\chi_r \geq 0$ in any case, so that we may assume $q - d + r - 1 \geq 0$. Moreover, since $\chi_{d-1} = q - 1 = (q - d) + (d - 1)$, we can also suppose r < d - 1.

The inequality (2.6) implies that $H^i(\mathcal{F}^s(r)) = 0$ for every s > r and every $i \ge 0$. Indeed, for s = d - 1, taking cohomology on the short exact sequence (2.2) twisted by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(r)$ we obtain the exact sequence

$$H^{i}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-d+r+1\right)\right)^{\oplus h^{1}(\mathcal{O}_{X})} \to H^{i}\left(\mathcal{F}^{d-1}\left(r\right)\right) \to \\ \to H^{i+1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-d+r\right)\right)^{\oplus h^{0}(\mathcal{O}_{X})},$$

where the outer terms vanish because -d + r + 1 < -d + s + 1 = 0 and $-d+r \ge -q+1 > -q$. For s < d-1 we proceed by descending induction (as in the proof of Lemma 2.1.7) down to s = r + 1. Again, taking cohomology on the short exact sequence (2.3) twisted by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(r)$, we get

$$0 = H^{i} \left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \left(-s+r \right) \right)^{\oplus h^{d-s}(\mathcal{O}_{X})} \to H^{i} \left(\mathcal{F}^{s} \left(r \right) \right) \to$$

$$\to H^{i+1} \left(\mathcal{F}^{s+1} \left(r \right) \right) \to H^{1} \left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \left(-s+r \right) \right)^{\oplus h^{d-s}(\mathcal{O}_{X})} = 0,$$

where the outer terms vanish because

$$-q \le -d + r - 1 < -s + r - 2 < -s + r < 0.$$

Therefore we have isomorphisms $H^i(\mathcal{F}^s(r)) \cong H^{i+1}(\mathcal{F}^{s+1}(r))$ for every $i \ge 0$, and the second group is zero by the induction hypothesis, so that $H^i(\mathcal{F}^s(r)) = 0$ for every $i \ge 0$ and $s = r+1, \ldots, d-1$, as claimed.

We will finally show that \mathcal{F}^r cannot be neither zero nor a direct sum of line bundles.

The sequence (2.3) twisted by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(r)$ gives the exact sequence

$$0 = H^{0}\left(\mathcal{F}^{r+1}\left(r\right)\right) \longrightarrow H^{d-r}\left(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}\right) \longrightarrow \longrightarrow H^{0}\left(\mathcal{F}^{r}\left(r\right)\right) \longrightarrow H^{1}\left(\mathcal{F}^{r+1}\left(r\right)\right) = 0,$$

so that $H^{0}(\mathcal{F}^{r}(r)) = H^{d-r}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X})$ and $\mathcal{F}^{r}(r)$ is generated by global sections (by definition, $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \otimes H^{d-r}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{F}^{r}(r)$).

Therefore, in the case $\mathcal{F}^r = 0$ we would have $H^{d-r}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0$, and hence $\mathcal{F}^{r+1} = 0$ (it is a subsheaf of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-r) \otimes H^{d-r}(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$). Analogously, going back through the short exact sequences (2.2) and (2.3), we would get $0 = H^{d-r-1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = \ldots = H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$, which is clearly impossible.

Suppose then that \mathcal{F}^r descomposes as $\bigoplus_{j=1}^{\chi_r} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(a_j)$, with $\chi_r > 0$ and $a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \ldots \ge a_{\chi_r}$. Since $\mathcal{F}^r(r) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{\chi_r} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(a_j + r)$ is globally generated, it must hold that $a_j + r \ge 0$, that is to say, $a_j \ge -r$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, \chi_r$. If $a_1 > -r$, the sequence (2.3) twisted by $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(r-1)$ gives

$$0 = H^0 \left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \left(-1 \right) \otimes H^{d-r} \left(X, \mathcal{O}_X \right) \right) \to \bigoplus_{j=1}^{\chi_r} H^0 \left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \left(a_j + r - 1 \right) \right) \to H^1 \left(\mathcal{F}^{r+1} \left(-1 \right) \right) = 0,$$

where the last term vanishes because of Lemma 2.1.7 (we have assumed $q - d + r > \chi_r \ge 1 > 0$). But the central group is not zero, since at least the first summand of $\mathcal{F}^r(r-1)$ has non-negative degree.

Hence, the only remaining possibility is $\mathcal{F}^r = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-r)^{\oplus\chi_r}$. But in this case the sequence (2.3) splits, so that $\mathcal{F}^{r+1} \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-r)^{\oplus\chi_{r+1}}$. This implies that $\chi_{r+1} = 0$ because $0 = H^0(\mathcal{F}^{r+1}(r)) \cong \mathbb{C}^{\chi_{r+1}}$, but the maximality of r implies that $\chi_{r+1} \ge q - d + r + 1 > q - d + r - 1 \ge 0$, discarding this last case and finishing the proof.

2.1.3 Examples

In this section we compute the partial Euler characteristics of some families of irregular varieties, and we see that the inequalities provided by Theorem 2.1.4 do not seem to be sharp.

Complete intersections of ample divisors in Abelian varieties

As a first example, we will compute the Hodge numbers of type $h^{p,0}$ (and the partial Euler characteristics) of smooth complete intersections of ample divisors in Abelian varieties. In the case the ambient Abelian variety is simple, the hypothesis of Theorem 2.1.4 are trivially satisfied, so that we can use this first family of varieties to test how sharp are the inequalities (2.4). Indeed, we will see that they are very far from being sharp except in some special cases, and in the next section a great improvement will be obtained (Corollary 2.1.16) for varieties whose Albanese image is (geometrically) nondegenerate (in particular, the intersections of ample divisors).

Let thus A be an Abelian variety of dimension g. Remember that its Hodge numbers are $h^{p,q}(A) = {g \choose p} {g \choose q}$, so that

$$h^{r}(\omega_{A}) = h^{g,r}(A) = \binom{g}{r}.$$

and the partial Euler characteristics of A, for r < g, are

$$\chi_r(A) = \sum_{j=r}^g (-1)^{j-r} \binom{g}{r} = \binom{g-1}{r-1} = \binom{g-1}{g-r}.$$

Let now $\Theta_1, \ldots, \Theta_{q-d} \subseteq A$ be ample divisors such that the complete intersection $X = \Theta_1 \cap \ldots \cap \Theta_{q-d}$ is a smooth *d*-dimensional subvariety. The next theorem computes the partial Euler characteristics of X.

Theorem 2.1.9. The partial Euler characteristics of X are

$$\chi_k(X) = \begin{pmatrix} g-1\\ d-k \end{pmatrix} \quad \forall \, k > 0,$$

$$\chi\left(X\right) = \sum_{\substack{I \subseteq \{1, \dots, g-d\}\\ I \neq \emptyset}} \left(-1\right)^{g-d-|I|} h^0\left(A, \mathcal{O}_A\left(\sum_{i \in I} \Theta_i\right)\right).$$

Proof. Let $\mathcal{F}_1 = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{g-d} \mathcal{O}_A(-\Theta_i)$ and let

$$\sigma: \mathcal{F}_1 \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_0 = \mathcal{O}_A$$

be the addition of all the inclusions $\mathcal{O}_A(-\Theta_i) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_A$. Clearly, the image of σ is the ideal sheaf \mathcal{I}_X of X, so the cokernel of σ is precisely \mathcal{O}_X .

For any $1 \leq r \leq g - d$ denote by $\mathcal{F}_r = \bigwedge^r \mathcal{F}_1 \cong \bigoplus_{|I|=r} \mathcal{O}_A \left(-\sum_{i \in I} \Theta_i \right)$ and let

$$\mathcal{K}: \quad 0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{g-d} \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{g-d-1} \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_1 \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathcal{F}_0 \longrightarrow 0$$

be the Koszul complex associated to σ , which is a locally free resolution of \mathcal{O}_X (this can be taken as well known, but it is quite immediate to prove using Theorem 2.2.9 in the next section, with $\phi = \sigma$ and r = 0).

Therefore, we have $H^n(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = \mathbb{H}^n(A, \mathcal{K})$, where the second term can be computed for n < d by means of the spectral sequence

$$E_1^{i,j} = H^j(A, \mathcal{F}_{g-d-i}) \Longrightarrow \mathbb{H}^n(A, \mathcal{K}).$$

But since the Θ_i are ample, $E_1^{i,j} = 0$ unless $i = g - d = \operatorname{codim} X$ or $j = g = \dim A$, and therefore $E_{\infty}^{i,j} = E_1^{i,j} = H^j(A, \mathcal{F}_{g-d-i})$ for all i+j < d. In fact, for fixed i+j = n < d, the only non-zero term is $E_1^{0,n} = H^n(A, \mathcal{O}_A)$. This means that

$$H^{n}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) = \mathbb{H}^{n}(A, \mathcal{K}) \cong \bigoplus_{i+j=n} E_{\infty}^{i,j} = H^{n}(A, \mathcal{O}_{A}),$$

so that $h^{0,n}(X) = h^{0,n}(A) = \binom{g}{n}$ for all $n < \dim X$, hence

$$\chi_r(X) = \chi_{g-d+r}(A) = \begin{pmatrix} g-1\\ g-d+r-1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} g-1\\ d-r \end{pmatrix}$$

for every r > 0.

Finally, for r = 0, note that

$$\chi_0(X) = \chi(X, \omega_X) = (-1)^d \chi(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = (-1)^d \sum_{r=0}^{g-d} (-1)^r \chi(A, \mathcal{F}_r),$$

and since all the Θ_i are ample,

$$\chi(A, \mathcal{F}_r) = \sum_{|I|=r} \chi\left(A, \mathcal{O}_A\left(-\sum_{i\in I}\Theta_i\right)\right) = \\ = (-1)^g \sum_{|I|=r} \chi\left(A, \mathcal{O}_A\left(\sum_{i\in I}\Theta_i\right)\right) = \\ = \begin{cases} \chi(A, \mathcal{O}_A) = 0 & \text{if } r = 0, \\ (-1)^g \sum_{|I|=r} h^0\left(A, \mathcal{O}_A\left(\sum_{i\in I}\Theta_i\right)\right) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let us check now whether the inequalities

$$\chi_r(X) \ge (q-d) + r$$

hold, distinguishing the cases r > 0 and r = 0.

The case r > 0 is straightforward, because

$$\chi_r(X) = \begin{pmatrix} q-1\\ d-r \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q-1\\ q-d+r-1 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{q-d+r}{q} \begin{pmatrix} q\\ q-d+r \end{pmatrix}$$

equals q-d+r if and only if $\binom{q}{q-d+r} = q$, that is, if and only if q-d+r = 1 or q-d+r = q-1. But since we are considering the case $d \ge r > 0$, it turns out that the only possible cases where equality can happen are

- either r = 1 and q = d, i.e. X = A is the whole Abelian variety, and only happens for $\chi_1(A)$,
- or r = d 1, which is automatic for any variety by definition of $\chi_{d-1}(X)$.

The case r = 0 is by far much more complicated, and we only consider two simple cases:

- X = A is the whole Abelian variety. In this case, the equality always happens because $\chi(A) = 0$ and $q(A) = \dim A$.
- $X = \Theta \subset A$ is an ample divisor. Now, Theorem 2.1.9 gives that $\chi(X) = h^0(A, \mathcal{O}_A(\Theta))$, so the equality $\chi = q d = 1$ happens only if X induces a principal polarization on A.

Symmetric products of curves

Another interesting family of irregular varieties are symmetric products of curves. Let C be a curve of genus $g \ge 1$, and let $C^{(d)}$ be its d-th symmetric product. It is known ([29] Example 1.1) that $h^{p,0}(C^{(d)}) = {g \choose p}$, and thus the partial Euler characteristics of $C^{(d)}$ are

$$\chi_r\left(C^{(d)},\omega_{C^{(d)}}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} g-1\\ d-r \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q-1\\ d-r \end{pmatrix}$$

since $q(C^{(d)}) = g(C)$. Therefore, we obtain the same thing we obtained above (which is not a surprise, since for example $C^{(g-1)}$ is birational to a Theta divisor in J(C)).

Threefolds.

We know that the equality $\chi_0(X) = q(X) - \dim X$ is very difficult to obtain, except in the cases q = d (Abelian varieties) and q = d + 1 (Theta divisors). Therefore, from now on we will try to produce varieties satisfying as many equalities $\chi_r = (q - d) + r$ as possible, assuming that it will not be possible for r = 0. Since for r = d and r = d - 1 the equalities hold by definition, the smallest dimensional cases of interest are threefolds.

The two equalities we want to be satisfied are

$$\chi_1 = (q-3) + 1$$
 and $\chi_0 = q - 3$.

The first one can be written as $h^{2,0} = 2q - 3$, analogous to the classical Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality. The second one, which we do not expect to obtain except in the abovementioned known cases, can be written as $p_q = h^{2,0} - 2$.

We will consider the following construction. On the one hand, we will take a double covering S of a principally polarized Abelian variety (A, Θ) , ramified over a smooth divisor $D \in |2\Theta|$. On the other hand, we will take C a double covering of a curve B of arbitrary genus. Both on S and Cthere is an action of $G = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, so we can consider the diagonal action of G in the product $S \times C$. We consider X a desingularization of the quotient $(S \times C)/G$.

The Hodge numbers of X are

- q(X) = q(A) + g(B) = g(B) + 2,
- $h^{0}(X, \Omega_{X}^{2}) = p_{g}(A) + q(A)g(B) = 2g(B) + 1$, and
- $p_g(X) = g(B) + (g(C) g(B)) = g(C).$

Hence, on the one hand, the first partial Euler characteristic is

$$\chi_1(X) = q(X) - 2 = (q(X) - 3) + 1,$$

so the wanted inequality always hold. On the other hand, the "complete" Euler characteristic is

$$\chi_0 = p_g(X) - \chi_1 = g(C) - g(B) \ge g(B) - 1 = q(X) - 3,$$

where the inequality is a consequence of Hurwitz's formula. Therefore, the equality holds if and only if the double covering $C \to B$ is étale.

Sumarizing, we have obtained a family of 3-folds satisfying both equalities $\chi_1(X) = (q(X) - 3) + 1$ and $\chi_0(X) = q(X) - 3$ for every irregularity $q(X) \ge 3$, that is, for every Euler characteristic $\chi_0 \ge 0$. However, if $\chi_0 \ge 1$, these varieties are fibred over the curve B, which has genus $q(X) - 2 = \chi_0(X) + 1 \ge 2$, so Theorem 2.1.4 does not apply and we do not obtain any interesting example. Indeed, since X is fibred over the curve C of genus $q(C) \ge 2q(B) - 1 \ge 3$, Theorem 2.1.4 does not apply for any k.

Fourfolds

We pass now to fourfolds, applying similar constructions to obtain varieties satisfying the inequalities of Theorem 2.1.4. We will see, however, that these constructions do not allow to obtain the equality for r = 2.

First construction

We will first try by substituting the surface S by a threefold T, which will also be a double covering of a principally polarized Abelian threefold (A, Θ) . We take thus X a desingularization of $(T \times C)/G$, where

- $\pi: T \to A$ is a double covering ramified over a smooth $D \in |2\Theta|$,
- $\tau: C \to B$ is a double covering of a curve of genus $g(B) \ge 1$, and
- $G = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ acts diagonally on the product $T \times C$.

In this case, X has the following Hodge numbers

- q(X) = q(A) + g(B) = g(B) + 3,
- $h^0(X, \Omega^2_X) = h^{2,0}(A) + q(A)g(B) = 3g(B) + 3$,
- $h^{0}(X, \Omega^{3}_{X}) = h^{3,0}(A) + h^{2,0}(A)g(B) = 3g(B) + 1$, and
- $p_q(X) = g(B) + (g(C) g(B)) = g(C).$

Let us now compute the partial Euler characteristics:

- $\chi_2(X) = h^{2,0}(X) q(X) + 1 = 2q(X) 5$, which is greater than (q(X) 4) + 2 = q(X) 2 if and only if q(X) > 3. This inequality holds automatically since we have assumed $g(B) \ge 1$. Therefore, with this construction is impossible to achieve the equality in the case r = 2.
- $\chi_1(X) = h^{3,0}(X) \chi_2(X) = g(B) = q(X) 3 = (q(X) 4) + 1$, so that the equality always hold for r = 1, as in the case of threefolds.
- $\chi_0(X) = p_g(X) \chi_1(X) = g(C) g(B) \ge g(B) 1 = q(X) 4$, with equality if and only if the covering $C \to B$ is étale, as in the three-dimensional case.

Thus, with this construction we get equalities for r = 1 and any irregularity $q(X) \ge 4$, as well as for r = 0 if the covering of curves is étale. However, also as in the case of threefolds, Theorem 2.1.4 does not apply in this case because X is fibred over C, which has genus $g(C) \ge 2$ if $\chi_0(X) \ge 1$.

Second construction

In this second construction we will keep the first surface S and we will change the curve C by a surface (also a double covering). More precisely, we will consider X a desingularization of $(S_1 \times S_2)/G$, where

- $\pi: S_1 \to A$ is a double covering of a principally polarized Abelian surface (A, Θ) , ramified over $D \in |2\Theta|$,
- $\tau : S_2 \to B$ is a double covering of a surface B (still without any further condition), and
- $G = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ acts diagonally on the product $S_1 \times S_2$.

The Hodge numbers of this second construction are

- q(X) = q(A) + q(B) = q(B) + 2,
- $h^{0}(X, \Omega_{X}^{2}) = p_{g}(A) + q(A)q(B) + p_{g}(B) = p_{g}(B) + 2q(B) + 1,$
- $h^0(X, \Omega^3_X) = 2p_g(B) + q(S_2)$, and
- $p_g(X) = p_g(S_2).$

Consequently, the partial Euler characteristics are

- $\chi_2(X) = h^{2,0}(X) q(X) + 1 = p_g(B) + q(B),$
- $\chi_1(X) = h^{3,0}(X) \chi_2(X) = p_g(B) + (q(S_2) q(B))$, and
- $\chi_0(X) = p_g(X) \chi_1(X) = (p_g(S_2) p_g(B)) (q(S_2) q(B)).$

Firstly, it is evident that the only way to obtain the equality

$$\chi_2(X) = (q(X) - 4) + 2 = q(B)$$

is to impose $p_g(B) = 0$, which we will assume from now on. Secondly, the equality

$$\chi_1(X) = q(S_2) - q(B) = q(X) - 3 = q(B) - 1$$

will hold if and only if $q(S_2) = 2q(B) - 1$. Supposing that the covering $\tau : S_2 \to B$ is given by a line bundle $L \in \text{Pic}(B)$ and is ramified over $E \in |L^{\otimes 2}|$, then $q(S_2) = q(B) + h^1(B, L^{\vee}) = q(B) + h^1(B, \omega_B \otimes L)$.

Therefore, if there exists a surface B with $p_g(B) = 0$, and admitting a line bundle L such that $h^1(B, L^{\vee}) = q(B) - 1$ and that $H^0(B, L^{\otimes 2}) \neq 0$, it is possible to obtain a fourfold X such that $\chi_i(X) = q(X) - 4 + i$ for i = 1, 2.

2.1.4 Functoriality

We will now study the behaviour of the BGG complex with respect to morphisms of varieties, and its consequences on the partial Euler characteristics.

Therefore, let $f : X \to Y$ be a morphism of smooth irregular varieties of dimensions $n = \dim X$ and $m = \dim Y$. The map f induces pull-back homomorphisms $f_k^* : H^k(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \to H^k(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$, and in particular

$$f_1^*: H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \to H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X),$$

which in turn induces a rational map

$$\mathbb{P}_{Y} = \mathbb{P}\left(H^{1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{Y}\right)\right) \twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{P}'_{Y} = \mathbb{P}\left(f_{1}^{*}\left(H^{1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{Y}\right)\right)\right) \subseteq \mathbb{P}_{X} = \mathbb{P}\left(H^{1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{X}\right)\right).$$

For simplicity, we will assume from now on that f_1^* is injective, so that we can identify $H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y)$ with a subspace $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$, and the rational map above is indeed an injective morphism that identifies \mathbb{P}_Y with the linear subspace $\mathbb{P}'_Y \subseteq \mathbb{P}_X$.

The morphisms f_k^* give rise naturally to morphisms of sheaves on \mathbb{P}_Y

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}(-n+k)\otimes H^{k}(Y,\mathcal{O}_{Y})\longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}(-n+k)\otimes H^{k}(X,\mathcal{O}_{X})$$

These morphisms are compatible with cup-product, and thus induce a morphism of complexes over \mathbb{P}_Y :

$$f^*: BGG(Y) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_Y}(-(n-m)) \longrightarrow BGG(X)_{|\mathbb{P}_Y}$$

(note that, in order to make f^* into a morphism of complexes, it is necessary to twist the BGG complex of Y in order to adjust the degrees).

On the other hand, since restriction to a subvariety is always right-exact (it is the pull-back via the inclusion map), for every s we have

$$\mathcal{F}_{X|\mathbb{P}_{Y}}^{s} = \operatorname{coker}\left\{\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-s-1\right) \otimes H^{n-s-1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{X}\right) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-s\right) \otimes H^{n-s}\left(\mathcal{O}_{X}\right)\right\}$$

Hence, the pullback f^* induces morphisms

$$g_r: \mathcal{F}_Y^{m-r}\left(-(n-m)\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{X|\mathbb{P}_Y}^{n-r}$$

obtained by completing the commutative diagram with exact rows

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-n+r-1\right)\otimes H^{r-1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{Y}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-n+r\right)\otimes H^{r}\left(\mathcal{O}_{Y}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{Y}^{m-r}\left(-n+m\right) \longrightarrow 0 \\ & f_{r-1}^{*} \middle| & f_{r}^{*} \middle| & |g_{r} \\ & & & & & \\ \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-n+r-1\right)\otimes H^{r-1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{X}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-n+r\right)\otimes H^{r}\left(\mathcal{O}_{X}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{X|\mathbb{P}_{Y}}^{n-r} \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

Recall from the beginning of the section that for any positive integer $r \leq \dim \operatorname{alb}_X(X)$ it holds $\chi_{n-r}(X) = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}_X^{n-r}$ (and analogously for Y, with $m = \dim Y$ instead of $n = \dim X$). Hence, whenever the following conditions hold

- 1. $r \leq \min \{\dim alb_X(X), \dim alb_Y(Y)\}, \text{ and }$
- 2. $\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}_{X|\mathbb{P}_Y}^{n-r} = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}_X^{n-r},$

the morphism g_r allows to relate the partial Euler characteristics $\chi_{m-r}(Y)$ and $\chi_{n-r}(X)$. More precisely, in any situation implying that g_r is injective, it will hold in particular that $\chi_{m-r}(Y) \leq \chi_{n-r}(X)$.

One easy way to guarantee the injectivity of some g_r is imposing that $f_{r+1}^* : H^{r+1}(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \to H^{r+1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ is injective and that both BGG(Y) and $BGG(X)_{|\mathbb{P}_Y}$ are exact in the first r+1 steps. Indeed, in this case we have the inclusions

$$\mathcal{F}_{Y}^{m-r}\left(-(n-m)\right) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-n+r+1\right) \otimes H^{r+1}\left(Y, \mathcal{O}_{Y}\right)$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}_{X|\mathbb{P}_{Y}}^{n-r} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-n+r+1\right) \otimes H^{r+1}\left(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}\right),$$

and g_r is exactly the restriction of

 $f_{r+1}^{*}: \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-n+r+1\right) \otimes H^{r+1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{Y}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{Y}}\left(-n+r+1\right) \otimes H^{r+1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{X}\right).$

We have thus obtained the following general result:

Theorem 2.1.10. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a morphism between smooth irregular varieties of dimensions n and m respectively, such that the pull-back $H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \hookrightarrow H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ is injective. Let r be an integer such that both BGG(Y) and $BGG(X)_{|\mathbb{P}_Y}$ are exact in the first r+1 first steps (from the left), and assume also that $f_{r+1}^* : H^{r+1}(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \hookrightarrow H^{r+1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ is injective and $\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}_{X|\mathbb{P}_Y}^{n-r} = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}_X^{n-r}$. Then

$$\chi_{n-r}\left(X\right) \ge \chi_{m-r}\left(Y\right).$$

Remark 2.1.11. Even in the case that both X and Y are varieties of maximal Albanese dimension, the previous Theorem does not provide bounds for the holomorphic Euler-Poincaré caracteristics except for very specific cases:

- If $m \leq n$, the maximal r for which the Theorem may apply is m 1, since BGG(Y) is exact in the first m steps, and we would only obtain inequalities for $\chi_1(Y), \chi_2(Y), \ldots$
- If $m \ge n$, the maximal r is now n in the case $\mathcal{F}^0_{X|\mathbb{P}_Y} = 0$. And in this case, f^*_{n+1} would be injective only if $H^{n+1}(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = 0$.

Let us now study some particular cases.

Morphisms such that $f^*H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) = H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$

We will first focus on morphisms such that the pull-back induces an isomorphism $H^1(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \cong H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$. The paradigmatical examples are the Albanese morphisms.

In this case, $\mathbb{P}_Y \cong \mathbb{P}_X$. Therefore, there is no restriction of the complex BGG(X) and the equality $\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}^r_{X|\mathbb{P}_Y} = \operatorname{rk} \mathcal{F}^r_X$ is tautologically satisfied for every $r = 0, \ldots, n$. Since BGG(X) (resp. BGG(Y)) is exact in the first dim $\operatorname{alb}_X(X)$ (resp. dim $\operatorname{alb}_Y(Y)$) steps, it is possible to apply Theorem 2.1.10 for any $r < \min \{ \dim \operatorname{alb}_X(X), \dim \operatorname{alb}_Y(Y) \}$, as long as $f^*_{r+1} : H^{r+1}(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \to H^{r+1}(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ is injective.

Definition 2.1.12. Let A be an Abelian variety, and $X \subseteq A$ a (smooth) subvariety of dimension d. If the set $\{a \in A \mid X + a = X\}$ is discrete, X

is said to be non-degenerate. Moreover, X is said to be geometrically nondegenerate if the restriction induces an injection $H^d(A, \mathcal{O}_A) \hookrightarrow H^d(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ (or equivalently $H^0(A, \Omega_A^d) \hookrightarrow H^0(X, \omega_X)$).

Remark 2.1.13. Every geometrically non-degenerate subvariety is non-degenerate.

Therefore, we can apply Theorem 2.1.10 to geometrically non-degenerate subvarieties to obtain the following

Corollary 2.1.14. If $X \subseteq A$ is a geometrically non-degenerate subvariety of an Abelian variety A, with dim X = n and dim A = g, then

$$\chi_{n-r}(X) \ge \chi_{g-r}(A) = \binom{g-1}{r}, \quad \forall r = 0, \dots, n-1.$$

Surjective morphisms

Suppose now that the morphism $f: X \to Y$ is surjective, so that in particular we have $m = \dim Y \leq \dim X = n$. This case includes fibrations and (generically) finite morphisms.

Since the differential of such a morphism has generically maximal rank, all the pull-back morphisms $f^* : H^0(Y, \Omega_Y^k) \to H^0(X, \Omega_X^k)$ are injective (consider the restriction of a holomorphic k-form on Y to the open set where df is surjective). Conjugating, we obtain that

$$f_k^* : H^k(Y, \mathcal{O}_Y) \hookrightarrow H^k(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$$

is injective for every $k = 0, \ldots, m$.

On the other hand, by the functoriality of the Albanese map, one has the following commutative diagram

$$X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{alb}_X} \operatorname{alb}_X (X) \xrightarrow{\leftarrow} \operatorname{Alb} (X)$$

$$f \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \operatorname{Alb}(f) \qquad \qquad \downarrow \operatorname{Alb}(f)$$

$$Y \xrightarrow{\operatorname{alb}_Y} \operatorname{alb}_Y (Y) \xrightarrow{\leftarrow} \operatorname{Alb} (Y)$$

and taking into account that both f and $alb_Y : Y \to alb_Y(Y)$ are surjective, one concludes that the restriction $Alb(f) : alb_X(X) \to alb_Y(Y)$ is also surjective. Therefore, $\dim alb_X(X) \ge \dim alb_Y(Y)$ and the only limitation we have is $r < \dim alb_Y(Y)$.

Finally, we have to study the exactness of the complex $BGG(X)_{|\mathbb{P}_Y}$, since we want it to be exact in as many steps as possible (at least the first dim $alb_Y(Y)$ ones).

It is known ([19], or the proof of Theorem 2.1.4) that if $\mathcal{O}_X \in V^i(\omega_X)$ is an isolated point for every i > k, then BGG(X) is exact at every point in the first n - k steps, and the restriction $BGG(X)_{|\mathbb{P}_Y}$ will be exact too.

So far, we have proved the following

Corollary 2.1.15. Let $f : X \to Y$ be a surjective morphism, denote by $n = \dim X$ and $m = \dim Y$, and let $r < \dim ab_Y(Y)$ be any positive integer such that $\mathcal{O}_X \in V^i(X)$ is isolated for every i > n - r + 1. Then

$$\chi_{n-r}\left(X\right) \ge \chi_{m-r}\left(Y\right).$$

And combining this last result with Corollary 2.1.14 we obtain the final

Corollary 2.1.16. Let X be a smooth n-dimensional irregular variety such that its Albanese image $Y = alb_X(X)$ is smooth of dimension $m = \dim Y$. Assume moreover that $\mathcal{O}_X \in V^i(X)$ is isolated for every i > n - m and that Y is geometrically non-degenerate. Then

$$\chi_{n-r}(X) \ge \begin{pmatrix} q(X) - 1 \\ r \end{pmatrix} \quad \forall r = 1, \dots, m-1.$$

In particular, if X is primitive (hence of maximal Albanese dimension) and its Albanese image is smooth and non-degenerate, then

$$\chi_r(X) \ge \begin{pmatrix} q(X) - 1\\ \dim(X) - r \end{pmatrix} \quad \forall r = 1, \dots, \dim X - 1.$$

Remark 2.1.17. Note that these bounds are much stronger than the linear ones provided by Theorem 2.1.4.

2.2 HIGHER-RANK DERIVATIVE COMPLEXES

In this section we expose a generalization of the derivative and BGG complexes, obtaining stronger inequalities for the Hodge numbers of irregular varieties X admitting non-degenerate subspaces $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega_X^1)$. The section begins with the basic definitions followed by a digression through complexes of Eagon-Northott type. These are the technical tools that will provide the main results presented next. The section is closed with the particular case of subvarieties of Abelian varieties, showing that they admit non-degenerate subspaces of any rank and hence it is possible to apply all the preceding results (as well as some variants).

2.2.1 Definitions

44

We first explain the construction of our main tools, which we call higher rank derivative complex and Grassmannian BGG complex. The reason of the name is that they generalize the derivative and BGG complexes to the case where more than one 1-form (or cohomology class $v \in H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$) are put into the picture. However, we do not obtain them from a "derivative" setting, nor from a categorical analogue to the BGG correspondence. Instead, we construct them directly and show that they coincide with the previous ones in the case of one-dimensional subspaces.

As in the previous section, X will denote an irregular complex projective or compact Kähler variety of dimension d.

Definition 2.2.1 (Higher-rank derivative complex). Fix integers $r \ge 1$, $1 \le n \le \min\{r, d\}, 0 \le j \le d$, and a linear subspace $W \subseteq V$. We define $C_{r,n,W}^{j}$ as the complex (of vector spaces)

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{1}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{i}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-n} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{n}) \quad (2.7)$$

where the maps μ_i^j : $\operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^j(X, \Omega_X^i) \to \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i-1} W \otimes H^j(X, \Omega_X^{i+1})$ are given by

$$\mu_i^j((w_1\cdots w_{r-i})\otimes [\alpha]) = \sum_{t=1}^{r-i} (w_1\cdots \widehat{w_t}\cdots w_{r-i})\otimes [w_t\wedge \alpha].$$

Lemma 2.2.2. The maps μ_i^j are well defined and indeed make $C_{r,n,W}^j$ into a complex.

Proof. In order to see that the μ_i^j are well defined, consider first the linear map

$$\widetilde{\mu}_{i}^{j}: W^{\otimes (r-i)} \otimes H^{j}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{i}\right) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i-1} W \otimes H^{j}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{i+1}\right)$$

defined as

$$\widetilde{\mu}_{i}^{j}\left(\left(w_{1}\otimes\cdots\otimes w_{r-i}\right)\otimes\left[\alpha\right]\right)=\sum_{t=1}^{r-i}\left(w_{1}\cdots\widehat{w_{t}}\cdots w_{r-i}\right)\otimes\left[w_{t}\wedge\alpha\right].$$

Clearly, $\widetilde{\mu}_i^j$ satisfies

$$\widetilde{\mu}_{i}^{j}\left(\left(w_{\sigma(1)}\otimes\cdots\otimes w_{\sigma(r-i)}\right)\otimes\left[\alpha\right]\right)=\widetilde{\mu}_{i}^{j}\left(\left(w_{1}\otimes\cdots\otimes w_{r-i}\right)\otimes\left[\alpha\right]\right)$$

for any permutation $\sigma : \{1, \ldots, r-i\} \to \{1, \ldots, r-i\}$, and hence it factors through the quotient

$$W^{\otimes (r-i)} \otimes H^j(X, \Omega^i_X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^j(X, \Omega^i_X)$$

and a map

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^j(X, \Omega^i_X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i-1} W \otimes H^j(X, \Omega^{i+1}_X)$$

which is precisely μ_i^j .

Once we know that the μ_i^j are well defined, it is an straightforward computation to check that $\mu_{i+1}^j \circ \mu_i^j = 0$. Indeed

$$\mu_{i+1}^{j} \left(\mu_{i}^{j} \left((w_{1} \cdots w_{r-i}) \otimes [\alpha] \right) \right) =$$

$$= \sum_{t=1}^{r-i} \mu_{i+1}^{j} \left((w_{1} \cdots \widehat{w_{t}} \cdots w_{r-i}) \otimes [w_{t} \wedge \alpha] \right) =$$

$$= \sum_{t=1}^{r-i} \left(\sum_{s=1}^{t-1} (w_{1} \cdots \widehat{w_{s}} \cdots \widehat{w_{t}} \cdots w_{r-i}) \otimes [w_{s} \wedge w_{t} \wedge \alpha] + \sum_{s=t+1}^{r-i} (w_{1} \cdots \widehat{w_{t}} \cdots \widehat{w_{s}} \cdots w_{r-i}) \otimes [w_{s} \wedge w_{t} \wedge \alpha] \right) =$$

$$= \sum_{1 \leq s < t \leq r-i} (w_{1} \cdots \widehat{w_{t}} \cdots \widehat{w_{s}} \cdots w_{r-i}) \otimes ([w_{s} \wedge w_{t} \wedge \alpha] + [w_{t} \wedge w_{s} \wedge \alpha]) = 0$$

since obviously

$$[w_s \wedge w_t \wedge \alpha] + [w_t \wedge w_s \wedge \alpha] = [w_s \wedge w_t \wedge \alpha - w_s \wedge w_t \wedge \alpha] = 0.$$

Since for every $1 \leq n' < n$ the complex $C_{r,n',W}^j$ is a truncation of $C_{r,n,W}^j$, we may assume that n is the greatest possible, that is $n = \min\{r, d\}$, and denote the complex simply by $C_{r,W}^j$.

Note that in the case of a 1-dimensional W, generated by w, we have $\operatorname{Sym}^r W \equiv \mathbb{C} \langle w^r \rangle \cong \mathbb{C}$, and $C^j_{d,\mathbb{C}\langle w \rangle}$ is nothing but the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{j}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \xrightarrow{\wedge w} H^{j}(X, \Omega^{1}_{X}) \xrightarrow{\wedge w} \dots \xrightarrow{\wedge w} H^{j}(X, \omega_{X}),$$

which is (complex-conjugate to) the *derivative complex* studied by Green and Lazarsfeld in [18].

Our main aim is to study the exactness of $C_{r,W}^{j}$. More precisely, we look for conditions on W which guarantee that $C_{r,W}^{j}$ is exact in some (say m) of its first steps, (i.e., $C_{r,m,W}^{j}$ is exact), because this exactness will provide several inequalities between the Hodge numbers $h^{p,j}(X)$.

At some points, we will need to consider different subspaces W. Hence, we "glue" all the complexes (2.7) with fixed $k = \dim W$ as follows. Denote by $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}_k = Gr(k, V)$ the Grassmannian variety of k-dimensional subspaces of V, and by $S \subseteq V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}}$ the tautological subbundle, the vector bundle of rank k whose fibre over a point $W \in \mathbb{G}$ is precisely the subspace $W \subseteq V$.

Definition 2.2.3 (Grassmannian BGG complex). For any integers $r \ge 1$ and $0 \le j \le d$, the (r, j)-th Grassmannian BGG complex (of rank k) of X is the complex of vector bundles on \mathbb{G}_k

$$C_r^j: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^r S \otimes H^j(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} S \otimes H^j(X, \Omega_X^1) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} S \otimes H^j(X, \Omega_X^i) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-n} S \otimes H^j(X, \Omega_X^n)$$

where $n = \min\{r, d\}$ and over each point $W \in \mathbb{G}_k$ it is given by (2.7). Let $\mathcal{F}_{r,n}^j$ denote the cohernel of the last map in $C_{r,n}^j$, the (n, r, j)-th Grassmannian BGG sheaf (of rank k) of X.

Remark 2.2.4. If k = 1, then $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, \Omega^1_X))$, $S = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)$ and Sym^r $S = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-r)$. So taking k = 1 and r = d, the above complex is precisely (the complex-conjugate of) the BGG complex introduced by Lazarsfeld and Popa in [27]. More generally, fixing only k = 1 and r < d we obtain all the complexes considered in the first section of this chapter (suitably twisted). In this way, the Grassmannian BGG complexes can be seen as generalizations of the former complexes, with the new feature that they capture also the additive structure of the cohomology algebra of X, and the sheaves $\mathcal{F}_{r,n}^j$ generalize the BGG sheaves introduced in Definition 2.1.2.

The interest of studying these complexes is that, whenever they are exact at some point $W \in \mathbb{G}$, they provide some inequalities involving the Hodge numbers $h^{i,j}(X) = h^j(X, \Omega_X^i)$. These inequalities are much stronger when the complex is exact at every point, so that the cokernel sheaves of the maps μ_i^j are vector bundles and a deeper study of them is feasible (as we will do in Section 2.4). For example, the proof of the higher-dimensional Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality given by Lazarsfeld and Popa in [27] is based on the fact that the BGG sheaf (the cokernel of the last map of C_d^0 with k = 1) is an indecomposable vector bundle on \mathbb{P}^{q-1} .

2.2.2 Eagon-Northcott complexes

In order to study the exactness of the higher rank derivative complexes, we will strongly use some results of commutative algebra concerning a generalization of the Koszul complexes: the complexes of Eagon-Northcott type. In this section we will give an overview of them, exposing their main properties and focusing on those that will be useful for our purposes. For more detailed explanations, we refer to the books [8, 14] and the article [1].

Consider a ring R (commutative, with identity and Noetherian) and a map $\phi: G \to F$ of finitely generated free R-modules, of ranks $n = \operatorname{rk} G$ and $k = \operatorname{rk} F$. For any integer $r \geq 0$, denote by $\mathcal{C}_r(\phi)$ the complex

$$\mathcal{C}_{r}(\phi): 0 \longrightarrow \bigwedge^{r} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{0} F \xrightarrow{\partial} \bigwedge^{r-1} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{1} F \xrightarrow{\partial} \cdots$$
$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\partial} \bigwedge^{1} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} F \xrightarrow{\partial} \bigwedge^{0} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r} F \longrightarrow 0,$$

where

$$\partial \left(g_1 \wedge \dots \wedge g_m \otimes f \right) = \sum_{j=1}^m \left(-1 \right)^{j+1} g_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{g_j} \wedge \dots \wedge g_m \otimes \left(\phi \left(g_j \right) f \right)$$

for every $g_1 \dots g_m \in G, f \in \operatorname{Sym}^{r-m} F$.

If $n \ge k$ and $0 \le r \le n-k$, then the *R*-dual complex $(\mathcal{C}_{n-k-r}(\phi))^{\vee}$ (where $(-)^{\vee} = \operatorname{Hom}_{R}(-, R)$) and $\mathcal{C}_{r}(\phi)$ can be spliced by a map

$$\nu_r: \bigwedge^{n-k-r} G^{\vee} = \left(\bigwedge^{n-k-r} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^0 F\right)^{\vee} \longrightarrow \bigwedge^r G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^0 F = \left(\bigwedge^r G^{\vee}\right)^{\vee}$$

which is constructed as follows: choose two orientations $\gamma : \bigwedge^k F^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\cong} R$ and $\delta : \bigwedge^n G^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\cong} R$, define $\alpha = (\bigwedge^k \phi^{\vee}) (\gamma^{-1}(1))$ (where

$$\wedge^k \phi^\vee : \bigwedge^k F^\vee \longrightarrow \bigwedge^k G^\vee$$

is the induced map), and set

$$(\nu_r(x))(y) = \delta(x \wedge y \wedge \alpha) \qquad \forall x \in \bigwedge^{n-k-r} G^{\vee}, y \in \bigwedge^r G^{\vee}.$$

The resulting complex is

$$\mathcal{D}_{r}(\phi): 0 \longrightarrow \left(\bigwedge^{0} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{n-k-r}(F)\right)^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\partial^{\vee}} \cdots$$
$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\partial^{\vee}} \left(\bigwedge^{n-k-r} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{0}(F)\right)^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\nu_{r}} \bigwedge^{r} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{0}(F) \xrightarrow{\partial} \cdots$$
$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\partial} \bigwedge^{0} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r}(F) \longrightarrow 0$$

Note that different choices of orientations lead to different ν_r differring only by multiplication by an invertible element.

The exactness of the complexes $C_r(\phi)$ and $D_r(\phi)$ depends on the ideals $I_i(\phi) \subseteq R$ generated by the $i \times i$ minors of ϕ .

For the case $k \leq n$, the main results are the following theorems.

Theorem 2.2.5 ([8] Th. 2.16). With the previous notations, suppose $k \leq n$ and $0 \leq r \leq n-k$. If depth $(I_k(\phi)) = n-k+1$, then the complex $\mathcal{D}_r(\phi)$ is a free resolution of $R/I_k(\phi)$ if r = 0, and of Sym^r (coker (ϕ)) if r > 0.

Theorem 2.2.6 ([14] Th. A.2.10). With the previous notations, assume also that $k \leq n$ and $r \geq n - k + 1$. If depth $(I_i(\phi)) = n - i + 1$ for every $\max\{1, n - r + 1\} \leq i \leq k$, then the complex $C_r(\phi)$ is a free resolution of Sym^r (coker (ϕ)).

On the other hand, for the case $k \ge n$ it holds an analogous result.

Theorem 2.2.7 ([1] Prop. 3.(3)). With the previous notations, if $k \ge n$ and depth $(I_i(\phi)) \ge n - i + 1$ for every $1 \le i \le n$, then the complex $C_r(\phi)$ is a free resolution of Sym^r (coker (ϕ)) for every r > 0.

We will now translate the previous algebraic constructions and results into geometry. Consider a map of vector bundles $\phi: G \to F$ over a smooth (or at least Cohen-Macaulay) variety X. As above, denote by $n = \operatorname{rk} G$ and by $k = \operatorname{rk} F$. The case $n \ge k$ has been studied in [25] App. B, but as far as the author is aware, the case n < k has not been written anywhere, and this is the reason why we include this discussion.

For any $r \geq 0$, one can construct complexes of vector bundles $C_r(\phi)$ and $\mathcal{D}_r(\phi)$, whose stalks over a point $p \in X$ are the $C_r(\phi_p)$ and $\mathcal{D}_r(\phi_p)$ associated to the map of $\mathcal{O}_{X,p}$ -free modules $\phi_p : G_p \to F_p$. More explicitly, they have the shape

$$\mathcal{C}_r(\phi) : 0 \to \bigwedge^r G \to \bigwedge^{r-1} G \otimes F \cdots \to G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} F \to \operatorname{Sym}^r F$$

and, if $r \leq n - k$ (in case $k \leq n$),

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{D}_{r}\left(\phi\right): 0 &\to \bigwedge^{n} G \otimes \bigwedge^{k} F^{\vee} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{n-k-r} F^{\vee} \to \\ &\to \bigwedge^{n-1} G \otimes \bigwedge^{k} F^{\vee} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{n-k-r-1} F^{\vee} \cdots \to \bigwedge^{k+r+1} G \otimes \bigwedge^{k} F^{\vee} \otimes F^{\vee} \to \\ &\to \bigwedge^{k+r} G \otimes \bigwedge^{k} F^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\nu_{r}} \bigwedge^{r} G \to \bigwedge^{r-1} G \otimes F \to \cdots \to G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} F \to \\ &\to \operatorname{Sym}^{r} F. \end{aligned}$$

The maps

$$\bigwedge^{i} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} F \longrightarrow \bigwedge^{i-1} G \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i+1} F$$

are given by

$$(g_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge g_i) \otimes f \mapsto \sum_{j=1}^i (-1)^{j-1} (g_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{g_j} \wedge \cdots \wedge g_i) \otimes (\phi(g_j) f),$$

the maps

$$\bigwedge^{n-i+1} G \otimes \bigwedge^k F^{\vee} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i+1} F^{\vee} \longrightarrow \bigwedge^{n-i} G \otimes \bigwedge^k F^{\vee} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} F^{\vee}$$

are the duals of the previous ones twisted by the line bundle $\bigwedge^n G \otimes \bigwedge^k F^{\vee}$ (so that there is no need to choose the orientations γ and δ , which by the way, may not exist globally), and the maps

$$\nu_r: \bigwedge^{k+r} G \otimes \bigwedge^k F^{\vee} \longrightarrow \bigwedge^r G$$

are induced by $\bigwedge^k \phi : \bigwedge^k G \to \bigwedge^k F$.

Definition 2.2.8. For the sake of simplicity, define

$$EN_r(\phi) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{D}_r(\phi) & \text{if } r \le n-k, \text{ or} \\ \mathcal{C}_r(\phi) & \text{if } r \ge n-k+1. \end{cases}$$

We call these complexes the Eagon-Northcott complexes associated to ϕ .

In this geometric setting, the exactness of these complexes is governed by the degeneracy loci of ϕ . For any positive integer *i*, denote by

$$Z_{i} = Z_{i}(\phi) = \{ p \in X | rk(\phi(p) : G \otimes \mathbb{C}(p) \to F \otimes \mathbb{C}(p)) < i \}$$

the locus where ϕ has rank smaller than *i*. Locally at a point $p \in X$, the Z_i are (set-theoretically) the zero loci of the ideals $I_i(\phi_p)$, and since X is smooth (or at least Cohen-Macaulay) we have the equality

$$\operatorname{codim}_{p} Z_{i} = \operatorname{depth} I_{i}(\phi_{p})$$

Therefore, we can translate Theorems 2.2.5, 2.2.6 and 2.2.7 into the following

Theorem 2.2.9. With the preceding notations, assume that

- 1. either $k \leq n$ and
 - $\operatorname{codim} Z_k = n k + 1$ if $r \le n k$, or
 - $\operatorname{codim} Z_i \ge n i + 1$ for every $i = \max\{1, n r + 1\}, \dots, k$ if $r \ge n k + 1$,
- 2. or $k \ge n$ and codim $Z_i \ge n i + 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

Then $EN_r(\phi)$ is a locally free resolution of $\operatorname{Sym}^r(\operatorname{coker} \phi)$ for every $r \ge 1$, and of \mathcal{O}_{Z_k} if r = 0 and $k \le n$.

2.2.3 Exactness of $C_{r,W}^j$

We will now use the previous results on Eagon-Northcott complexes to study the exactness of the complexes $C_{r,W}^{j}$. The approach we follow is analogous to the method used by Green and Lazarsfeld in Section 3 (A Nakano-type generic vanishing theorem) of [18], suitably adapted to subspaces of rank k > 1.

So fix a k-dimensional subspace $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$, and consider the following complex of sheaves on X,

$$\mathcal{C}_{r,W}: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r} W \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} W \otimes \Omega_{X}^{1} \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes \Omega_{X}^{i} \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-n} W \otimes \Omega_{X}^{n}$$

where the maps $\mu_i : \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes \Omega_X^i \to \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i-1} W \otimes \Omega_X^{i+1}$ are defined as in Definition 2.2.1, and we also assume $n = \min\{r, d\}$. Clearly, its global sections form the complex $C_{r,W}^0$, and in general, $C_{r,W}^j = H^j(X, \mathcal{C}_{r,W})$ is the complex obtained by applying the *j*-th sheaf cohomology functor. Denote by $K^i = \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes \Omega^i_X$ the *i*-th term of $\mathcal{C}_{r,W}$, and by $\mathcal{H}^i = \mathcal{H}^i(\mathcal{C}_{r,W})$ its *i*-th cohomology sheaf.

There are two spectral sequences, 'E and ''E, both abutting to the hypercohomology of $\mathcal{C}_{r,W}$, starting at

$${}^{\prime}E_{1}^{i,j} = H^{j}\left(X, K^{i}\right) = \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^{j}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{i}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad {}^{\prime\prime}E_{2}^{i,j} = H^{i}\left(X, \mathcal{H}^{j}\right),$$

$$(2.8)$$

respectively. Note that the rows of E_1 are precisely the complexes $C_{r,W}^{j}$ whose exactness we want to determine. Hence, the combined study of these two spectral sequences will lead to some results in the wanted direction.

We start with a generalization of Proposition 3.7 in [18], whose proof is analogous (but notationally more complicated).

Proposition 2.2.10. For any $W \in \mathbb{G}_k$, the spectral sequence 'E degenerates at 'E₂, *i.e.* 'E₂ = 'E_{∞}.

Proof. We will denote by $A^{i,j}(X)$ the vector space of \mathcal{C}^{∞} differential forms of type (i, j), and will identify each cohomology class $[b] \in H^j(X, \Omega_X^i)$ with its only harmonic representative $b \in A^{i,j}(X)$. We will also use the following result ([42] Proposition 6.17): if $b \in A^{i,j}(X)$ is both ∂ - and $\bar{\partial}$ -closed, and either ∂ - or $\bar{\partial}$ -exact, then $b = \partial \bar{\partial} c = -\bar{\partial} \partial c$ for some $c \in A^{i-1,j-1}(X)$.

Fix a basis $\{w_1, \ldots, w_k\}$ of W, so that any $b \in \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^j(X, \Omega_X^i)$ may be uniquely written as

$$b = \sum_{|J|=r-i} w_J \otimes [b_J]$$

where $J = \{1 \leq j_1 \leq j_2 \leq \cdots \leq j_{r-i} \leq k\}, w_J = w_{j_1} \cdots w_{j_{r-i}} \in \text{Sym}^{r-i} W$ and $b_J \in A^{i,j}(X)$ is harmonic.

Firstly, we will show that the differential d_2 of E_2 vanishes on every $E_2^{i,j}$. By definition, any class in $E_2^{i,j}$ is represented by some

$$b = \sum_{|J|=r-i} w_J \otimes [b_J] \in \ker \mu_i^j$$

that is, such that

$$\sum_{|J|=r-i} \sum_{s=1}^{r-i} w_{J-\{j_s\}} \otimes [w_{j_s} \wedge b_J] = \sum_{|J'|=r-i-1} w_{J'} \otimes \left[\sum_{j=1}^k w_j \wedge b_{J'\cup\{j\}}\right] = 0$$

where $J - \{j_s\}$ and $J' \cup \{j\}$ should be understood as operations on *multisets*. This last sum is zero if and only if all the classes $\left[\sum_{j=1}^k w_j \wedge b_{J' \cup \{j\}}\right]$ vanish in $H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{i+1}) \cong H^{i+1,j}_{\bar{\partial}}(X)$ (viewed as Dolbeault's cohomology), so we can assume that all the $\sum_{j=1}^{k} w_{j} \wedge b_{J' \cup \{j\}}$ are $\bar{\partial}$ -exact. Since they are also both ∂ and $\bar{\partial}$ -closed (because so are the w_{j} and the b_{J}), there exist forms $c_{1,J'} \in A^{i,j-1}(X)$ such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{k} w_j \wedge b_{J' \cup \{j\}} = \bar{\partial} \partial c_{1,J'}, \qquad (2.9)$$

and $d_2(b)$ is represented by

$$\mu_{i+1}^{j-1} \left(\sum_{|J'|=r-i-1} w_{J'} \otimes \partial c_{1,J'} \right) = \sum_{|J'|=r-i-1} \sum_{s=1}^{r-i-1} w_{J'-\{j'_s\}} \otimes \left(w_{j'_s} \wedge \partial c_{1,J'} \right) = \sum_{|J''|=r-i-2} w_{J''} \otimes \left(\sum_{j=1}^k w_j \wedge \partial c_{1,J''\cup\{j\}} \right).$$

Therefore, in order to see that $d_2(b) = 0$, we only need to check that all the $a_{J''} = \sum_{j=1}^k w_j \wedge \partial c_{1,J''\cup\{j\}}$ are $\bar{\partial}$ -exact (thus representing the zero class in $H^{i+2,j-1}_{\bar{\partial}}(X) \cong H^{j-1}(X, \Omega^{i+2}_X)$). On the one hand, note that

$$a_{J''} = -\partial \left(\sum_{j=1}^k w_j \wedge c_{1,J'' \cup \{j\}} \right),$$

so they are ∂ -exact, and hence ∂ -closed. On the other hand, using equation (2.9) we obtain

$$\bar{\partial}a_{J''} = -\sum_{j=1}^{k} w_j \wedge \bar{\partial}\partial c_{1,J''\cup\{j\}} = -\sum_{1 \le j < l \le k} (w_j \wedge w_l + w_l \wedge w_j) \wedge b_{J''\cup\{j,l\}} = 0,$$

so $a_{J''} = \bar{\partial} \partial c_{2,J''}$ for some $c_{2,J''} \in A^{i+1,j-2}(X)$. In particular, it is $\bar{\partial}$ -exact and hence $d_2(b) = 0$, as wanted.

Now we have to show that all the subsequent differentials d_m also vanish. Assume inductively that for any $2 \leq l < m$ we have $d_l = 0$, and that for any b as above we can find differential forms $c_{l,J_l} \in A^{i+l-1,j-l}(X)$ such that $\bar{\partial}\partial c_{l,J_l} = \sum_{j=1}^k w_j \wedge \partial c_{l-1,J_l \cup \{j\}}$ for every multisubset J_l of $\{1, \ldots, r\}$ of cardinality r - i - l. Then, as before, the image $d_m(b)$ is the class in $E_m^{i+m,j-m+1} = E_2^{i+m,j-m+1}$ of

$$\sum_{|J_m|=r-i-m} w_{J_m} \otimes \left(\sum_{j=1}^k w_j \wedge \partial c_{m-1,J_m \cup \{j\}}\right).$$

As above, the forms $\sum_{j=1}^{k} w_j \wedge \partial c_{m-1,J_m \cup \{j\}}$ are ∂ -exact and $\bar{\partial}$ -closed, so there exist forms c_{m,J_m} as in the induction hypothesis, and in particular $d_r(b) = 0$ because they are $\bar{\partial}$ -exact.

Suppose now that there is some integer N such that $\mathcal{H}^{j} = 0$ for all j < N, or more generally $E_{2}^{i,j} = H^{i}(X, \mathcal{H}^{j}) = 0$ for i + j < N. Then, by (2.8), we would have $\mathbb{H}^{m}(X, \mathcal{C}_{r,W}) = 0$ for m < N. Looking at the other spectral sequence, it must hold $E_{\infty}^{i,j} = E_{2}^{i,j} = 0$ for all i + j < N. But $E_{2}^{i,j}$ is precisely the cohomology of $H^{j}(\mathcal{C}_{r,W}) = C_{r,W}^{j}$ at the *i*-th step, so we get that $C_{r,W}^{j}$ is exact in the first N - j steps. In particular, $C_{r,W}^{0}$ would be exact in the first N steps.

Therefore, we will next try to answer the next

Question 2.2.11. Fixed N, under which hypothesis on W can we assure $H^i(X, \mathcal{H}^j) = 0$ for i + j < N?

For this purpose, we will first try to identify the sheaves \mathcal{H}^{j} . Consider the map

$$\phi: T_X = \left(\Omega^1_X\right)^{\vee} \longrightarrow W^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X$$

dual to the evaluation map $ev: W \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \to \Omega^1_X$, and denote $\mathcal{K} = \operatorname{coker}(\phi)$. For any $i = 1, \ldots, k$, let

$$Z_{i} = Z_{i}(W) = \{ p \in X \mid \operatorname{rk}(\phi(p) : T_{X} \otimes \mathbb{C}(p) \to W^{\vee}) < i \} =$$
$$= \{ p \in X \mid \operatorname{rk}(ev(p) : W \to \Omega^{1}_{X} \otimes \mathbb{C}(p)) < i \}$$

be the locus where the forms in W span a subspace of dimension $\langle i \rangle$ of the cotangent space, or where the kernel of the evaluation map has dimension greater than k - i. Clearly, \mathcal{K} is supported on Z_k , the locus where ϕ is not surjective.

Definition 2.2.12 (Non-degenerate subspace). We say that a subspace $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ is non-degenerate if

$$\operatorname{codim} Z_i \ge d - i + 1 \qquad \forall 1 \le i \le \min\{k, d\}.$$

Remark 2.2.13. We can define W to be non-degenerate in degree r if

- $\operatorname{codim} Z_k = d k + 1$ in the case $r \leq d k$, or
- $\operatorname{codim} Z_j \ge d j + 1$ for $j = \max\{1, d r + 1\}, \dots, \min\{k, d\}$ in the case $r \ge d k + 1$.

Equivalently, W is non-degenerate in degree r if ϕ satisfies the hypothesis of Theorem 2.2.9 for the fixed r. Therefore, a non-degenerate subspace is non-degenerate in every degree, but not conversely.

Although this definition is more precise and could lead to better results in some cases, we prefer the original one because of its simplicity.

The motivation of Definition 2.2.12 (or its generalization of Remark 2.2.13) is that Theorem 2.2.9 allows to identify the cohomology sheaves \mathcal{H}^i of $\mathcal{C}_{r,W}$ for non-degenerate W.

Lemma 2.2.14. Fix any $r \geq 1$, and assume that W is non-degenerate (at least in degree r). Then $\mathcal{H}^i(\mathcal{C}_{r,W}) = \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}^i_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathrm{Sym}^r \mathcal{K}, \mathcal{O}_X)$ for all $0 \leq i < r$.

Proof. Consider the *r*-th Eagon-Northcott complex $EN_r(\phi)$ associated to ϕ , whose last *r* steps look like

$$EN_r(\phi):\ldots \longrightarrow (\Omega_X^r)^{\vee} \longrightarrow (\Omega_X^{r-1})^{\vee} \otimes W^{\vee} \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow (\Omega_X^1)^{\vee} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} W^{\vee} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^r W^{\vee}$$

By Theorem 2.2.9, the non-degeneracy of W implies that $EN_r(\phi)$ is (the beginning of) a locally free resolution of $\operatorname{Sym}^r \mathcal{K}$, so we can compute

$$\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}^{\imath}_{\mathcal{O}_X}\left(\mathrm{Sym}^r\,\mathcal{K},\mathcal{O}_X\right) = \mathcal{H}^{\imath}\left(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{om}_{\mathcal{O}_X}\left(EN_r,\mathcal{O}_X\right)\right)$$

But clearly the first r steps of $\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(EN_r, \mathcal{O}_X)$ form the complex $\mathcal{C}_{r,W}$, and the claim follows.

We now focus on the case $k \leq d$, where some well-known properties of the $\mathcal{E}xt$ sheaves lead to a first result:

Theorem 2.2.15. If W is non-degenerate, then the complex

$$C_{r,W}^{j}: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{i}) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-n} W \otimes H^{j}(X, \Omega_{X}^{n})$$

is exact at least in the first d - k - j + 1 steps.

Proof. For a general coherent sheaf \mathcal{F} on X we have (see [23] Prop. 1.6.6)

$$\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}^i_{\mathcal{O}_X}\left(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{O}_X\right) = 0 \qquad \forall i < \operatorname{codim} \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{F}.$$

Since $\operatorname{Supp} \operatorname{Sym}^r \mathcal{K} = \operatorname{Supp} \mathcal{K} = Z_k$ has codimension at least d - k + 1 because W is non-degenerate, we obtain

$$\mathcal{H}^{j}(\mathcal{C}_{r,W}) = \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}^{j}_{\mathcal{O}_{X}}(\mathrm{Sym}^{r}\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{O}_{X}) = 0$$

for all $j \leq d-k$. Therefore, the second spectral sequence in (2.8) satisfies ${}^{"}E_2^{i,j} = 0$ for all i and all $j \leq d-k$. Since ${}^{"}E_2^{i,j}$ abuts to the hypercohomology of \mathcal{C}_r , this implies that $\mathbb{H}^n(X, \mathcal{C}_{r,W}) = 0$ for all $n \leq d-k$. Recalling that the first spectral sequence ${}^{'}E_1^{i,j}$ degenerates at ${}^{'}E_2$ (Proposition 2.2.10), and it also abuts to the hypercohomology of $\mathcal{C}_{r,W}$, this implies that ${}^{'}E_2^{i,j} = 0$ for all $i + j \leq d - k$. But ${}^{'}E_2^{i,j}$ is precisely the cohomology of the complex $C_{r,W}^j$ at the *i*-th step, so the claim follows.

Some examples and results of the next section suggest that the complex $C_{r,W}^{j}$ should be exact under weaker hypothesis, and even for some k > d. To obtain such a result we should study the cohomology of the sheaves $\mathcal{H}^{i} = \mathcal{E} \operatorname{xt}_{\mathcal{O}_{X}}^{i}$ (Sym^r $\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{O}_{X}$), which may vanish even if the sheaves do not. For instance, in general, the kernel of the first map of $C_{r,W}^{0}$,

$$\mu_0^0 : \operatorname{Sym}^r W \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} W \otimes H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$$

is $H^0(X, \mathcal{H}\text{om}(\text{Sym}^r \mathcal{K}, \mathcal{O}_X))$, which must always vanish because μ_0^0 is always injective. Furthermore, according to Theorem 2.3.3, $E_2^{1,0}$ vanishes for generic W and even k if X is not fibred over an Albanese general type variety of dimension at most $\frac{k}{2}$ (more generally, if X has no generalized Lagrangian form of rank $\frac{k}{2}$).

Moreover, as the following example shows, the spectral sequence ${}^{"}E_2$ is not degenerated in general. Therefore, even if the cohomologies ${}^{"}E_2^{i,j}$ of \mathcal{H}^i do not vanish, the limit groups ${}^{"}E_{\infty}^{i,j}$ might anyway vanish, so the previous Theorem is not sharp.

Example 2.2.16. Consider $C_1, C_2 \subset \mathbb{P}^2$ two smooth plane curves of degree 4 (hence of genus 3) intersecting transversely in 16 points p_1, \ldots, p_{16} , and let $X = C_1 \times C_2$ with projections $\pi_i : X \to C_i$. Fix a basis $\{\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3\}$ of $H^0(\mathbb{P}^2, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1))$ and denote by α_i and β_i its restrictions to C_1 and C_2 respectively, which can be thought as differential forms since $\omega_{C_i} \cong \mathcal{O}_{C_i}(1)$ by adjunction. Finally, let $w_i = \pi_1^* \alpha_i + \pi_2^* \beta_i \in H^0(X, \Omega_X^1)$, let $W \subset H^0(X, \Omega_X^1)$ be the vector space spanned by the w_i , and consider the case r = 2:

$$\mathcal{C}_{2,W}: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^2 W \otimes \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow W \otimes \Omega^1_X \longrightarrow \omega_X \longrightarrow 0.$$
 (2.10)

The situation is explicit enough to compute most of the objects above. An immediate computation shows that $Z_1 = \emptyset$ and $Z_2 = \{P_1, \ldots, P_{16}\}$, where $P_i = (p_i, p_i)$, so W is non-degenerate. Moreover, a complete description of the first spectral sequence ${}^{\prime}E_1$ can be carried out to find that ${}^{\prime}E_2^{i,j} = 0$ for all i, j except for ${}^{\prime}E_2^{0,2} \cong \mathbb{C}^{37}$, ${}^{\prime}E_2^{1,1} \cong \mathbb{C}^{18}$ and ${}^{\prime}E_2^{1,0} \cong \mathbb{C}^3$. This implies that $\mathbb{H}^1(X, \mathcal{C}_{2,W}) \cong \mathbb{C}^3$, $\mathbb{H}^2(X, \mathcal{C}_{2,W}) \cong \mathbb{C}^{55}$, and all the other hypercohomology groups vanish.

As for the second spectral sequence, we start computing the cohomology sheaves \mathcal{H}^i of (2.10). The last map is surjective, hence $\mathcal{H}^2 = 0$. \mathcal{H}^1 is supported on Z_2 , and the transversality of C_1 and C_2 implies that each stalk $\mathcal{H}^1_{P_i}$ is a three-dimensional vector space, so that $H^0(X, \mathcal{H}^1) \cong \mathbb{C}^{48}$ and the rest of the cohomology groups are zero. This computation is enough to show that " E_2 is not degenerate, since if it was, the group $H^0(X, \mathcal{H}^1) \cong \mathbb{C}^{48}$ would be a summand of $\mathbb{H}^1(X, \mathcal{C}_{2,W}) \cong \mathbb{C}^3$, which is clearly impossible.

Remark 2.2.17. The previous example also shows that there is no obvious relation between the exactness of the complexes $C^0_{r,W}$ and the transversality of W to the cohomological support loci $V^i(X, \omega_X)$, which in this case are $V^1 = \pi_1^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(C_1) \cup \pi_2^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(C_2)$ and $V^2 = \{\mathcal{O}_X\}$.

We now turn to the numerical consequences of Theorem 2.2.15.

Corollary 2.2.18. If X admits a non-degenerate subspace of dimension $k (\leq d)$, then

$$\sum_{i=0}^{p} (-1)^{p-i} \binom{r-i+k-1}{k-1} h^{i,j}(X) \ge 0$$
 (2.11)

for every $p \leq \min \{d - k - j + 1, r\}$. In particular

$$h^{p,j}(X) \ge \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} (-1)^{p-i-1} \binom{p-i+k-1}{k-1} h^{i,j}(X)$$

for every $p + j \leq d - k + 1$.

Proof. The first inequality is a direct consequence of Theorem 2.2.15, and the second one is the particularization to the case r = p.

And computing a little bit more we find the next (more explicit) result.

Corollary 2.2.19. If X admits a non-degenerate subspace of dimension $k \leq d$, then

$$h^{p,j}\left(X\right) \ge \binom{k}{p} h^{0,j}\left(X\right)$$

for every $p \leq k$ and $p \leq d - k - j + 1$, and therefore

$$h^{p,j}\left(X\right) \ge \binom{k}{p}\binom{k}{j}$$

if $p, j \leq k$ and $p + j \leq d - k + 1$.

Proof. It is a consequence of the identity

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\min\{A,B\}} (-1)^{B-i} \binom{A}{n} \binom{A+B-n-1}{B-n} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } B=0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} (2.12)$$

which holds for any non-negative integers A, B and can be easily proved by looking at the coefficient of x^B in the expansion of the right-hand side of

$$1 = \frac{(1+x)^{A}}{(1+x)^{A}} = \left(\sum_{n=0}^{A} \binom{A}{n} x^{n}\right) \left(\sum_{m\geq 0} (-1)^{m} \binom{A+m-1}{m} x^{m}\right).$$

Indeed, denote by $M_{p,j} = \sum_{i=0}^{p} (-1)^{p-i} {\binom{p-i+k-1}{k-1}} h^{i,j}(X)$, the right-hand side of (2.11) with r = p, and compute

$$\sum_{i=0}^{p} \binom{k}{p-i} M_{i,j} = \\ = \sum_{i=0}^{p} \binom{k}{p-i} \sum_{m=0}^{i} (-1)^{i-m} \binom{i-m+k-1}{k-1} h^{m,j}(X) = \\ = \sum_{m=0}^{p} \left(\sum_{i=m}^{p} (-1)^{i-m} \binom{k}{p-i} \binom{i-m+k-1}{i-m} \right) h^{m,j}(X) = h^{p,j}(X) ,$$

where the last equality follows from (2.12) because

$$\sum_{i=m}^{p} (-1)^{i-m} \binom{k}{p-i} \binom{i-m+k-1}{i-m} = \sum_{n=0}^{p-m} (-1)^{p-m-n} \binom{k}{n} \binom{p-n-m+k-1}{p-n-m}$$

and $p - m \le p \le k$. Therefore,

$$0 \le \sum_{i=1}^{p} \binom{k}{p-i} A_{i,j} = h^{p,j} (X) - \binom{k}{p} M_{0,j} = h^{p,j} (X) - \binom{k}{p} h^{0,j} (X),$$

as wanted. The second statement follows at once from the first statement applied to $h^{0,j}(X) = h^{j,0}(X)$.

2.2.4 Subvarieties of Abelian varieties

We now focus on subvarieties of Abelian varieties, showing that in this case generic subspaces $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ are non-degenerate (Proposition 2.2.20) and then applying the preceding results. After that, we expose a different approach by considering the case $W = H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$.

Proposition 2.2.20. Let X be a smooth subvariety of an Abelian variety A such that $V = H^0(X, \Omega_X^1) \cong H^0(A, \Omega_A^1)$. Then, for every $k = 1, \ldots, q(X)$, the non-degenerate subspaces $W \in Gr(k, V)$ form a non-empty Zariski-open subset.

Proof. Since non-degeneracy is an open condition, we only need to construct a non-degenerate subspace of any dimension k. We will proceed by induction over k.

A one-dimensional subspace $W = \mathbb{C} \langle w \rangle$ is non-degenerate if and only if codim $Z_1 \geq d$. Since $Z_1 = Z(w)$ is the set of zeroes of any generator w, Wis non-degenerate if and only if w vanishes (at most) at isolated points. To prove that generic elements $w \in V$ satisfy that, let us consider the incidence variety

$$I = \{ (x, [w]) \in X \times \mathbb{P}(V) \mid w(x) = 0 \} \subseteq X \times \mathbb{P}(V).$$

The first projection makes I into a projective bundle of fibre \mathbb{P}^{q-d-1} (where as usual, $d = \dim X$ and q = q(X)). Indeed, the fibre over any $x \in X$ is (the projectivization of) the set of 1-forms vanishing at x. Since the tangent space $T_{X,x}$ injects into $T_{A,x}$, the set of 1-forms vanishing at x is the annihilator $T_{X,x}^{\perp}$ inside $T_{A,x}^{\vee} \cong V$, which has dimension q - d. In particular, I is irreducible of dimension (q - d - 1) + d = q - 1.

Consider now the second projection $I \to \mathbb{P}(V)$. It is clear that the fibre over a point [w] is the zero set Z(w), so we want to see that a general fibre has dimension at most 0. If I dominates $\mathbb{P}(V) \cong \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$, the general fibre has dimension (q-1) - (q-1) = 0. If otherwise I does not dominate $\mathbb{P}(V)$, the general fibre is empty (that is, a generic 1-form does not vanish at any point). In any case, we are done.

For the inductive step, note first that if we have two nested subspaces $W' \subseteq W \subseteq V$, then $Z_i(W) \subseteq Z_i(W')$ for every $i = 1, \ldots, \dim W'$. Therefore, if W' is non-degenerate and $k = \dim W = \dim W' + 1$, then

 $\operatorname{codim} Z_i(W) \ge \operatorname{codim} Z_i(W') \ge d - i + 1$

for every i = 1, ..., k - 1, and W will be non-degenerate as soon as $\operatorname{codim} Z_k(W) \ge d - k + 1$.

Fix a non-degenerate subspace W' of dimension k-1 (it exists by the induction hypothesis), so that in particular codim $Z_{k-1}(W') \ge d-k+2$, and let $X' = X - Z_{k-1}(W')$ be the open set where the evaluation $W' \to T_{X,x}^{\vee}$ is injective. For any $x \in X'$ denote by $W'_x \subseteq T_{X,x}^{\vee}$ the image of the evaluation, and by $E_x \subseteq T_{X,x}$ the subspace of tangent vectors annihilated by W'_x , which has dimension dim $T_{X,x} - \dim W'_x = d - k + 1$. Consider the new incidence variety

$$I_{k} = \{(x, W) \mid x \in X', W = W' + \mathbb{C} \langle w \rangle, E_{x} \subseteq \ker w(x)\} \subseteq X' \times \mathbb{P}(V/W').$$

Note that the condition $E_x \subseteq \ker w(x)$ is independent of the choice of the complement $\mathbb{C} \langle w \rangle$ of W' in W, so I_k is well defined. As for k = 1, the first projection makes I_k into a \mathbb{P}^{q-d-1} -bundle, so I_k is irreducible of dimension q-1. Indeed, the fibre over a point $x \in X'$ is the projectivization of

$$\{ w + W' \in V/W' \mid E_x \subseteq \ker w \} =$$

= $\{ w \in V \mid E_x \subseteq \ker w \} / W' = E_x^{\perp}/W' \cong \mathbb{C}^{q-d},$

where the annihilator E_x^{\perp} is taken in V, that is, it is the kernel of the restriction map $V \twoheadrightarrow E_x^{\vee}$, the map dual to the composition of inclusions $E_x \subseteq T_{X,x} \subseteq T_{A,x} = V^{\vee}$.

As for the second projection, the fibre over $W=\mathbb{C}\left\langle w\right\rangle +W'\in\mathbb{P}\left(V/W'\right)$ is the set

$$\{x \in X' \mid E_x \subseteq \ker w (x)\} = \{x \in X' \mid w (x) \in W'_x\} = Z_k (W) \cap X' = Z_k (W) - Z_{k-1} (W'),$$

and for W generic its dimension is either zero (if the second projection is not dominant) or

$$\dim I_k - \dim \mathbb{P}(V/W') = (q-1) - (q - (k-1) - 1) = k - 1.$$

Since the dimension of $Z_{k-1}(W')$ is at most k-2, we can conclude that $\dim Z_k(W) \leq k-1$ for W generic containing W', finishing the proof. \Box

Remark 2.2.21. Note that the only property we have used is that the tangent spaces $T_{X,x}$ inject into the tangent space of the Abelian variety at every point. Therefore, the same result holds true for étale coverings of subvarieties of Abelian varieties.

Therefore we can apply Corollaries 2.2.18 and 2.2.19 for any $k \leq d$ to obtain in particular the next inequality.

Corollary 2.2.22. If X is a subvariety of an Abelian variety A such that $H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) = H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$, and $p, j \ge 0$ satisfy $\max\{p, j\} \le d + 1 - (p + j)$, then

$$h^{p,j}(X) \ge \binom{d+1-(p+j)}{p} \binom{d+1-(p+j)}{j}.$$

If X is a subvariety of an Abelian variety A such that the restriction induces an equality $H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) = H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$ as in the hypothesis of Proposition 2.2.20, it is also useful to consider the extremal case k = q, that is, $W = H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ is the whole space of holomorphic 1-forms. In this case, the cokernel \mathcal{K} of the previous section is simply the normal bundle $N_{X/A}$. Since it is a vector bundle, so is $\operatorname{Sym}^r \mathcal{K}$, and hence $\operatorname{Ext}^i_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\operatorname{Sym}^r \mathcal{K}, \mathcal{O}_X) = 0$ for every i > 0. Therefore, the second spectral sequence "E is degenerate at "E₂, and its only possibly non-zero terms are "E₂^{i,0} = Hⁱ(X, \operatorname{Sym}^r N_{X/A}^{\vee}). This leads to the following

Proposition 2.2.23. Let $X \subseteq A$ be a subvariety of an Abelian variety such that $H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) = H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$. If for some positive integers r, N the normal bundle $N_{X/A}$ satisfies $H^i(X, \operatorname{Sym}^r N^{\vee}_{X/A}) = 0$ for all i < N, then for every j < N the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r} H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{1}\right)\right) \otimes H^{j}\left(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}\right) \longrightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \rightarrow \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r-i} H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{1}\right)\right) \otimes H^{j}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{i}\right) \rightarrow \cdots$$
$$\cdots \rightarrow \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r-N+j} H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{1}\right)\right) \otimes H^{j}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{N-j}\right)$$

is exact.

Proof. Let $V = H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$. By the previous discussion, since $\operatorname{Sym}^r N_{X/A}$ is locally free, the spectral sequence

$${}^{"}E_{2}^{i,j} = H^{i}\left(X, \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{\mathcal{O}_{X}}^{j}\left(\mathrm{Sym}^{r} N_{X/A}, \mathcal{O}_{X}\right)\right) \Rightarrow \mathbb{H}^{n}\left(X, \mathcal{C}_{r, V}\right)$$

is degenerate and gives $\mathbb{H}^i(X, \mathcal{C}_{r,V}) = H^i(X, \operatorname{Sym}^r N_{X/A}^{\vee}) = 0$ for any i < N. These vanishings, combined with Proposition 2.2.10, imply the vanishing of $E_2^{i,j}$ for all i + j < N. Recalling that $E_2^{i,j}$ is the cohomology of $C_{r,V}^j$ at the *i*-th step, the claim follows directly. \Box

Corollary 2.2.24. If X, r and N are as in the above Proposition, then

$$\sum_{i=0}^{p} (-1)^{p-i} \binom{r-i+q(X)-1}{q(X)-1} h^{i,j}(X) \ge 0$$
 (2.13)

for all $p \leq N$.

The main drawback of Proposition 2.2.23 is the difficulty to check the vanishing of $H^i\left(X, \operatorname{Sym}^r N^{\vee}_{X/A}\right)$.

Example 2.2.25. Let $D_1, \ldots, D_c \subseteq A$ be ample divisors on an Abelian variety such that the partial intersections $X_i = D_1 \cap \ldots \cap D_i$ are smooth, and let $X = X_c$. Then $H^i(X, \operatorname{Sym}^r N_{X/A}^{\vee}) = 0$ for every positive r and $i < \dim X = q(A) - c$, and X satisfies with equality all except one (the case $p = \dim X$) of the inequalities of Corollary 2.2.24.

In fact, using a double induction (both on c and r) it is possible to show more generally that

$$H^{i}\left(X,\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r}N_{X/A}^{\vee}\right)\left(-D\right)\right)=0$$

for any positive r and $i < \dim X$, where D is either zero or an ample divisor on A. For the induction step one only needs to take cohomology on the exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r} N_{Y/A|X}^{\vee}\right)(-D) \longrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r} N_{X/A}^{\vee}\right)(-D) \longrightarrow \\ \longrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r-1} N_{X/A}^{\vee}\right)(-D_{c}-D) \longrightarrow 0$$

and

$$0 \longrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r} N_{Y/A}^{\vee}\right) \left(-D_{c} - D\right) \longrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r} N_{Y/A}^{\vee}\right) \left(-D\right) \longrightarrow \\ \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{r} N_{Y/A|X}^{\vee} \longrightarrow 0,$$

where $Y = X_{c-1}$.

On the other hand, also by induction on c, combining the cohomologies of the exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega^i_X \longrightarrow \Omega^i_{Y|X} \longrightarrow \Omega^{i-1}_X (-D_c) \longrightarrow 0$$

and

$$0 \longrightarrow \Omega^i_Y \left(-D_c \right) \longrightarrow \Omega^i_Y \longrightarrow \Omega^i_{Y|X} \longrightarrow 0$$

with the Kodaira-Nakano vanishing theorem, one obtains

$$h^{i,j}(X) = h^{i,j}(A) = \binom{q(A)}{i} \binom{q(A)}{j}$$

as long as $i + j < \dim X$. Substituting these values in the left-hand side of (2.13) one obtains 0 (after applying the identity (2.12)).

2.3 IMPROVED BOUNDS FOR $h^{2,0}\left(X ight)$

In this section we consider the Grassmannian BGG complex

$$C_2^0: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^2 S \longrightarrow S \otimes H^0\left(X, \Omega_X^1\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}} \otimes H^0\left(X, \Omega_X^2\right) \qquad (2.14)$$

over a Grasmannian variety of even-dimensional subspaces of $H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$, and use it to obtain lower bounds on $h^{2,0}(X)$. In particular we improve the results of the previous sections for varieties without higher irrational pencils, improving some results of Lazarsfeld and Popa [27] and Lombardi [28] for threefolds and fourfolds.

The main result is Theorem 2.3.3, which shows that the exactness of (2.14) at a general point is related to the existence of bivectors of small rank in the kernel of $\psi_2 : \bigwedge^2 H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) \to H^0(X, \Omega^2_X)$. We start defining such notion.

Definition 2.3.1. Let V be any vector space. An element $v \in \bigwedge^2 V$ is said to have rank 2k if it can be written as

$$v = v_1 \wedge v_2 + \dots + v_{2k-1} \wedge v_{2k}$$

for some linearly independent elements $v_1, \ldots, v_{2k} \in V$.

Remark 2.3.2. If we represent v as an antisymmetric $q \times q$ matrix A with respect to some fixed basis of V, then the rank of v coincides with the rank of A (which is always even). In particular, any element $v \in \bigwedge^2 V$ has rank at most q, and the elements of rank 2 are precisely the (non-zero) decomposable elements. More generally, the set of bivectors of rank at most 2m is the cone over $\operatorname{Sec}^m(Gr(2,V)) \subseteq \mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^2 V)$.

We present now our main result.

Theorem 2.3.3. Fix a positive integer $k \leq \frac{q}{2}$. If every non-zero element in ker ψ_2 has rank bigger than 2k, then the complex (2.14) on \mathbb{G}_{2k} is generically exact.

Proof. Set $V = H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$. By the previous remark, the hypothesis is equivalent to $\mathbb{P}(\ker \psi_2) \cap \operatorname{Sec}^k(\mathbb{G}_2) = \emptyset$. In this case, the rational map $\pi = \mathbb{P}(\psi_2) : \mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^2 V) \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}(H^0(X, \Omega^2_X))$ restricts to a *morphism*

 $\pi_{k} = \pi_{|\operatorname{Sec}^{k}(\mathbb{G}_{2})} : \operatorname{Sec}^{k}(\mathbb{G}_{2}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}\left(H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{2}\right)\right)$

which is finite onto its image. Indeed, if it is not the case, then there exists a curve $C \subseteq \operatorname{Sec}^{k}(\mathbb{G}_{2})$ such that $\pi(C) = p$ is just a point. Such a curve is thus contained in the linear space $\pi^{-1}(p)$, which contains $\mathbb{P}(\ker \psi_2)$ as a hyperplane, and hence C should intersect it, contradicting the fact that π_k is defined everywhere in $\operatorname{Sec}^k(\mathbb{G}_2)$.

Now suppose that the complex (2.14) is not exact at a point $W \in \mathbb{G}_{2k}$, i.e. the complex of vector spaces

$$C^{0}_{2,W}: 0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{2} W \xrightarrow{\mu^{0}_{0}} W \otimes H^{0}\left(X, \Omega^{1}_{X}\right) \xrightarrow{\mu^{0}_{1}} H^{0}\left(X, \Omega^{2}_{X}\right) \qquad (2.15)$$

is not exact. Fix $\{w_1, \ldots, w_{2k}\}$ any base of W. Since

$$\mu_0^0\left(w_iw_j\right) = w_i \otimes w_j + w_j \otimes w_i$$

for every i, j, and the elements $\{w_i \otimes w_j\}_{i,j=1}^{2k}$ are linearly independent in $W \otimes H^0(X, \Omega^1_X), \mu^0_0$ is clearly injective, identifying $\operatorname{Sym}^2 W$ with the subspace of $W \otimes H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ spanned by

$$\{w_i \otimes w_i\}_{1 \le i \le k} \cup \{w_i \otimes w_j + w_j \otimes w_i\}_{1 \le i < j \le k}.$$

Therefore, the lack of exactness of (2.15) must come from the central term, that is, there exist some 1-forms $\alpha_1 \ldots \alpha_{2k} \in H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^{2k} w_i \otimes \alpha_i \notin \operatorname{im} \mu^0_0$ but

$$\mu_1^0\left(\sum_{i=1}^{2k} w_i \otimes \alpha_i\right) = \psi_2\left(\sum_{i=1}^{2k} w_i \wedge \alpha_i\right) = 0.$$

By substracting a suitable element from μ_0^0 (Sym² W), we can assume furthermore that $\alpha_i \notin \mathbb{C} \langle w_1, \ldots, w_i \rangle$ for every *i*. In particular, we may assume that $\alpha_{2k} \notin W$.

Consider now the arc of curve $C \subseteq \operatorname{Sec}^{k}(\mathbb{G}_{2})$ parametrized by

$$\gamma(t) = [(w_1 - t\alpha_2) \land (w_2 + t\alpha_1) + \dots + (w_{2k-1} - t\alpha_{2k}) \land (w_{2k} + t\alpha_{2k-1})],$$

with t varying in an open neighbourhood of $0 \in \mathbb{C}$. Let

$$p = \gamma(0) = [w_1 \wedge w_2 + \ldots + w_{2k-1} \wedge w_{2k}].$$

The tangent vector to C at p (to the branch of C given by the image of a neighbourhood of t = 0) is the class of

$$v = \sum_{i=1}^{2k} w_i \wedge \alpha_i$$

in $T_{\mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^2 V),p} = (\bigwedge^2 V) / \mathbb{C} \langle w_1 \wedge w_2 + \ldots + w_{2k-1} \wedge w_{2k} \rangle$. Since $\alpha_{2k} \notin W$, this class is clearly non zero. However, its image by the differential or π_k is precisely the class of

$$\psi_2\left(\sum_{i=1}^{2k} w_i \wedge \alpha_i\right) = 0$$

in $T_{\mathbb{P}(H^0(X,\Omega_X^2)),\pi(p)} = H^0(X,\Omega_X^2)/\mathbb{C} \langle \psi_2(w_1 \wedge w_2 + \ldots + w_{2k-1} \wedge w_{2k}) \rangle$, so π_k is ramified at p. Since the general point of $\mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^2 W)$ is of the form $[w_1 \wedge w_2 + \ldots + w_{2k-1} \wedge w_{2k}]$ for some basis of W, we see that π_k ramifies at every point in $\mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^2 W)$.

To finish the proof, note that $\operatorname{Sec}^{k}(\mathbb{G}_{2})$ is the union of all the $\mathbb{P}(\bigwedge^{2} W)$ as W varies in \mathbb{G}_{2k} , so if (2.14) were not exact for a general (and hence for any) $W \in \mathbb{G}_{2k}$, then π_{k} would be ramified all over $\operatorname{Sec}^{k}(\mathbb{G}_{2})$, contradicting the fact that it is finite.

Now an easy dimension count gives our inequality.

Corollary 2.3.4. If there is no non-zero element of rank $2k \leq q$ in ker ψ_2 , then

$$h^{2,0}(X) \ge 2rq - \binom{2r+1}{2}$$

for all $1 \leq r \leq k$.

Proof. By Theorem 2.3.3, for every $1 \le r \le k$, the complex (2.14) over any $\mathbb{G} = \mathbb{G}_{2r}$ is generically exact. Let $W \in \mathbb{G}_{2r}$ be such that

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^2 W \longrightarrow W \otimes H^0\left(X, \Omega^1_X\right) \longrightarrow H^0\left(X, \Omega^2_X\right)$$

is exact. The cokernel of the last map has dimension

$$\dim H^0\left(X, \Omega_X^2\right) - \dim\left(W \otimes H^0\left(X, \Omega_X^1\right)\right) + \dim\left(\operatorname{Sym}^2 W\right) = h^{2,0}\left(X\right) - 2rq + \binom{2r+1}{2},$$

which must be non-negative, giving the desired inequality.

Remark 2.3.5. The case k = 1 is the classical Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality. The case k = 2 has been already considered in [2] and [27], where the same inequality is obtained.

Remark 2.3.6. From the proof of Theorem 2.3.3 we deduce that $C_{2,W}^0$ is exact (where dim W = 2k) if and only if the image of $\bigwedge^2 W$ by ψ_2 is not contained in the ramification locus of

$$\mathbb{P}(\psi_2)_{|\operatorname{Sec}^k(\mathbb{G}_2)} : \operatorname{Sec}^k(\mathbb{G}_2) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}\left(H^0\left(X, \Omega_X^2\right)\right).$$
The existence of low-rank elements in the kernel of ψ_2 can be related to the existence of higher irrational pencils on X, and this will give us a more geometric hypothesis to apply Corollary 2.3.4.

Lemma 2.3.7. If $v \in \ker \psi_2$ has rank 2k > 0, k < d, then there exists a higher irrational pencil $f : X \to Y$ with dim $Y \leq k$.

Proof. The proof relies on Theorem 1.2.3. By this theorem, it suffices to find a decomposable element $v_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge v_{k+1}$ in the kernel of ψ_{k+1} . Writing $v = v_1 \wedge v_2 + \ldots + v_{2k-1} \wedge v_{2k}$ with the v_i linearly independent, it is immediate that the element $v_1 \wedge v_3 \wedge \ldots \wedge v_{2k-1} \wedge v_{2k}$, obtained by wedging v with $v_1 \wedge v_3 \wedge \ldots \wedge v_{2k-3}$, maps to zero by ψ_{k+1} because $\psi_2(v) = 0$.

We immediately obtain the next

Corollary 2.3.8. If X does not admit any irrational pencil, then

$$h^{2,0}\left(X\right) \ge 2rq - \binom{2r+1}{2}$$

for all $1 \le r \le \min\left\{\frac{q}{2}, \dim X - 1\right\}$.

Proof. Simply observe that Lemma 2.3.7 allows us to apply Corollary 2.3.4 for any $k \leq \dim X - 1$.

And taking the maximum over all the possible r, we get the final result.

Theorem 2.3.9. Let X be an irregular variety without higher irrational pencils. Then it holds

$$h^{2,0}(X) \ge \begin{cases} \binom{q(X)}{2} & \text{if } q(X) \le 2 \dim X - 1\\ 2 (\dim X - 1) q(X) - \binom{2 \dim X - 1}{2} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$(2.16)$$

Remark 2.3.10. The inequality in the case $q \leq 2d - 1$ was already obtained by Causin and Pirola in [10], while the case $q \geq 2d$ is new for high dimension (although for d = 2 it is nothing but the classical Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality for surfaces without irrational pencils, and for d = 3 it coincides with a bound given in [27]). Furthermore, it says that for fixed dimension and big irregularity, $h^{2,0}$ behaves asymptotically at least as 2(d-1)q. For threefolds, this bound coincides with the one proven (with slightly more restrictive hypothesis) by Lombardi in [28], but improves his results in dimension four.

2.4 Comparison of the two methods

In this final section we compare the results of Sections 2.2 and 2.3. After a first insight, we make a break to talk about computation of Chern classes of symmetric powers of vector bundles. Finally, we compute some explicit cases and check whether the first intuition was right or not.

2.4.1 A first (naive) approach

In the previous section we proved (Theorem 2.3.3) that if X does not admit any higher irrational pencil, then the complex

$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Sym}^{2} W \longrightarrow W \otimes H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{1}\right) \longrightarrow H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{2}\right)$$
(2.17)

is exact for a generic even-dimensional subspace $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$, of dimension dim $W = 2k' < 2 \dim X$, and this exactness gives the inequalities (Corollary 2.3.8)

$$h^{2,0}(X) \ge 2k'q(X) - \binom{2k'+1}{2} \quad \forall k' < d.$$
 (2.18)

Using Theorem 2.2.15 for the case r = 2, j = 0, one only obtains the exactness of (2.17) if W is non-degenerate of dimension $k \leq d - 1$.

The first thing we would like to mention is that the hypothesis used in the two sections are quite different. Indeed, if the Albanese map of the variety is ramified, there is no obvious relation between existence of nondegenerate subspaces and the non-existence of fibrations over varieties of Albanese general type.

As for the inequalities, if $q(X) \ge 2 \dim X$, the best inequality of (2.18) is obtained for k' = d-1, hence k = 2d-2. Such an inequality is impossible to obtain with Theorem 2.2.15, since it requires $k \le d-1$, which is very far away from k = 2d-2.

However, it seems possible to obtain a better bound with stronger hypothesis. Suppose that Theorem 2.2.15 holds for r = 2, j = 0 and every $W \in \mathbb{G} = Gr(k, H^0(X, \Omega^1_X))$ for some $k \leq d - 1$. In this case, the Grassmannian BGG complex on \mathbb{G}

$$0 \to \operatorname{Sym}^2 S \to S \otimes H^0\left(X, \Omega^1_X\right) \to H^0\left(X, \Omega^2_X\right) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}} \to \mathcal{F}^0_{2,2} \to 0 \quad (2.19)$$

is everywhere exact, so the cokernel $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_{2,2}^0$ is also a vector bundle. If we were able to compute the (total) Chern class of \mathcal{F} , $c(\mathcal{F})$, we would obtain estimates on $\mathrm{rk} \,\mathcal{F}$ which in turn will give lower bounds on

$$h^{0,2}(X) = \operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{F}) + kq - \binom{k+1}{2}.$$

Suppose for a moment that the Chern class of degree dim $\mathbb{G} = k(q-k)$ of \mathcal{F} was non-zero. This would imply that \mathcal{F} has rank at least k(q-k), and therefore

$$h^{2,0}(X) \ge k(q-k) + kq - \binom{k+1}{2} = 2kq - \binom{k+1}{2}, \quad (2.20)$$

which has the same asymptotic behaviour as (2.16). Furthermore, since $k^2 + {\binom{k+1}{2}} < {\binom{2k+1}{2}}$, we would obtain a slightly stronger bound. The problem is now reduced to compute the Chern class

$$c\left(\mathcal{F}\right) = \frac{c\left(H^{0}\left(X,\Omega_{X}^{2}\right)\otimes\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}}\right)c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}S\right)}{c\left(S\otimes H^{0}\left(X,\Omega_{X}^{1}\right)\right)} = c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{q}, \quad (2.21)$$

(since $c(S)^{-1} = c(Q)$), which turns out to be very complicated in general. Indeed, although the power $c(Q)^q$ is easy to describe in terms of the Schubert classes of G, the formula for the Chern class of a symmetric power of some vector bundle E depends on the rank of E, and we do not know of any explicit computation even in the (rather concrete) case of tautological bundles over a Grassmannian.

In Appendix A.2 we will compute the Chern classes $c_i(\mathcal{F})$ for some low values of k and q. Unfortunately, the maximal Chern class vanishes in all these cases, so the bound (2.20) is not true at all. However, we will observe the particularly surprising fact that the lower bounds for $h^{2,0}(X)$ obtained by this new method coincide with (2.18) with k' = k.

2.4.2Chern Classes of Symmetric Powers

We make now a break to say a few words about symmetric powers of a vector bundle, and more precisely, about the computation of their Chern classes from the Chern classes of the original bundle. Hence, let M denote any complex manifold, and E a vector bundle on M of rank $k = \operatorname{rk} E$ with Chern classes $c_i = c_i(E)$. The problem we are concerned with is to find the universal formulas $P_i(k, r, c_1, \ldots, c_k, \ldots)$ such that

$$c_i\left(\operatorname{Sym}^r E\right) = P_i\left(\operatorname{rk} E, r, c_1, c_2, \ldots\right).$$

For fixed rank k and exponent r, it is easy (though very tedious) to obtain the explicit formulas. Indeed, one only has to express a symmetric polynomial in k variables as a polynomial in the elemenatory symmetric polynomials, and there are plenty of software packages that can help with this computation. However, we would like to have general formulas valid for (at least) arbitrary k, and it is very desirable to have results also for arbitrary r. Unfortunately, we have not find any such results in the literature, probably because the hidden combinatorics is very complicated. In order to illustrate the difficulty of the general computation, we include a proof of the simplest case.

Proposition 2.4.1. For any $r \ge 1$ and any vector bundle E it holds

$$c_1 \left(\operatorname{Sym}^r E \right) = \binom{\operatorname{rk} E + r - 1}{r - 1} c_1 \left(E \right)$$

that is, $P_1 = {\binom{\operatorname{rk} E + r - 1}{r-1}} c_1.$

Proof. By the splitting principle, we know that if the total Chern class of E is $c(E) = \prod_{i=1}^{k} (1 + x_i)$, the Chern class of $\operatorname{Sym}^r E$ is

$$c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r} E\right) = \prod_{1 \le i_{1} \le \dots \le i_{r} \le k} \left(1 + \sum_{j=1}^{r} x_{i_{j}}\right)$$

Therefore, taking the parts of degree 1 we obtain

$$c_1\left(\operatorname{Sym}^r E\right) = \sum_{1 \le i_1 \le \dots \le i_r \le k} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r x_{i_j}\right),$$

which is clearly a symmetric polynomial in the x_1, \ldots, x_k , hence it is a multiple of the elementary symmetric polynomial $x_1 + \cdots + x_k = c_1(E)$. To find the scalar A such that

$$\sum_{1 \le i_1 \le \dots \le i_r \le k} \left(\sum_{j=1}^r x_{i_j} \right) = A \left(x_1 + \dots + x_k \right)$$

one only has to find the sum of all the coefficients of the x_i . That of the right-hand side is clearly kA, while the sum of the coefficients of the left-hand side is r times the number of summands, which is $\binom{k+r-1}{k-1}$. Hence we have

$$A = \frac{r}{k} \binom{k+r-1}{k-1} = \binom{k+r-1}{k},$$

as claimed.

The approach of the preceding proof does not work so easily for higher Chern classes. For example, only for c_2 one would have

$$c_{2} \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{r} E \right) = \sum_{I \neq J} \left(\sum_{i \in I} x_{i} \right) \left(\sum_{j \in J} x_{j} \right) =$$
$$= A \left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} x_{i} \right)^{2} + B \left(\sum_{i < j} x_{i} x_{j} \right) = Ac_{1}^{2} + Bc_{2}, \quad (2.22)$$

where I and J denote multisets of size r with elements in $\{1, \ldots, k\}$.

The sum of the coefficients of the first term of the second row of (2.22) is $k^2A + \binom{k}{2}B$, which must equal r^2 (the sum of the coefficients of each summand in the first row) times the number of couples of multiindices $\{I \neq J\}$. That is,

$$k^{2}A + \binom{k}{2}B = r^{2}\binom{\binom{k+r-1}{r}}{2},$$
(2.23)

which is not enough to determine A and B, and we have not found any other easy equality involving A, B, r and k.

However, we do not really need such general formulas, since we are only concerned with the cases r = 2 and r = 3 (the latter will be useful at the very end of the chapter). Fixing r, the size of the multisets I, J, does actually simplify the underlying combinatorial problem (although we still have an arbitrary number k of indeterminates). Indeed, let us continue the last computation with r = 2.

Proposition 2.4.2. For any vector bundle E of rank k it holds

$$c_2 \left(\text{Sym}^2 E \right) = \frac{(k+2)(k-1)}{2} c_1 (E)^2 + (k+2) c_2 (E).$$

Proof. We first rewrite (2.22) as

$$c_2(\operatorname{Sym}^r E) = Ac_1^2 + Bc_2 = A\left(\sum_{i=1}^k x_i^2\right) + (2A + B)\left(\sum_{i < j} x_i x_j\right).$$

Since we are considering r = 2, the multisets of indices are of the form $I = \{1 \le i_1 \le i_2 \le k\}, J = \{1 \le j_1 \le j_2 \le k\}.$

Let us first compute A as the number of times the monomial x_1^2 appears in

$$\sum_{I \neq J} \left(\sum_{i \in I} x_i \right) \left(\sum_{j \in J} x_j \right).$$
(2.24)

Hence we must consider all multiindices containing at least one 1, and take into account the multiplicity of the 1.

- The first case is $I = J = \{1 \le 1\}$, which must be discarded because we need $I \ne J$.
- The second case is $I = \{1 \le 1\}$ and $J = \{1 \le j\}$ with j > 1. In this case the summands are

$$\left(\sum_{i\in I} x_i\right) \left(\sum_{j\in J} x_j\right) = 2x_1 \left(x_1 + x_j\right),$$

hence each one contributes with 2 monomials x_1^2 , and there are k-1 of them (as many as indices j satisfying $1 < j \leq k$). Therefore, the total contribution is 2(k-1).

• The last case is $I = \{1 \le i\}$ and $J = \{1 \le j\}$ with 1 < i < j. Each summand contributes with exactly one x_1^2 , and there are $\binom{k-1}{2}$ of them.

Hence, adding up all the contributions, we finally obtain

70

$$A = 2(k-1) + \binom{k-1}{2} = \frac{(k+2)(k-1)}{2},$$

We can now compute B with equation (2.23), but we want to expose an explicit computation (requiring much more subcases than the case of A) which gives an idea on how the code in Appendix A.1 works. We first calculate 2A + B as the number of times x_1x_2 appears in (2.24):

- $I = \{1 \le 1\}, J = \{1 \le 2\}$. There is only one summand contributing with 2 monomials.
- $I = \{1 \le 1\}, J = \{2 \le 2\}$. There is only one summand contributing with 4 monomials.
- $I = \{1 \le 1\}, J = \{2 \le j\}$ with j > 2. There are k 2 summands, each contributing with 2 monomials. Hence the total contribution is 2(k-2).
- $I = \{1 \le 2\}, J = \{1 \le j\}$ with j > 2. There are k-2 such summands, each contributing with one monomial. Total: k-2.
- $I = \{1 \le 2\}, J = \{2 \le 2\}$. Only one summand contributing with 2 monomials.
- $I = \{1 \le 2\}, J = \{2 \le j\}$ with j > 2. There are k 2 summands, each contributing with one monomial.
- $I = \{1 \le i\}, J = \{2 \le 2\}$ with i > 2. There are k 2 summands, each contributing with 2 monomials.
- $I = \{1 \le i\}, J = \{2 \le j\}$ with i, j > 2. There are $(k-2)^2$ such summands, each contributing with only one monomial.

Adding up all the contributions, we obtain

$$2A + B = (k - 2)^{2} + 6(k - 2) + 8 = k^{2} + 2k.$$

Hence B = k + 2 and the proof is done.

It is clear from the previous proof that the computations become more and more complicated when the exponent r or the degree i of the Chern class grow. With the help of a computer program in Singular (see Appendix A.1) we have computed the smallest cases:

Proposition 2.4.3. Let E be a vector bundle of rank k. Then the following formulas hold

$$c_{1} (\text{Sym}^{2} E) = (k+1) c_{1} (E)$$

$$c_{2} (\text{Sym}^{2} E) = \frac{(k+2) (k-1)}{2} c_{1} (E)^{2} + (k+2) c_{2} (E)$$

$$c_{3} (\text{Sym}^{2} E) = \frac{(k+3) (k-1) (k-2)}{6} c_{1} (E)^{3} + (k^{2} + 2k - 4) c_{1} (E) c_{2} (E) + (k+4) c_{3} (E)$$

$$c_{1} (\text{Sym}^{3} E) = \binom{k+2}{2} c_{1} (E)$$

$$c_{2} (\text{Sym}^{3} E) = \frac{(k+2) (k-1) (k^{2} + 5k + 8)}{8} c_{1} (E)^{2} + \binom{k+3}{2} c_{2} (E)$$

$$c_{3} (\text{Sym}^{3} E) = \frac{(k-1) (k^{5} + 10k^{4} + 37k^{3} + 40k^{2} - 84k - 192)}{48} c_{1} (E)^{3} + \frac{(k+3) (k^{3} + 5k^{2} + 6k - 16)}{4} c_{1} (E) c_{2} (E) + \frac{(k+3) (k+6)}{2} c_{3} (E)$$

2.4.3 Bounds from non-vanishing of Chern classes

We go now back to the specific case of (2.21). The computation is carried out in the cohomology of the Grassmannian variety $\mathbb{G} = Gr(k,q)$ of kdimensional subspaces of $V = H^0(X, \Omega^1_X) \cong \mathbb{C}^q$. Fixed a basis $\{v_1, \ldots, v_q\}$ of V and given a non-increasing sequence $\lambda = (q - k \ge \lambda_1 \ge \cdots \ge \lambda_k \ge 0)$, the set

$$\Sigma_{\lambda} = \{ W \in \mathbb{G} \mid \dim \left(W \cap \mathbb{C} \left\langle v_1, \dots, v_{q-k+i-\lambda_i} \right\rangle \right) \ge i \}$$

is a closed cycle of (real) codimension $2\sum_i \lambda_i = 2 |\lambda|$, called the *Schubert* cycle associated to λ and the chosen basis.

Let $\sigma_{\lambda} \in H^{2|\lambda|}(\mathbb{G}, \mathbb{C})$ denote its cohomology class, which is independent of the choice of the basis. Then it is known (see for instance [20] pp. 410– 411) that

$$c(S) = 1 - \sigma_1 + \sigma_{1,1} - \dots + (-1)^k \sigma_{1,\dots,1}_{k}$$

and

$$c(Q) = 1 + \sigma_1 + \sigma_2 + \dots + \sigma_{q-k}.$$

Since we do not know a closed formula for every c_i (Sym² S), we cannot compute the total Chern class c (Sym² S) unless we fix $k = \operatorname{rk} S$. Moreover, although it is possible to give a quite explicit expression of the power c (Q)^q as a linear combination of Schubert classes valid for any q, we have not found a way to carry out the product c (Sym² S) c (Q)^q and look for which coefficients vanish and which ones do not.

Therefore, we have been forced to make explicit computations fixing both k = 2, 3, 4 and q = k + 1, ..., 12, the complete results of which are included in Appendix A.2. From these computations, it is clear that the Chern classes of \mathcal{F} of highest degree vanish, hence the bounds (2.20) are out of reach with this last method. Furthermore, there is some pattern in the Schubert classes whose coefficient is non-zero, which leads us to formulate the following

Conjecture 2.4.4. Let $\mu = (q - k - 1, q - k - 2, q - k - 3, ..., q - 2k)$ (or (q - k - 1, q - k - 2, ..., 1, 0, ...) if q < 2k). The coefficient in $c(\mathcal{F})$ of the Schubert class σ_{λ} is zero for every λ not contained¹ in μ , while the coefficient of σ_{μ} is non-zero.

The computations in Appendix A.2 prove this Conjecture for small k and q, but we do not know of any method to prove it for all the possible values.

Proposition 2.4.5. If the Grassmannian BGG complex (2.19) of an irregular variety X is everywhere exact and Conjecture 2.4.4 holds, then

$$h^{2,0}(X) \ge \begin{cases} \binom{q}{2} & \text{if } q \le 2k, \\ 2kq - \binom{2k+1}{2} & \text{if } q \ge 2k. \end{cases}$$

Proof. Computing the codimension of σ_{μ} we obtain

$$\operatorname{rk}\left(\mathcal{F}\right) \geq \begin{cases} \binom{q-k}{2} & \text{if } q \leq 2k, \\ \frac{k(2q-3k-1)}{2} & \text{if } q \geq 2k \end{cases}$$

and adding it to $kq - \binom{k+1}{2}$ we obtain precisely the bound

$$h^{2,0} \ge \begin{cases} \binom{q}{2} & \text{if } q \le 2k, \\ 2kq - \binom{2k+1}{2} & \text{if } q \ge 2k. \end{cases}$$

¹We say that a partition $(\lambda_1 \ge \ldots \ge \lambda_k)$ is contained in $(\mu_1 \ge \ldots \ge \mu_k)$ if $\lambda_i \le \mu_i$ for all *i*.

Remark 2.4.6. The above bound is exactly the lower bound of Theorem 2.3.9, but obtained in a very different way.

2.4.4 Bounds from positivity of Chern Classes

We close both this section and the chapter exploring a different approach to obtain inequalities among the Hodge numbers of certain irregular varieties. Although the method can be used with any of the complexes C_r^j , we will focus on the case C_3^0 , since it leads to more inequalities involving $h = h^{2,0}$ and q which we can compare with the previous ones.

Consider thus the complex C_3^0 over the Grasmannian \mathbb{G}_k for some k,

$$C_{3}^{0}: \quad 0 \to \operatorname{Sym}^{3} S \to \operatorname{Sym}^{2} S \otimes H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{1}\right) \to \\ \to S \otimes H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{2}\right) \to H^{0}\left(X, \Omega_{X}^{3}\right) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}} \to \mathcal{G} = \mathcal{F}_{3,3}^{0} \to 0, \quad (2.25)$$

and assume that it is exact as a sequence of *sheaves* on \mathbb{G} . As in the previous discussion, we do not know of better (geometric) hypothesis to be put directly on the variety X and guaranteeing the exactness of (2.25) (in the flavor of Theorem 1.4.2).

Since \mathcal{G} is generated by global sections (it is a quotient of a trivial bundle), all its Chern classes must be represented by effective cycles, and this gives some inequalities involving h, q and k (the rank of S).

Without using the global generation, one can truncate the complex after $S \otimes H^0(X, \Omega_X^2)$ and use that the cokernel must have non-negative rank. This gives

$$kh - \binom{k+1}{2}q + \binom{k+2}{3} \ge 0,$$

or equivalently

$$h \ge \frac{1}{k} \left(q \binom{k+1}{2} - \binom{k+2}{3} \right) = \frac{k+1}{2} q - \frac{(k+2)(k+1)}{6}.$$
 (2.26)

This inequality is better than $h \ge kq - \binom{k+1}{2}$ (the one obtained from the exactness of some $C_{2,W}^0$) if and only if $q < \frac{2}{3}(k+1)$. Since $k \le q$ by definition, $q < \frac{2}{3}(k+1)$ implies 3k < 2k+2 and hence k < 2. Furthermore, for k = 1, (2.26) is equivalent to $h \ge kq - \binom{k+1}{2} = q - 1$, so we do not get any improvement by considering only the ranks.

In order to use the global generation, we compute the lower terms of

$$c\left(\mathcal{G}\right) = \frac{c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2} S\right)^{q}}{c\left(S\right)^{h} c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{3} S\right)}.$$

Writing $A_i = c_i(\operatorname{Sym}^2 S)$, $B_i = c_i(\operatorname{Sym}^3 S)$, and denoting by D_i the component in $H^i(\mathbb{G}, \mathbb{C})$ of $c_i(\operatorname{Sym}^3 S)^{-1}$, we have

$$c(Q) = 1 + \sigma_1 + \sigma_2 + \sigma_3 + \cdots$$

$$c(\text{Sym}^2 S) = 1 + A_1 + A_2 + A_3 + \cdots$$

$$c(\text{Sym}^3 S) = 1 + B_1 + B_2 + B_3 + \cdots$$

$$c(\text{Sym}^3 S)^{-1} = 1 + D_1 + D_2 + D_3 + \cdots$$

and

$$c(\mathcal{G}) = (1 + \sigma_1 + \sigma_2 + \cdots)^h (1 + A_1 + A_2 + \cdots)^q (1 + D_1 + D_2 + \cdots).$$
(2.27)

From the identity $(1 + B_1 + B_2 + B_3 + \cdots)(1 + D_1 + D_2 + D_3 + \cdots) = 1$ we can recover recursively the D_i from the B_i as

$$D_i = -B_i - B_{i-1}D_1 - B_{i-2}D_2 - \dots - B_1D_{i-1} \qquad \forall i \ge 1.$$

Denote also by $a_{\lambda}, b_{\lambda}, d_{\lambda}, g_{\lambda} \in \mathbb{Q}[k]$ the coefficients of the Schubert class σ_{λ} in $c(\operatorname{Sym}^2 S), c(\operatorname{Sym}^3 S), c(\operatorname{Sym}^3 S)^{-1}$ and $c(\mathcal{G})$, respectively. Then, the family of inequalities we want to describe as explicitly as possible is $\{g_{\lambda} \geq 0\}$.

Inequality from $c_1(\mathcal{G}) \geq 0$

From the formula (2.27) we obtain

$$c_1(\mathcal{G}) = h\sigma_1 + qA_1 + D_1 = (h + qa_1 + d_1)\sigma_1$$

so $g_1 = h + qa_1 + d_1$, and the first inequality we obtain is $h \ge -qa_1 - d_1$. Our objective now is to determine a_1 and d_1 .

From Proposition 2.4.3, we obtain

$$c_1(\operatorname{Sym}^2 S) = (k+1)c_1(S) = -(k+1)\sigma_1$$

and

$$c_1\left(\operatorname{Sym}^3 S\right) = \binom{k+2}{2}c_1\left(S\right) = -\binom{k+2}{2}\sigma_1$$

Hence, $a_1 = -(k+1)$ and $d_1 = -b_1 = \binom{k+2}{2}$, so that we obtain the inequality

$$h \ge -qa_1 - d_1 = q(k+1) - \binom{k+2}{2}.$$
 (2.28)

Note that this inequality is the same that we would have obtained from the exactness of $C_{2,W}^0$ for some W of dimension k+1. Hence, the assumption of exactness for every subspace of a certain dimension gives the same result that the exactness for only one subspace of bigger dimension.

Inequality from $c_2(\mathcal{G}) \geq 0$

From the formula (2.27) we obtain

$$c_{2}(\mathcal{G}) = h\sigma_{2} + qA_{2} + D_{2} + + \binom{h}{2}\sigma_{1}^{2} + \binom{q}{2}A_{1}^{2} + hq\sigma_{1}A_{1} + (h\sigma_{1} + qA_{1})D_{1} = = (h + qa_{2} + d_{2})\sigma_{2} + (qa_{1,1} + d_{1,1})\sigma_{1,1} + + \left(\binom{h}{2} + \binom{q}{2}a_{1}^{2} + hqa_{1} + (h + qa_{1})d_{1}\right)\sigma_{1}^{2} = = \left(h + qa_{2} + d_{2} + \binom{h}{2} + \binom{q}{2}a_{1}^{2} + hqa_{1} + (h + qa_{1})d_{1}\right)\sigma_{2} + + \left(qa_{1,1} + d_{1,1} + \binom{h}{2} + \binom{q}{2}a_{1}^{2} + hqa_{1} + (h + qa_{1})d_{1}\right)\sigma_{1,1}$$

(because $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_2 + \sigma_{1,1}$). Therefore,

-

$$g_2 = h + qa_2 + d_2 + \binom{h}{2} + \binom{q}{2}a_1^2 + hqa_1 + (h + qa_1)d_1$$

and

$$g_{1,1} = qa_{1,1} + d_{1,1} + \binom{h}{2} + \binom{q}{2}a_1^2 + hqa_1 + (h + qa_1)d_1.$$

We now have to determine $a_2, a_{1,1}, d_2$ and $d_{1,1}$.

Using the formulas of Proposition 2.4.3 we obtain

$$c_{2}(\text{Sym}^{2} S) = \frac{1}{2}(k+2)(k-1)c_{1}(S)^{2} + (k+2)c_{2}(S) =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}(k+2)(k-1)\sigma_{1}^{2} + (k+2)\sigma_{1,1} =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}(k+2)(k-1)\sigma_{2} + \left(\frac{1}{2}(k+2)(k-1) + (k+2)\right)\sigma_{1,1}.$$

Therefore, $a_2 = \frac{1}{2}(k+2)(k-1)$ and $a_{1,1} = \binom{k+2}{2}$. The same computation for Sym³ S gives

$$c_{2}(\text{Sym}^{3} S) = \frac{1}{8}(k+2)(k-1)(k^{2}+5k+8)c_{1}(S)^{2} + \binom{k+3}{2}c_{2}(S) = \frac{1}{8}(k+2)(k-1)(k^{2}+5k+8)\sigma_{1}^{2} + \binom{k+3}{2}\sigma_{1,1} = \frac{1}{8}(k+2)(k-1)(k^{2}+5k+8)\sigma_{2} + \binom{1}{8}(k+2)(k-1)(k^{2}+5k+8) + \binom{k+3}{2}\sigma_{1,1}.$$

Simplifying a bit more, we get

$$b_2 = \frac{1}{8}(k+2)(k-1)(k^2+5k+8)$$

and

$$b_{1,1} = \frac{1}{8}(k+2)(k+1)(k^2+3k+4) = \binom{\binom{k+2}{2}+1}{2}.$$

Finally, $D_2 = -B_2 - B_1 D_1$ implies that

$$\begin{aligned} d_2\sigma_2 + d_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1} &= -(b_2\sigma_2 + b_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1}) - (b_1\sigma_1)(d_1\sigma_1) = \\ &= -(b_2 + b_1d_1)\sigma_2 - (b_{1,1} + b_1d_1)\sigma_{1,1}, \end{aligned}$$

and therefore

$$d_2 = -(b_2 + b_1d_1) = \frac{1}{8}(k+3)(k+2)(k^2 + k + 4)$$

and

$$d_{1,1} = -(b_{1,1} + b_1 d_1) = 3\binom{k+3}{4}$$

Summing up all the results so far we obtain the inequalities

$$g_{2} = \frac{1}{2}h^{2} - \left(q(k+1) - \binom{k+2}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\right)h + \left(\binom{q}{2}(k+1)^{2} - \frac{1}{2}q(k+2)(k^{2}+k+2) + \frac{1}{8}(k+3)(k+2)(k^{2}+k+4)\right) \ge 0$$

and

$$g_{1,1} = \frac{1}{2}h^2 - \left(q(k+1) - \binom{k+2}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)h + \left(\binom{q}{2}(k+1)^2 - qk\binom{k+2}{2} + 3\binom{k+3}{4}\right) \ge 0.$$

Viewing g_2 and $g_{1,1}$ as quadratic polynomials in h, we can compute their roots formally, which are (for g_2 and $g_{1,1}$ respectively)

$$\alpha_{\pm} = \left(q(k+1) - \binom{k+2}{2} - \frac{1}{2}\right) \pm \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{8(q-k) - 15}$$

and

$$\beta_{\pm} = \left(q(k+1) - \binom{k+2}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right) \pm \frac{1}{2}$$

First of all, note that β_{\pm} are consecutive integers, so $g_{1,1} \ge 0$ holds for any integers h, k, q and it does not give any inequality at all.

Secondly, the roots α_{\pm} are not defined if 8(q-k) - 15 < 0, which is equivalent to $k \ge q-1$ (both q and k are integers). Therefore, for $k \ge q-1$ we again do not obtain any inequality. Assuming $k \le q-2$, $g_2 \ge 0$ implies that either $h \ge \alpha_+$ or $h \le \alpha_-$. But since $\alpha_- < q(k+1) - {k+2 \choose 2}$ and we already know that $h \ge q(k+1) - {k+2 \choose 2}$ (inequality (2.28)), the option $h \le \alpha_-$ is impossible, and we only obtain

Proposition 2.4.7. If X is an irregular variety and $k \leq q(X) - 2$ is such that (2.25) is an exact sequence of sheaves on \mathbb{G}_k , then

$$h^{2,0}(X) \ge q(k+1) - \binom{k+2}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\sqrt{8q - (8k+15)} - 1\right).$$
 (2.29)

Remark 2.4.8. In the case k = 1, the inequality (2.29) concides with the results of Lombardi [28] for threefolds.



EXPLICIT COMPUTATIONS

A.1 COMPUTING $c_n(\operatorname{Sym}^r E)$ FOR E OF AR-BITRARY RANK.

In this first section of the Appendix we present a code in Singular that helps to express the Chern classes of $\operatorname{Sym}^r E$ as polynomials

$$c_n \left(\operatorname{Sym}^r E \right) = P_n \left(\operatorname{rk} E, r, c_1, \dots, c_k, \dots \right)$$

in the Chern classes $c_i = c_i(E)$.

More precisely, if we denote by x_1, \ldots, x_k the formal Chern roots of E, the c_n (Sym^r E) are symmetric polynomials in the x_i , hence they admit unique expressions as polynomials in the monomial symmetric polynomials

$$m_{(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_k)}(x_1,\ldots,x_k) = \frac{1}{N_{\alpha}} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_k} x_1^{\alpha_{\sigma(1)}} \cdots x_k^{\alpha_{\sigma(k)}},$$

where $\alpha = (\alpha_1 \ge \alpha_2 \ge \ldots \ge \alpha_k)$ is any non-increasing sequence such that $n = \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j$, \mathfrak{S}_k is the symmetric group of permutations of k letters, and N_{α} is the number of permutations σ such that $\alpha_{\sigma(i)} = \alpha_i$ for all i.

The following code computes the coefficient of a given m_{α} in c_n (Sym^r E). After that, it is easy to express c_n (Sym^r E) as a polynomial in the *elementary symmetric polynomials*, i.e., the Chern classes c_i (E).

The code needs the library "general.lib", and works over any ring of characteristic 0 with at least the variable k (e.g. ring R=0,k,dp).

The main procedure is **coe**. The inputs are **Exp** and **r**, the non-increasing sequence α of exponents and the exponent r of the symmetric power, respectively. The output is the corresponding coefficient of m_{α} in c_n (Sym^r E).

For example, if we call coe(intvec(2), 2) and coe(intvec(1, 1), 2), we obtain the polynomials $\frac{1}{2}(k+2)(k-1)$ and $k^2 + 2k$, which are respectively the coefficients of $m_2 = \sum_{i=1}^k x_i^2$ and $m_{1,1} = \sum_{i < j} x_i x_j$ in $c_2(Sym^2 E)$ found in the proof of Proposition 2.4.2.

Hodge numbers of irregular varieties and fibrations

```
proc coe(intvec Exp, int r){
 int i,j;
 int n=size(Exp);
 int d=sum(Exp);
 list C;
 for(i=1;i<=n;i=i+1){</pre>
  for(j=1;j<=Exp[i];j=j+1){</pre>
   C=C+list(i);
  }
 }
 matrix M[d][n];
 intvec V=0:r;
 V[r] = 1;
 poly res=c_rec(poly(0),C,poly(1),M,d,r,n,V);
 for(i=1;i<=n;i=i+1){</pre>
  for(j=2; j<=Exp[i]; j=j+1){</pre>
   res=res/j;
  }
 }
return(res);
}
proc c_rec(poly res, list C, poly aux, matrix M, int rrow,
int r, int n, intvec lrow){
 if(rrow==0){
  poly A=perm(M,C);
  return(res+A*aux);
 }
 if(lrow[1]==-1){
  return(res);
 }else{
  int i,j,m,s;
  poly aux2;
  for(i=rrow; i>=0; i=i-1){
   for(j=0; j<i; j=j+1){</pre>
    for(m=1; m<=n; m=m+1){</pre>
     M[rrow-j,m]=0;
    }
    for(m=1; m<=r; m=m+1){</pre>
     if(lrow[m]!=0){
```

80

```
M[rrow-j,lrow[m]]=M[rrow-j,lrow[m]]+1;
     }
    }
   }
   s=r;
   for(j=1;j<=r;j=j+1){</pre>
    if(lrow[j]!=0){
     s=s-1;
    }
   }
   aux2=binom(binom(k-n+s-1,s),i);
   res=c_rec(res,C,aux*aux2,M,rrow-i,r,n,next_seq(lrow,n));
  }
  return(res);
 }
}
proc perm(matrix M, list C){
 int R=size(C);
 if(R==0){
  return(poly(1));
 }else{
  poly aux=0;
  for(int i=1; i<=R; i=i+1){</pre>
   aux=aux+M[R,C[i]]*perm(M,delete(C,i));
  }
  return(aux);
}
}
proc binom(poly p, int m){
 if(m==0){
  return(poly(1));
 }else{
  return(p*binom(p-1,m-1)/m);
 }
}
```

```
proc next_seq(intvec V, int n){
 int r=size(V);
 int i=r;
 int a;
 while(i>0){
  if(V[i]==n){
   i=i-1;
  }else{
   a=i;
   i=-1;
  }
 }
 if(i==0){
  return((-1):r);
 }else{
  i=a;
  V[i]=V[i]+1;
  for(int j=i+1;j<=r;j=j+1){</pre>
   V[j]=V[i];
  }
  return(V);
 }
}
```

A.2 Computations of $c\left(\mathcal{F}_{2,2} ight)$

This second part of the Appendix contains the explicit computations of the total Chern class of the sheaf $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_{2,2}$ appearing in Section 2.4. We present them here in order to support Conjecture 2.4.4. As we said, we have computed only the cases q = 2, 3, 4 and $k = q + 1, \ldots, 12$, which we believe are more than enough to illustrate the vanishing of the higher Chern classes of \mathcal{F} . The computations have been carried out with Macaulay2, using the package SchurRings.

k = 2

In this case,

 $+14\sigma_{4,3}$

 $c(\text{Sym}^2 S) = 1 + 3c_1(S) + 2c_1(S)^2 + 4c_2(S) + 4c_1(S)c_2(S) = 1 - 3\sigma_1 + (6\sigma_{1,1} + 2\sigma_2) - 4\sigma_{2,1}.$ And multiplying by the powers of c(Q) we obtain

 $c (Sym^{2} S) c (Q)^{3} = 1$ $c (Sym^{2} S) c (Q)^{4} = 1 + \sigma_{1}$ $c (Sym^{2} S) c (Q)^{5} = 1 + 2\sigma_{1} + (\sigma_{1,1} + 2\sigma_{2}) + \sigma_{2,1}$ $c (Sym^{2} S) c (Q)^{6} = 1 + 3\sigma_{1} + (3\sigma_{1,1} + 5\sigma_{2}) + (6\sigma_{2,1} + 5\sigma_{3}) + (3\sigma_{2,2} + 6_{3,1}) + 6\sigma_{3,2}$ $c (Sym^{2} S) c (Q)^{7} = 1 + 4\sigma_{1} + (6\sigma_{1,1} + 9\sigma_{2}) + (17\sigma_{2,1} + 14\sigma_{3}) + (14\sigma_{2,2} + 28\sigma_{3,1} + 14\sigma_{4}) + (28\sigma_{3,2} + 24\sigma_{4,1}) + (14\sigma_{3,3} + 28\sigma_{4,2}) +$

$$c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2} S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{8} = 1 + 5\sigma_{1} + (10\sigma_{1,1} + 14\sigma_{2}) + (36\sigma_{2,1} + 28\sigma_{3}) + (40\sigma_{2,2} + 78\sigma_{3,1} + 42\sigma_{4}) + (110\sigma_{3,2} + 120\sigma_{4,1} + 42\sigma_{5}) + (84\sigma_{3,3} + 180\sigma_{4,2} + 120\sigma_{5,1}) + (168\sigma_{4,3} + 180\sigma_{5,2}) + (84\sigma_{4,4} + 168\sigma_{5,3}) + 84\sigma_{5,4}$$

$$c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2} S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{9} = 1 + 6\sigma_{1} + (15\sigma_{1,1} + 20\sigma_{2}) + (65\sigma_{2,1} + 48\sigma_{3}) + (90\sigma_{2,2} + 171\sigma_{3,1} + 90\sigma_{4}) + (306\sigma_{3,2} + 333\sigma_{4,1} + 132\sigma_{5}) + (300\sigma_{3,3} + 648\sigma_{4,2} + 495\sigma_{5,1} + 132\sigma_{6}) + (810\sigma_{4,3} + 990\sigma_{5,2} + 495\sigma_{6,1}) + (594\sigma_{4,4} + 1320\sigma_{5,3} + 990\sigma_{6,2}) + (1188\sigma_{5,4} + 1320\sigma_{6,3}) + (594\sigma_{5,5} + 1188\sigma_{6,4}) + 594\sigma_{6,5}$$

$$c \left(\text{Sym}^{2} S \right) c \left(Q \right)^{10} = 1 + 7\sigma_{1} + (21\sigma_{1,1} + 27\sigma_{2}) + (106\sigma_{2,1} + 75\sigma_{3}) + (175\sigma_{2,2} + 326\sigma_{3,1} + 165\sigma_{4}) + (700\sigma_{3,2} + 748\sigma_{4,1} + 297\sigma_{5}) + \\ + (825\sigma_{3,3} + 1771\sigma_{4,2} + 1375\sigma_{5,1} + 429\sigma_{6}) + (2706\sigma_{4,3} + 3388\sigma_{5,2} + 2002\sigma_{6,1} + 429\sigma_{7}) + \\ + (2475\sigma_{4,4} + 5643\sigma_{5,3} + 5005\sigma_{6,2} + 2002\sigma_{7,1}) + (6600\sigma_{5,4} + 8580\sigma_{6,3} + 5005\sigma_{7,2}) + \\ + (4719\sigma_{5,5} + 10725\sigma_{6,4} + 8580\sigma_{7,3}) + (9438\sigma_{6,5} + 10725\sigma_{7,4}) + (4719\sigma_{6,6} + 9438\sigma_{7,5}) + 4719\sigma_{7,6}$$

$$\begin{split} c\left(\mathrm{Sym}^2\,S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{11} =& 1+8\sigma_1+(28\sigma_{1,1}+35\sigma_2)+(161\sigma_{2,1}+110\sigma_3)+(308\sigma_{2,2}+561\sigma_{3,1}+275\sigma_4)+(1408\sigma_{3,2}+1474\sigma_{4,1}+572\sigma_5)+\\ &+(1925\sigma_{3,3}+4092\sigma_{4,2}+3146\sigma_{5,1}+1001\sigma_6)+(7315\sigma_{4,3}+9152\sigma_{5,2}+5577\sigma_{6,1}+1430\sigma_7)+\\ &+(7865\sigma_{4,4}+18018\sigma_{5,3}+16588\sigma_{6,2}+8008\sigma_{7,1}+1430\sigma_8)+(25168\sigma_{5,4}+34034\sigma_{6,3}+24024\sigma_{7,2}+8008\sigma_{8,1})+\\ &+(22022\sigma_{5,5}+51909\sigma_{6,4}+50050\sigma_{7,3}+24024\sigma_{8,2})+(58201\sigma_{6,5}+78650\sigma_{7,4}+50050\sigma_{8,3})+\\ &+(40898\sigma_{6,6}+94380\sigma_{7,5}+78650\sigma_{8,4})+(81796\sigma_{7,6}+94380\sigma_{8,5})+(40898\sigma_{7,7}+81796\sigma_{8,6})+40898\sigma_{8,7} \end{split}$$

k = 3

In this case

 $c(\operatorname{Sym}^2 S) = 1 - 4\sigma_1 + (10\sigma_{1,1} + 5\sigma_2) - (20\sigma_{1,1,1} + 15\sigma_{2,1} + 2\sigma_3) + (30\sigma_{2,1,1} + 10\sigma_{2,2} + 6\sigma_{3,1}) - (20\sigma_{2,2,1} + 12\sigma_{3,1,1} + 4\sigma_{3,2}) + 8\sigma_{3,2,1}.$ And multiplying by the powers of $c\left(Q\right)$ we obtain

$$c \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2} S \right) c \left(Q \right)^{4} = 1$$
$$c \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2} S \right) c \left(Q \right)^{5} = 1 + \sigma_{1}$$

$$\begin{split} c\left(\mathrm{Sym}^2 S\right) c\left(Q\right)^6 =& 1+2\sigma_1+(\sigma_{1,1}+2\sigma_2)+\sigma_{2,1} \\ c\left(\mathrm{Sym}^2 S\right) c\left(Q\right)^7 =& 1+3\sigma_1+(3\sigma_{1,1}+5\sigma_2)+(\sigma_{1,1,1}+6\sigma_{2,1}+5\sigma_3)+(2\sigma_{2,1,1}+3\sigma_{2,2}+6\sigma_{3,1})+(\sigma_{2,2,1}+2\sigma_{3,1,1}+3\sigma_{3,2})+\sigma_{3,2,1} \\ c\left(\mathrm{Sym}^2 S\right) c\left(Q\right)^8 =& 1+4\sigma_1+(6\sigma_{1,1}+9\sigma_2)+(4\sigma_{1,1,1}+17\sigma_{2,1}+14\sigma_3)+(12\sigma_{2,1,1}+14\sigma_{2,2}+28\sigma_{3,1}+14\sigma_4)+\\ &+(12\sigma_{2,2,1}+20\sigma_{3,1,1}+28\sigma_{3,2}+28\sigma_{4,1})+(4\sigma_{2,2,2}+24\sigma_{3,2,1}+14\sigma_{3,3}+20\sigma_{4,1,1}+28\sigma_{4,2})+\\ &+(8\sigma_{3,2,2}+12\sigma_{3,3,1}+24\sigma_{4,2,1}+14\sigma_{4,3})+(4\sigma_{3,3,2}+8\sigma_{4,2,2}+12\sigma_{4,3,1})+4\sigma_{4,3,2} \\ c\left(\mathrm{Sym}^2 S\right) c\left(Q\right)^9 =& 1+5\sigma_1+(10\sigma_{1,1}+14\sigma_2)+(10\sigma_{1,1,1}+36\sigma_{2,1}+28\sigma_3)+(39\sigma_{2,1,1}+40\sigma_{2,2}+78\sigma_{3,1}+42\sigma_4)+\\ &+(55\sigma_{2,2,1}+87\sigma_{3,1,1}+110\sigma_{3,2}+120\sigma_{4,1}+42\sigma_5)+\\ &+(30\sigma_{3,2,2}+155\sigma_{3,2,1}+84\sigma_{3,3}+135\sigma_{4,1,1}+180\sigma_{4,2}+120\sigma_{5,1})+\\ &+(90\sigma_{3,3,2}+150\sigma_{4,2,2}+252\sigma_{4,3,1}+84\sigma_{4,4}+255\sigma_{5,2,1}+168\sigma_{5,3})+\\ &+(30\sigma_{4,3,3}+60\sigma_{5,3,3}+90\sigma_{5,4,2})+30\sigma_{5,4,3} \\ c\left(\mathrm{Sym}^2 S\right) c\left(Q\right)^{10} =& 1+6\sigma_1+(15\sigma_{1,1}+20\sigma_2)+(20\sigma_{1,1,1}+65\sigma_{2,1}+48\sigma_3)+(95\sigma_{2,1,1}+90\sigma_{2,2}+171\sigma_{3,1}+90\sigma_4)+\\ &+(125\sigma_{2,2,2}+600\sigma_{3,2,1}+30\sigma_{5,4,2})+30\sigma_{5,4,3} \\ &+(125\sigma_{2,2,2}+600\sigma_{3,2,1}+33\sigma_{4,1}+132\sigma_{5,1})+\\ &+(65\sigma_{5,3,3,2}+1065\sigma_{4,2,2}+175\sigma_{4,3,1}+180\sigma_{5,2,2}+2860\sigma_{5,3,1}+188\sigma_{5,4}+1980\sigma_{6,2,1}+132\sigma_{6,3})+\\ &+(125\sigma_{2,2,2}+600\sigma_{3,2,1}+320\sigma_{4,3,4}+1650\sigma_{5,2,2}+2860\sigma_{5,3,1}+1188\sigma_{5,4}+1980\sigma_{6,2,1}+1320\sigma_{6,3})+\\ &+(65\sigma_{5,3,3,2}+1065\sigma_{4,2,2}+175\sigma_{4,3,1}+594\sigma_{4,4}+1980\sigma_{5,2,1}+132\sigma_{6,3,1}+188\sigma_{6,4}+188\sigma_{6,4}+188\sigma_{6,4}+188\sigma_{6,3,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,3}+1980\sigma_{6,3,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,3}+1980\sigma_{6,3,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,3}+1980\sigma_{6,2,3}+260\sigma_{6,3,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,3}+1980\sigma_{6,2,4}+1320\sigma_{6,3,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,3}+1980\sigma_{6,2,4}+1320\sigma_{6,3,1}+188\sigma_{6,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3}+188\sigma_{6,4,4}+$$

A.2 - Computations of $c(\mathcal{F}_{2,2})$

80

 $\mathbf{98}$

Explicit computations

 $c\left(\operatorname{Svm}^{2} S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{11} = 1 + 7\sigma_{1} + (21\sigma_{1,1} + 27\sigma_{2}) + (35\sigma_{1,1,1} + 106\sigma_{2,1} + 75\sigma_{3}) + (195\sigma_{2,1,1} + 175\sigma_{2,2} + 325\sigma_{3,1} + 165\sigma_{4}) + (195\sigma_{2,1,1} + 175\sigma_{2,2} + 175\sigma_{2}) + (195\sigma_{2,1,1} + 175\sigma_{2}) + (19$ $+(420\sigma_{2,2,1}+626\sigma_{3,1,1}+700\sigma_{3,2}+748\sigma_{4,1}+297\sigma_5)+$ $+(385\sigma_{2,2,2}+1757\sigma_{3,2,1}+825\sigma_{3,3}+1474\sigma_{4,1,1}+1771\sigma_{4,2}+1375\sigma_{5,1}+429\sigma_{6})+$ + $(1771\sigma_{3,2,2} + 2277\sigma_{3,3,1} + 4543\sigma_{4,2,1} + 2706\sigma_{4,3} + 2739\sigma_{5,1,1} + 3388\sigma_{5,2} + 2002\sigma_{6,1} + 429\sigma_7)$ + + $(2981\sigma_{3,3,2} + 4774\sigma_{4,2,2} + 7623\sigma_{4,3,1} + 2475\sigma_{4,4} + 8778\sigma_{5,2,1} + 5643\sigma_{5,3} + 4004\sigma_{6,1,1} + 5005\sigma_{6,2} + 2002\sigma_{7,1}) +$ $+(1925\sigma_{3,3,3}+10384\sigma_{4,3,2}+7260\sigma_{4,4,1}+9394\sigma_{5,2,2}+16038\sigma_{5,3,1}+$ $+6600\sigma_{5,4} + 13013\sigma_{6,2,1} + 8580\sigma_{6,3} + 4004\sigma_{7,1,1} + 5005\sigma_{7,2}) +$ $+(7315\sigma_{433}+10802\sigma_{442}+22209\sigma_{532}+19503\sigma_{541}+4719\sigma_{55}+$ $+14014\sigma_{6,2,2} + 24453\sigma_{6,3,1} + 10725\sigma_{6,4} + 13013\sigma_{7,2,1} + 8580\sigma_{7,3}) +$ $+(9779\sigma_{4,4,3}+16170\sigma_{5,3,3}+29425\sigma_{5,4,2}+14157\sigma_{5,5,1}+34034\sigma_{6,3,2}+$ $+31746\sigma_{6,4,1}+9438\sigma_{6,5}+14014\sigma_{7,2,2}+24453\sigma_{7,3,1}+10725\sigma_{7,4})+$ + $(4719\sigma_{4,4,4} + 27412\sigma_{5,4,3} + 22022\sigma_{5,5,2} + 25025\sigma_{6,3,3} + 48048\sigma_{6,4,2} +$ $+28314\sigma_{6.5.1}+4719\sigma_{6.6}+34034\sigma_{7.3.2}+31746\sigma_{7.4.1}+9438\sigma_{7.5})+$ $+(14157\sigma_{5,4,4}+22022\sigma_{5,5,3}+45045\sigma_{6,4,3}+44044\sigma_{6,5,2}+$ $+14157\sigma_{6,6,1}+25025\sigma_{7,3,3}+48048\sigma_{7,4,2}+28314\sigma_{7,5,1}+4719\sigma_{7,6})+$ $+ (14157\sigma_{5.5.4} + 23595\sigma_{6.4.4} + 44044\sigma_{6.5.3} + 22022\sigma_{6.6.2} + 45045\sigma_{7.4.3} + 44044\sigma_{7.5.2} + 14157\sigma_{7.6.1}) + (14157\sigma_{7.6.4} + 44044\sigma_{7.5.2} + 14157\sigma_{7.6.1}) + (14157\sigma_{7.6.4} + 44044\sigma_{7.5.2} + 14157\sigma_{7.6.4}) + (14157\sigma_{7.6.4} + 14044\sigma_{7.5.2} + 14157\sigma_{7.6.4}) + (14157\sigma_{7.6.4} + 14044\sigma_{7.5.2} + 14157\sigma_{7.6.4}) + (14157\sigma_{7.6.4} + 14044\sigma_{7.5.4} + 14044\sigma_{7.5.4} + 14057\sigma_{7.6.4}) + (14157\sigma_{7.6.4} + 14044\sigma_{7.5.4} + 14057\sigma_{7.6.4}) + (14157\sigma_{7.6.4} + 1405\sigma_{7.6.4} + 1405\sigma_{7.6.4} + 1405\sigma_{7.6.4}) + (1415\sigma_{7.6.4} + 1405\sigma_{7.6.4} + 1405\sigma_{7.6.4}$ $+ (4719\sigma_{5,5,5} + 28314\sigma_{6,5,4} + 22022\sigma_{6,6,3} + 23595\sigma_{7,4,4} + 44044\sigma_{7,5,3} + 22022\sigma_{7,6,2}) +$ + $(9438\sigma_{6.5.5} + 14157\sigma_{6.6.4} + 28314\sigma_{7.5.4} + 22022\sigma_{7.6.3}) + (4719\sigma_{6.6.5} + 9438\sigma_{7.5.5} + 14157\sigma_{7.6.4}) + 4719\sigma_{7.6.5}$



iv 1 Computations of $c(\mathcal{F}_{2,2})$

k = 4

In this case

$$\begin{split} c(\mathrm{Sym}^2 S) &= 1 - 5\sigma_1 + (15\sigma_{1,1} + 9\sigma_2) - (35\sigma_{1,1,1} + 34\sigma_{2,1} + 7\sigma_3) + (70\sigma_{1,1,1,1} + 84\sigma_{2,1,1} + 35\sigma_{2,2} + 28\sigma_{3,1} + 2\sigma_4) - \\ &- (168\sigma_{2,1,1,1} + 105\sigma_{2,2,1} + 70\sigma_{3,1,1} + 35\sigma_{3,2} + 8\sigma_{4,1}) + (210\sigma_{2,2,1,1} + 70\sigma_{2,2,2} + 140\sigma_{3,1,1,1} + 105\sigma_{3,2,1} + 14\sigma_{3,3} + 20\sigma_{4,1,1} + 10\sigma_{4,2}) - \\ &- (140\sigma_{2,2,2,1} + 210\sigma_{3,2,1,1} + 70\sigma_{3,2,2} + 42\sigma_{3,3,1} + 40\sigma_{4,1,1,1} + 30\sigma_{4,2,1} + 4\sigma_{4,3}) + \\ &+ (140\sigma_{3,2,2,1} + 84\sigma_{3,3,1,1} + 28\sigma_{3,3,2} + 60\sigma_{4,2,1,1} + 20\sigma_{4,2,2} + 12\sigma_{4,3,1}) - (56\sigma_{3,3,2,1} + 40\sigma_{4,2,2,1} + 24\sigma_{4,3,1,1} + 8\sigma_{4,3,2}) + 16\sigma_{4,3,2,1}. \end{split}$$

And multiplying by the powers of c(Q) we obtain

$$\begin{split} c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{5} =& 1\\ c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{6} =& 1 + \sigma_{1}\\ c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{7} =& 1 + 2\sigma_{1} + (\sigma_{1,1} + 2\sigma_{2}) + \sigma_{2,1}\\ c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{8} =& 1 + 3\sigma_{1} + (3\sigma_{1,1} + 5\sigma_{2}) + (\sigma_{1,1,1} + 6\sigma_{2,1} + 5\sigma_{3}) + (2\sigma_{2,1,1} + 3\sigma_{2,2} + 6\sigma_{3,1}) + (\sigma_{2,2,1} + 2\sigma_{3,1,1} + 3\sigma_{3,2}) + \sigma_{3,2,1}\\ c\left(\operatorname{Sym}^{2}S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{9} =& 1 + 4\sigma_{1} + (6\sigma_{1,1} + 9\sigma_{2}) + (4\sigma_{1,1,1} + 17\sigma_{2,1} + 14\sigma_{3}) + (\sigma_{1,1,1,1} + 12\sigma_{2,1,1} + 14\sigma_{2,2} + 28\sigma_{3,1} + 14\sigma_{4}) + \\ &\quad + (3\sigma_{2,1,1,1} + 12\sigma_{2,2,1} + 20\sigma_{3,1,1} + 28\sigma_{3,2} + 28\sigma_{4,1}) + \\ &\quad + (3\sigma_{2,2,1,1} + 4\sigma_{2,2,2} + 5\sigma_{3,1,1,1} + 24\sigma_{3,2,1} + 14\sigma_{3,3} + 20\sigma_{4,1,1} + 28\sigma_{4,2,2}) + \\ &\quad + (\sigma_{2,2,2,1} + 6\sigma_{3,2,1,1} + 8\sigma_{3,2,2} + 12\sigma_{3,3,1} + 5\sigma_{4,1,1,1} + 24\sigma_{4,2,1} + 14\sigma_{4,3}) + \\ &\quad + (2\sigma_{3,2,2,1} + 3\sigma_{3,3,1,1} + 4\sigma_{3,3,2} + 6\sigma_{4,2,1,1} + 8\sigma_{4,2,2} + 12\sigma_{4,3,1}) + (\sigma_{3,3,2,1} + 2\sigma_{4,2,2,1} + 3\sigma_{4,3,1,1} + 4\sigma_{4,3,2}) + \sigma_{4,3,2,1} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} c\left(\mathrm{Sym}^2\,S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{10} =& 1+5\sigma_1+\left(10\sigma_{1,1}+14\sigma_2\right)+\left(10\sigma_{1,1,1}+36\sigma_{2,1}+28\sigma_3\right)+\left(5\sigma_{1,1,1,1}+39\sigma_{2,1,1}+40\sigma_{2,2}+78\sigma_{3,1}+42\sigma_4\right)+\\ &+\left(20\sigma_{2,1,1,1}+55\sigma_{2,2,1}+87\sigma_{3,1,1}+110\sigma_{3,2}+120\sigma_{4,1}+42\sigma_5\right)+\\ &+\left(30\sigma_{2,2,1,1}+30\sigma_{2,2,2}+45\sigma_{3,1,1,1}+155\sigma_{3,2,1}+84\sigma_{3,3}+135\sigma_{4,1,1}+180\sigma_{4,2}+120\sigma_{5,1}\right)+\\ &+\left(20\sigma_{2,2,2,1}+85\sigma_{3,2,1,1}+90\sigma_{3,2,2}+126\sigma_{3,3,1}+70\sigma_{4,1,1,1}+255\sigma_{4,2,1}+168\sigma_{4,3}+135\sigma_{5,1,1}+180\sigma_{5,2}\right)+\\ &+\left(5\sigma_{2,2,2,2}+60\sigma_{3,2,2,1}+70\sigma_{3,3,1,1}+90\sigma_{3,3,2}+140\sigma_{4,2,1,1}+\right.\\ &+150\sigma_{4,2,2}+252\sigma_{4,3,1}+84\sigma_{4,4}+70\sigma_{5,1,1,1}+255\sigma_{5,2,1}+168\sigma_{5,3}\right)+\\ &+\left(15\sigma_{3,3,2,2}+60\sigma_{3,3,2,1}+30\sigma_{3,3,3}+100\sigma_{4,2,2,1}+140\sigma_{4,3,1,1}+\right.\\ &+180\sigma_{4,3,2}+126\sigma_{4,4,1}+140\sigma_{5,2,1,1}+150\sigma_{5,2,2}+252\sigma_{5,3,1}+84\sigma_{5,4}\right)+\\ &+\left(15\sigma_{3,3,2,2}+20\sigma_{3,3,3,1}+25\sigma_{4,2,2,2}+120\sigma_{4,3,2,1}+70\sigma_{4,4,1,1}+\right.\\ &+60\sigma_{4,3,3}+90\sigma_{4,4,2}+100\sigma_{5,2,2,1}+140\sigma_{5,3,1,1}+180\sigma_{5,3,2}+126\sigma_{5,4,1}\right)+\\ &+\left(5\sigma_{3,3,3,2}+30\sigma_{4,3,2,2}+40\sigma_{4,3,3,1}+60\sigma_{4,4,2,1}+30\sigma_{4,3,3}+\right.\\ &+25\sigma_{5,2,2,2}+120\sigma_{5,3,2,1}+70\sigma_{5,4,1,1}+60\sigma_{5,3,3}+90\sigma_{5,4,2}\right)+\\ &+\left(10\sigma_{4,3,3,2}+15\sigma_{4,4,2,2}+20\sigma_{4,4,3,1}+30\sigma_{5,3,2,2}+40\sigma_{5,3,3,1}+60\sigma_{5,4,2,1}+30\sigma_{5,4,3}\right)+\\ &+\left(5\sigma_{4,4,3,2}+10\sigma_{5,3,3,2}+15\sigma_{5,4,2,2}+20\sigma_{5,4,3,1}\right)+5\sigma_{5,4,3,2}-126\sigma_{5,4,3,2}\right)+\\ \end{array}$$

00 $c\left(\operatorname{Svm}^{2}S\right)c\left(Q\right)^{11} = 1 + 6\sigma_{1} + (15\sigma_{1.1} + 20\sigma_{2}) + (20\sigma_{1.1,1} + 65\sigma_{2.1} + 48\sigma_{3}) + (15\sigma_{1.1,1,1} + 95\sigma_{2.1,1} + 90\sigma_{2.2} + 171\sigma_{3.1} + 90\sigma_{4}) + (15\sigma_{1.1,1,1} + 95\sigma_{2.1,1} + 90\sigma_{2.2} + 171\sigma_{3.1} + 90\sigma_{4}) + (15\sigma_{1.1,1} + 95\sigma_{2.1,1} + 90\sigma_{2.2} + 171\sigma_{3.1} + 90\sigma_{4}) + (15\sigma_{1.1,1} + 95\sigma_{2.1,1} + 90\sigma_{2.2} + 171\sigma_{3.1} + 90\sigma_{4}) + (15\sigma_{1.1,1} + 95\sigma_{2.1,1} + 90\sigma_{2.2} + 171\sigma_{3.1} + 90\sigma_{4}) + (15\sigma_{1.1,1} + 90\sigma_{2.2} + 171\sigma_{3.1} + 90\sigma_{4}) + (15\sigma_{1.1,1} + 90\sigma_{4.1,1} + 90\sigma_$ $+(74\sigma_{2,1,1,1}+170\sigma_{2,2,1}+260\sigma_{3,1,1}+306\sigma_{3,2}+333\sigma_{4,1}+132\sigma_{5})+$ $+ (144\sigma_{2,2,1,1} + 125\sigma_{2,2,2} + 206\sigma_{3,1,1,1} + 600\sigma_{3,2,1} + 300\sigma_{3,3} + 515\sigma_{4,1,1} + 648\sigma_{4,2} + 495\sigma_{5,1} + 132\sigma_6) + (144\sigma_{2,2,1,1} + 125\sigma_{2,2,2} + 206\sigma_{3,1,1,1} + 600\sigma_{3,2,1} + 300\sigma_{3,3} + 515\sigma_{4,1,1} + 648\sigma_{4,2} + 495\sigma_{5,1} + 132\sigma_6) + (144\sigma_{2,2,1,1} + 125\sigma_{2,2,2} + 206\sigma_{3,1,1,1} + 600\sigma_{3,2,1} + 300\sigma_{3,3} + 515\sigma_{4,1,1} + 648\sigma_{4,2} + 495\sigma_{5,1} + 132\sigma_6) + (144\sigma_{2,2,1,1} + 125\sigma_{2,2,2} + 206\sigma_{3,1,1,1} + 600\sigma_{3,2,1} + 300\sigma_{3,3} + 515\sigma_{4,1,1} + 648\sigma_{4,2} + 495\sigma_{5,1} + 132\sigma_6) + (144\sigma_{2,2,1,1} + 125\sigma_{2,2,2} + 125\sigma_{2,$ + $(135\sigma_{2,2,2,1} + 516\sigma_{3,2,1,1} + 480\sigma_{3,2,2} + 640\sigma_{3,3,1} + 411\sigma_{4,1,1,1} +$ $+1290\sigma_{4,2,1} + 810\sigma_{4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,1,1} + 990\sigma_{5,2} + 495\sigma_{6,1}) +$ $+(55\sigma_{2,2,2,2}+525\sigma_{3,2,2,1}+568\sigma_{3,3,1,1}+655\sigma_{3,3,2}+1116\sigma_{4,2,1,1}+1065\sigma_{4,2,2}+$ $+1750\sigma_{4,3,1} + 594\sigma_{4,4} + 616\sigma_{5,1,1,1} + 1980\sigma_{5,2,1} + 1320\sigma_{5,3} + 770\sigma_{6,1,1} + 990\sigma_{6,2}) +$ $+(220\sigma_{3,2,2,2}+736\sigma_{3,3,2,1}+330\sigma_{3,3,3}+1170\sigma_{4,2,2,1}+1560\sigma_{4,3,1,1}+1840\sigma_{4,3,2}+1320\sigma_{4,4,1}+1840\sigma_{4,3,2}+1800\sigma_{$ $+1716\sigma_{5,2,1,1} + 1650\sigma_{5,2,2} + 2860\sigma_{5,3,1} + 1188\sigma_{5,4} + 616\sigma_{6,1,1,1} + 1980\sigma_{6,2,1} + 1320\sigma_{6,3}) +$ $+(330\sigma_{3,3,2,2}+396\sigma_{3,3,3,1}+495\sigma_{4,2,2,2}+2073\sigma_{4,3,2,1}+1188\sigma_{4,4,1,1}+990\sigma_{4,3,3}+1485\sigma_{4,4,2}+1815\sigma_{5,2,2,1}+$ $+2552\sigma_{5,3,1,1}+3025\sigma_{5,3,2}+2640\sigma_{5,4,1}+594\sigma_{5,5}+1716\sigma_{6,2,1,1}+1650\sigma_{6,2,2}+2860\sigma_{6,3,1}+1188\sigma_{6,4})+$ $+ (220\sigma_{3,3,3,2} + 935\sigma_{4,3,2,2} + 1188\sigma_{4,3,3,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{4,4,2,1} + 990\sigma_{4,4,3} + 770\sigma_{5,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{5,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{5,4,1,1} + 1683\sigma_{5,4,2,1} + 1683\sigma_{5,4,2,2} + 1080\sigma_{5,4,2,2} + 1080\sigma_{5,4,2} + 1080\sigma_{5,4,4,2} + 1080\sigma_{5,4,4,2} + 1080\sigma_{5,4,4,2} + 1080\sigma_{5,4,4,4} + 1080\sigma_{5,4,4,$ $+1650\sigma_{5,3,3} + 2970\sigma_{5,4,2} + 1320\sigma_{5,5,1} + 1815\sigma_{6,2,2,1} + 2552\sigma_{6,3,1,1} + 3025\sigma_{6,3,2} + 2640\sigma_{6,4,1} + 594\sigma_{6,5}) + 264\sigma_{6,5} + 260\sigma_{6,5}) + 260\sigma_{6,5} + 260\sigma_{6,5} + 260\sigma_{6,5} + 260\sigma_{6,5}) + 260\sigma_{6,5} + 260\sigma_{6,5}$ + $(55\sigma_{3,3,3,3} + 660\sigma_{4,3,3,2} + 770\sigma_{4,4,2,2} + 1188\sigma_{4,4,3,1} + 330\sigma_{4,4,4} +$ $+1540\sigma_{5,3,2,2} + 1980\sigma_{5,3,3,1} + 3366\sigma_{5,4,2,1} + 1188\sigma_{5,5,1,1} + 1980\sigma_{5,4,3} + 1485\sigma_{5,5,2} + 1080\sigma_{5,4,3} + 108$ $+770\sigma_{6,2,2,2} + 3410\sigma_{6,3,2,1} + 2376\sigma_{6,4,1,1} + 1650\sigma_{6,3,3} + 2970\sigma_{6,4,2} + 1320\sigma_{6,5,1}) +$ + $(165\sigma_{4,3,3,3} + 660\sigma_{4,4,3,2} + 396\sigma_{4,4,4,1} + 1100\sigma_{5,3,3,2} + 1540\sigma_{5,4,2,2} +$ $+2376\sigma_{5,4,3,1}+1683\sigma_{5,5,2,1}+660\sigma_{5,4,4}+990\sigma_{5,5,3}+1540\sigma_{6,3,2,2}+$ $+1980\sigma_{6,3,3,1} + 3366\sigma_{6,4,2,1} + 1188\sigma_{6,5,1,1} + 1980\sigma_{6,4,3} + 1485\sigma_{6,5,2}) +$ $+(165\sigma_{4,4,3,3}+220\sigma_{4,4,4,2}+275\sigma_{5,3,3,3}+1320\sigma_{5,4,3,2}+770\sigma_{5,5,2,2}+792\sigma_{5,4,4,1}+1188\sigma_{5,5,3,1}+$ $+330\sigma_{5,5,4}+1100\sigma_{6,3,3,2}+1540\sigma_{6,4,2,2}+2376\sigma_{6,4,3,1}+1683\sigma_{6,5,2,1}+660\sigma_{6,4,4}+990\sigma_{6,5,3})+$ $+(55\sigma_{4,4,4,3}+330\sigma_{5,4,3,3}+440\sigma_{5,4,4,2}+660\sigma_{5,5,3,2}+396\sigma_{5,5,4,1}+$ $+275\sigma_{6,3,3,3}+1320\sigma_{6,4,3,2}+770\sigma_{6,5,2,2}+792\sigma_{6,4,4,1}+1188\sigma_{6,5,3,1}+330\sigma_{6,5,4})+$ + $(110\sigma_{5,4,4,3} + 165\sigma_{5,5,3,3} + 220\sigma_{5,5,4,2} + 330\sigma_{6,4,3,3} + 440\sigma_{6,4,4,2} + 660\sigma_{6,5,3,2} + 396\sigma_{6,5,4,1}) +$ $+(55\sigma_{5,5,4,3}+110\sigma_{6,4,4,3}+165\sigma_{6,5,3,3}+220\sigma_{6,5,4,2})+55\sigma_{6,5,4,3}$





+ $(1001\sigma_{6,6,5,4} + 2002\sigma_{7,5,5,4} + 3003\sigma_{7,6,4,4} + 4004\sigma_{7,6,5,3}) + 1001\sigma_{7,6,5,4}$

92



FIBRED SURFACES

INTRODUCTION TO PART II

In the classification of smooth algebraic surfaces it is natural to study its possible fibrations over curves, trying to relate the geometry of the surface to the properties of the fibres and the base. For varieties of small Kodaira dimension there are canonical fibrations (e.g. Mori and Iitaka fibrations), and for surfaces S satisfying $p_g(S) \leq 2q(S) - 4$ one can consider the fibration provided by the classical Castelunovo-de Franchis theorem. In general, up to birational equivalence, every algebraic surface admits a fibration because it has an algebraic function (resolve its indeterminacy and then take the Stein factorization).

In this Thesis we focus on the relations between the isotriviality of a fibration and its numerical invariants. Denote from now on by $f: S \to B$ a fibration from a compact surface S to a compact curve B, that is, a morphism with connected fibres. Denote also by F a general fibre of f. The first invariants one can consider are the Hodge numbers of S, B and F: the genus of B and F, the geometric genus and the irregularity of S, and also $h^{1,1}(S)$, which is not a birational invariant. Frome these "primary" invariants, one can define other ones (see Chapter 3 for the precise definitions): the relative irregularity q_f , the relative (topological and holomorphic) Euler characteristics e_f and χ_f , the self-intersection of the relative canonical divisor $K_f^2,...$

There are some direct relations between these invariants and the isotriviality of f. For example, it always holds

$$\chi_f \ge 0,$$

with equality if and only if f is isotrivial and smooth (i.e. locally trivial). In another direction, Beauville showed in its Appendix to [12] that

$$0 \le q_f \le g_f$$

and the equality $q_f = g$ holds if and only if S is birational to $B \times F$ (f is *trivial*).

As a consequence of the work of Serrano [40] (Corollary 6.1.4), nontrivial isotrivial fibrations verify

$$q_f \le \frac{g+1}{2}.$$

Xiao conjectured that this last equality holds also for non-isotrivial fibrations, but he was able to prove that only in the case $B = \mathbb{P}^1$ ([44]). In fact, the conjecture is false, because Pirola gave a counterexample in [33]. In the general case, Xiao proved in [43] the weaker inequality

$$q_f \le \frac{5g+1}{6}.$$

In fact, he obtained this inequality after proving the *slope inequality*

$$\lambda_f \ge 4 - \frac{4}{g},$$

where the slope $\lambda_f = K_f^2/\chi_f$ is defined for any non-locally trivial fibration.

Another invariant of a fibration, introduced by Konno in [24], is the *Clifford* index of f, defined simply as the Clifford index of a general fibre (which is in fact the maximum of the Clifford indexes of the smooth fibres). By using this new invariant, Konno, and more recently Barja and Stoppino in [3], obtain some strengthenings of the original slope inequality.

From a different point of view, Serrano studies the properties of the sheaf $\Omega_{S/B}^1$ of relative differentials and its double dual $\Delta_{S/B}$. In fact, in [38] he obtains an explicit description of $\Delta_{S/B}$ in terms of the relative canonical sheaf $\omega_{S/B}$ and the singular fibres, which allows him to study its Zariski decomposition and to relate the isotriviality of f to the Iitaka dimension of $\Delta_{S/B}$. In his later work [39], Serrano shows that if f is relatively minimal and non-isotrivial, then S is birational to

$$\operatorname{Proj}\left(\bigoplus_{n\geq 0}H^0\left(S,\Delta_{S/B}^{\otimes n}\right)\right),\,$$

the canonical model of the pair $(S, \Delta_{S/B})$ as defined by Sakai in [36].

A third, different approach to study fibred surfaces (and particularly the abovementioned conjecture posed by Xiao) is followed by Pirola in [33]. In this work, Pirola considers the Albanese map of S, which in fact is a map from S to a locally trivial family of Abelian varieties \mathcal{A} over B with fibre the kernel A of the induced map Alb $(S) \to J(B)$. With this setting, he characterizes the failure of Xiao's conjecture by the non-constancy of the generalized Abel-Jacobi map from B to the primitive first intermediate Jacobian of A.

In this second part of the Thesis we use tools from all the previous approaches, as well as the *adjoint images* introduced by Collino and Pirola in [11], to prove the following inequality for non-isotrivial fibrations.

Theorem 6.3.4. Let $f : S \to B$ be a fibration of genus g, relative irregularity q_f and Clifford index c_f . If f is non-isotrivial, then

$$q_f \le g - c_f.$$

Meanwhile, we extend to global families some constructions and results about infinitesimal deformations of smooth curves (Chapter 4), and obtain an structure result for some special fibrations (Theorem 6.3.1). All these new concepts and results seem to be generalizable to one-dimensional families of irregular varieties of any dimension, but we have not explored yet this more general possibility because it exceeds the scope of our initial objective (the study of Xiao's conjecture).



PRELIMINARIES ON FIBRED SURFACES

In this chapter we recall some of the most basic definitions and results concerning fibrations of complex algebraic varieties, paying special atention to the case of an irregular surface fibred over a non-rational curve.

In the first section we introduce the fundamental definitions and the most general results. The second section is devoted to study the relationship between the sheaf of relative differentials and the relative canonical bundle of a fibred surface, which will be very useful in Chapters 4 and 6. The third section focuses on how a fibration of irregular varieties behaves under the Albanese functor, and the last section is a summary on numerical invariants that will not be used in the sequel, but are strongly related to the isotriviality of a fibred surface.

3.1 **BASIC PRELIMINARIES**

We start with the fundamental definitions.

Definition 3.1.1. A fibration, or fibre space, is a surjective, flat, proper morphism $f : X \to Y$ with connected fibres, where X and Y are smooth varieties such that dim $X > \dim Y$.

- The variety X is called the total space of the fibration, and Y is the base.
- The fibration is called Kähler (resp. projective) if the total space X is Kähler (resp.projective).
- The fibre over a point $y \in Y$ is the subscheme

$$X_y = X \times_Y \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}(y),$$

which is always proper.

Hodge numbers of irregular varieties and fibrations

- A point $x \in X$ is regular if the differential $df_p : T_{X,x} \to T_{Y,f(x)}$ is surjective. Otherwise, x is called critical.
- A point $y \in Y$ is called a regular value if all the points in $f^{-1}(x)$ are regluar. Otherwise, if y is the image of some critical point, it is called a critical value.

Remark 3.1.2. If the base Y is a smooth curve, any surjective morphism is automatically flat, hence we can drop this condition from the definition of a fibration.

If the total space X is compact, the morphism is automatically proper.

We now collect some basic results about fibrations, which are well stablished in the literature.

- **Theorem 3.1.3.** 1. (Regular value theorem) The fibre X_y is smooth if and only if $y \in Y$ is a regular value.
 - 2. (Generic smoothness) The critical values form a proper Zariski-closed subset of Y.
 - 3. For any smooth fibre $F = X_y$, the normal bundle $N_{F/X} = (T_{X|F})/T_F$ is trivial, of rank dim Y. More intrinsically, $N_{F/X} \cong T_{Y,y} \otimes \mathcal{O}_F$ is the trivial bundle with fibre the tangent space of Y at y.
 - 4. (Ehresmann's theorem) Locally over the regular values, the fibration f is differentiably trivial. In particular, all the smooth fibres are diffeomorphic.

Definition 3.1.4. A fibration $f : X \to Y$ is isotrivial if all the smooth fibres are isomorphic. If furthermore X is birational to the product $X_y \times Y$ (where X_y is any smooth fibre), f is called trivial. An isotrivial fibration whose fibres are all smooth is called either a fibre bundle or a locally trivial fibration. A non-isotrivial fibration is strongly non-isotrivial if the smooth fibres are not even birationally equivalent.

We are mostly concerned about fibred projective surfaces. Therefore, from now on, S (resp. B) will denote a smooth projective complex surface (resp. curve), and $f: S \to B$ will be a surjective morphism with connected fibres. By all the previous considerations, f is automatically a fibration (flat and proper). Since the fibres are curves, we will denote them by C_b (instead of S_b), for any $b \in B$. Also, since two smooth curves are birational if and only if they are isomorphic, fibred surfaces are strongly non-isotrivial if and only if they are non-isotrivial. Furthermore, the general fibres are diffeomorphic compact Riemann surfaces, hence they have the same genus.
Definition 3.1.5. The genus of the fibration is $g = g(C_b)$, the genus of any smooth fibre C_b .

The genus is one of the basic numerical invariants of the fibration, but not the only one we consider.

Definition 3.1.6. The relative irregularity of f is

$$q_f = q\left(S\right) - g\left(B\right),$$

the difference between the irregularities of S and B.

Since f is surjective, the pull-back of 1-forms is an injection

$$f^*: H^0(B, \omega_B) \hookrightarrow H^0(S, \Omega^1_S),$$

and the relative irregularity is the dimension of the quotient space

$$V = V_f := H^0\left(S, \Omega_S^1\right) / f^* H^0\left(B, \omega_B\right)$$

Lemma 3.1.7. For any smooth fibre C, the composition

$$H^0\left(S,\Omega^1_S\right)\longrightarrow H^0\left(C,\Omega^1_{S|C}\right)\longrightarrow H^0\left(C,\omega_C\right)$$

factors through an injective map $V \hookrightarrow H^0(C, \omega_C)$. In particular, $\operatorname{rk} f_*\Omega^1_S = \dim H^0(C, \Omega^1_{S|C}) \ge q_f$.

Corollary 3.1.8. Any fibration satisfies the inequalities

$$0 \leq q_f \leq g.$$

Lemma 3.1.7 also implies that "V gets bigger under base change". More precisely, let $B' \to B$ be a finite morphism, $S' = S \times_B B'$ the minimal desingularization of the fibre product, and $f' : S' \to B'$ the induced fibration. The pull-back morphism $H^0(S, \Omega^1_S) \to H^0(S', \Omega^1_{S'})$ clearly sends $f^*H^0(B, \omega_B)$ into $(f')^*H^0(B', \omega_{B'})$, so there is a natural pull-back map

$$V \longrightarrow V' := H^0(S', \Omega^1_{S'}) / (f')^* H^0(B', \omega_{B'}).$$
(3.1)

Corollary 3.1.9. The map (3.1) is injective.

Proof. Let $b' \in B'$ be a point where π is not ramified, and let $b = \pi(b')$, so that C_b and $C_{b'}$ are isomorphic. Clearly, the inclusion $V \hookrightarrow H^0(C_b, \omega_{C_b})$ factors as $V \to V' \hookrightarrow H^0(C_{b'}, \omega_{C_{b'}})$, hence $V \to V'$ must be injective. \Box Another immediate consequence of Lemma 3.1.7 concerns the infinitesimal deformations of the smooth fibres induced by f.

Definition 3.1.10. For any regular value b, let $\xi_b \in H^1(C_b, T_{C_b})$ be the class of the extension

$$0 \longrightarrow N_{C_b/X}^{\vee} \cong \mathcal{O}_{C_b} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S|C_b} \longrightarrow \omega_{C_b} \longrightarrow 0.$$

Denote by ∂_{ξ_b} the connecting homomorphism

$$H^0(C_b, \omega_{C_b}) \longrightarrow H^1(C_b, \mathcal{O}_{C_b}),$$

which can be identified with the cup-product with ξ_b .

Corollary 3.1.11. For any smooth fibre $C = C_b$, the vector space V is contained in the kernel of ∂_{ξ_b} .

From Theorem 3.1.3 we deduce that the general fibres of a fibration are smooth, but the finitely many possible singular fibres can behave very badly (they can have several irreducible components, some of them even non-reduced). However, after finitely many blowing-ups and a change of base, we can make things slightly better.

Lemma 3.1.12 ([4] Th. III.10.3). Let $f: S \to B$ be any fibration. There always exists a composition of blow-ups $\pi: S_1 \to S$ and a finite morphism $B' \to B$ such that $f': S' = S_1 \times_B B' \to B'$ has reduced fibres.

Remark 3.1.13. The composition of blow-ups π of Lemma 3.1.12 can be chosen to be an isomorphism over the regular points of f. Equivalently, the necessary blow-ups are performed at the critical points of f and the subsequent exceptional divisors.

We have seen in Part I that some kinds of fibrations can be recognized from properties of the algebra of cohomology of the total space. We close this section with a version of the Generalized Castelnuovo-de Franchis Theorem specially adapted to our case.

Theorem 3.1.14 (Castelnuovo-de Franchis, [9] 1.9). Let S be a compact complex surface, and $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k \in H^0(S, \Omega_S^1)$ linearly independent holomorphic 1-forms such that $\alpha_i \wedge \alpha_j = 0$ for every $1 \leq i, j \leq k$. Then there exists a fibration $f: S \to B$ over a curve such that $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k \in f^*H^0(B, \omega_B)$, and hence $g(B) \geq k$.

3.2 $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ and $\omega_{S/B}$

In this section we focus on the properties of the sheaves $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ and $\omega_{S/B}$, which will frequently appear in all the following chapters.

As a first observation, the surjectivity of f implies that the dual

$$f^*\omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S$$
 (3.2)

of the tangent map of f is an injection of sheaves. This allows us to make the following

Definition 3.2.1. The cokernel of the map (3.2) is the sheaf of relative differentials of f, and it is denoted by $\Omega^1_{S/B}$.

Its dual (that is, the kernel of the tangent map) is called the relative tangent sheaf, and it is denoted by $T_{S/B}$.

Define also the Jacobian ideal sheaf of f as

$$J := \operatorname{im} \left(T_f : T_S \longrightarrow f^* T_B \right) \otimes f^* \omega_B \subseteq \mathcal{O}_S.$$

It is the ideal of a subscheme Z supported on the critical points of f. Denote by Z_d the divisorial component of Z, and by Z_p the subscheme supported on points.

It is immediate to see that both $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ and $T_{S/B}$ are locally free away from Z, and that their restrictions to any smooth fibre C are precisely the canonical and tangent bundles of C, respectively.

Remark 3.2.2. In [38], Serrano defined a sheaf (also denoted by J) which is essentially our Jacobian ideal sheaf, but without the twisting by $f^*\omega_B$.

Next we introduce the second sheaf mentioned in the title of the section.

Definition 3.2.3. The line bundle $\omega_{S/B} = \omega_S \otimes (f^* \omega_B)^{\vee}$ is the relative canonical sheaf of the fibration.

The adjunction formula says that the canonical sheaf of any smooth curve C contained in S is

$$\omega_S(C)_{|C} = \omega_S \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(C) = \omega_S \otimes N_{C/S}.$$

In the case $C = C_b$ is a smooth fibre, the normal bundle is trivial, isomorphic to $T_{B,b} \otimes \mathcal{O}_C$, which turns out to be $(f^* \omega_B)_{|C}^{\vee}$. Therefore, the restriction of $\omega_{S/B}$ to C is also naturally the canonical sheaf of C.

Remark 3.2.4. The sheaves $\Omega^1_{S/B}$, $T_{S/B}$ and $\omega_{S/B}$ can be analogously defined for any fibration, but some of the properties we list below may not have an analogous version in higher dimensions.

We summarize now the main properties relating $\Omega_{S/B}^1$, $T_{S/B}$, J and $\omega_{S/B}$, but we need a little bit more of notation. Let $\{E_i\}$ be the set of irreducible components of the singular fibers, and let ν_i be the multiplicity of E_i as a component of the corresponding singular fibre.

Lemma 3.2.5 ([38] Lemma 1.1). Some properties of J, $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ and $T_{S/B}$.

1. The relative tangent sheaf $T_{S/B}$ is an invertible sheaf, whose inverse is

$$\left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1}\right)^{\vee\vee} = T_{S/B}^{\vee} \cong \omega_{S/B} \left(-\sum_{i} \left(\nu_{i} - 1\right) E_{i}\right).$$

2. $J^{\vee\vee} \cong \mathcal{O}_S(-\sum_i (\nu_i - 1) E_i)$. Therefore $Z_d = \sum_i (\nu_i - 1) E_i$ and

$$J = J^{\vee \vee} \otimes I_{Z_p} = I_{Z_p} \left(-\sum_i \left(\nu_i - 1 \right) E_i \right).$$

3. $\mathcal{O}_{Z_p} \cong J^{\vee\vee}/J$ has length

$$c_2(S) + c_1(T_{S/B}) c_1(J^{\vee} \otimes f^* \omega_B).$$

Lemma 3.2.6. The sheaves $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ and $\omega_{S/B}$ fit into the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow (f^* \omega_B (Z_d))_{|Z_d} \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \omega_{S/B} \longrightarrow \omega_{S/B|Z} \longrightarrow 0$$

In particular, if all the fibres are reduced, then $Z = Z_p$, α is injective and $\Omega^1_{S/B} \cong \omega_{S/B} \otimes J$ is torsion-free. In general, $\omega_{S/B} \otimes J$ is the quotient of $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ by its torsion subsheaf.

Proof. Let us first recall the construction of the map $\alpha : \Omega^1_{S/B} \to \omega_{S/B}$. Twisting by $f^*\omega_B$ the exact sequence defining $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ one gets

$$0 \longrightarrow (f^* \omega_B)^{\otimes 2} \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \otimes \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \otimes \Omega^1_{S/B} \longrightarrow 0.$$

Wedge product induces a map $\widetilde{\beta} : f^* \omega_B \otimes \Omega^1_S \to \omega_S$ that sends $(f^* \omega_B)^{\otimes 2}$ to zero. Therefore, $\widetilde{\beta}$ induces a map $\beta : f^* \omega_B \otimes \Omega^1_{S/B} \to \omega_S$. The map α is

 β twisted by $(f^*\omega_B)^{\vee}$. Denoting by $\tilde{\alpha}$ the corresponding twist of $\tilde{\beta}$, we get the following diagram with exact rows:

The snake lemma says that $\operatorname{coker} \alpha = \operatorname{coker} \widetilde{\alpha}$ and $\ker \alpha = (\ker \widetilde{\alpha}) / f^* \omega_B$, so it is enough to study the map $\widetilde{\alpha}$. But $\widetilde{\alpha}$ is exactly the tangent map T_f twisted by ω_S , so by the definition of J, Z and Z_d we get

$$\ker \widetilde{\alpha} = \ker (T_f) \otimes \omega_S = T_{S/B} \otimes \omega_{S/B} \otimes f^* \omega_B = f^* \omega_B (Z_d)$$

and

$$\operatorname{coker} \widetilde{\alpha} = \operatorname{coker} (T_f) \otimes \omega_S = (\mathcal{O}_S/J) \otimes \omega_{S/B} = \omega_{S/B|Z}.$$

To conclude, just note that the inclusion $f^*\omega_B \hookrightarrow \ker \widetilde{\alpha}$ is induced by the natural map $\mathcal{O}_S \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_S(Z_d)$, so

$$\ker \alpha = f^* \omega_B \otimes \left(\mathcal{O}_S \left(Z_d \right) / \mathcal{O}_S \right) = \left(f^* \omega_B \left(Z_d \right) \right)_{|Z_d}.$$

Remark 3.2.7. Taking global sections on the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \longrightarrow 0$$

we obtain that there is a natural inclusion $V \hookrightarrow H^0\left(S, \Omega^1_{S/B}\right)$. Hence V can be seen as a subspace of the global sections of either $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ or $f_*\Omega^1_{S/B}$. Restricting the evaluation map we obtain

$$V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B \longrightarrow f_*\Omega^1_{S/B},$$

which composed with $f_*\alpha$ gives

$$V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B \longrightarrow f_* \omega_{S/B}.$$

Over a general regular value $b \in B$, both maps agree with the inclusion of Lemma 3.1.7, and are therefore injective maps of sheaves.

Since the base of our fibration is a curve, $\omega_{S/B}$ has some specially nice properties. First of all, it works as a relative dualizing sheaf.

Lemma 3.2.8 ([4] Th. III.12.3). The relative canonical sheaf $\omega_{S/B}$ is the relative dualizing sheaf, that is, for every locally free sheaf \mathcal{F} on S, there is a natural isomorphism

 $f_*\left(\mathcal{F}^{\vee}\otimes\omega_{S/B}\right)\stackrel{\cong}{\longrightarrow}\left(R^1f_*\mathcal{F}\right)^{\vee}.$

Another good property of $\omega_{S/B}$ follows from the work [15] of Fujita, where the direct image of the relative canonical sheaf is studied. The most interesting results for our purposes are the next ones.

Theorem 3.2.9 ([15] Th. 3.1). Let $f : X \to B$ be a Kähler fibration over a curve. Then

$$f_*\omega_{X/B}\cong \mathcal{O}_B^{\oplus h}\oplus \mathcal{E},$$

where

• $h = h^1(B, f_*\omega_X)$, and

• \mathcal{E} is locally free and such that $H^1(B, \mathcal{E} \otimes \omega_B) = 0$.

Corollary 3.2.10 (of the proof of Theorem 3.2.9). In the case that X = S is a surface, the trivial part $\mathcal{O}_B^{\oplus h}$ is precisely the image of the inclusion

$$V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B \longrightarrow f_* \omega_{S/B},$$

in Remark 3.2.7. In particular, $h = q_f$.

3.3 THE IRREGULAR CASE

We devote this section to discuss some facts about the morphism on Albanese varieties induced by a fibration between irregular varieties, and their implications on the fibration itself.

Given any fibration $f: X \to Y$, the universal property of the Albanese map gives a morphism between the respective Albanese varieties

$$a_f = \operatorname{Alb}(f) : \operatorname{Alb}(X) \to \operatorname{Alb}(Y).$$

Moreover, if X_y is any smooth fibre, the inclusion $\iota_y : X_y \hookrightarrow X$ induces another morphism $a_y : \text{Alb}(X_y) \to \text{Alb}(X)$, which fits with the previous one into the following commutative diagram



(where the vertical arrows are the corresponding Albanese morphisms).

Of course, the composition $h = a_f \circ a_y$ is the constant map to the point $a_Y(y)$. Therefore, the image $a_y(\text{Alb}(X_y))$ is contained in (a suitable translate of) the kernel of a_f , and the rigidity of Abelian subvarieties implies that all these images are isomorphic.

Let us focus now in the case of a fibred surface $f: S \to B$. If $C = C_b$ is a general (smooth) fibre, the above diagram looks now like



By the above discussion, the image $a_b(J(C))$ of the Jacobian variety of Cis contained in $a_f^{-1}(a_B(b)) \cong A := \ker a_f$. In fact, $\ker a_f$ is connected, so it is an Abelian variety of dimension q_f . Furthermore, Lemma 3.1.7 implies that the map $J(C) \to A$ is surjective, because its cotangent map at any point is precisely the inclusion $V \hookrightarrow H^0(C, \omega_C)$.

Let us consider the extremal cases of the inequalities $0 \leq q_f \leq g$. On the one hand, if $q_f = g$, then all the Jacobian varieties $J(C_b)$ are isogenous to A. Since the set of Abelian varieties isogenous to A is discrete, all the $J(C_b)$ must be isomorphic. In fact, with a little of care, Beauville showed that also the principal polarizations coincide, hence f is isotrivial by Torelli's theorem. This is the starting point of the proof of a much stronger result (Lemma in the Appendix of [12]), which asserts that a fibration with $q_f = g$ is in fact trivial (birational to a product).

On the other hand, if $q_f = 0$, then a_f is an isogeny, but since it has also connected fibres, it is indeed an isomorphism and f is simply the Albanese map of S.

As for the remaining cases, the inequalities $0 < q_f < g$ imply that the maps $J(C_b) \to A$ are not zero and have positive-dimensional kernel, hence the Jacobian varieties $J(C_b)$ are not simple. This restricts the possible fibres of such a fibration to the union of countably many closed subvarieties of the moduli space \mathcal{M}_g of curves of genus g.

To close this section, note that the Albanese image $a_S(S)$ is contained in $\mathcal{A} := a_f^{-1}(a_B(B))$, which is a trivial fibre bundle over $a_B(B) \cong B$, with constant fibre A. In this way, taking any contractible open subset $U \subset B$, we can trivialize \mathcal{A}_U and obtain a map

$$\Phi: f^{-1}(U) \xrightarrow{a_S} \mathcal{A}_U \cong A \times U \xrightarrow{p} A$$

from any "tubular" open set of S to the Abelian variety A. This is the setting of the Volumetric Theorem ([34] Th. 1.5.3), which will appear a few times in the forthcoming chapters.

3.4 More numerical invariants

We have already introduced the genus g and the relative irregularity q_f of a fibration $f: S \to B$. In this section we introduce a few more numerical invariants, summarizing their main properties and their relations with the isotriviality of a fibration of genus $g \ge 2$. Denote by C any smooth fibre.

From a topological point of view, we can consider the *relative Euler* characteristic

$$e_f := e(S) - e(B)e(C) = e(S) - 4(g(B) - 1)(g - 1).$$

It is always non-negative, and can be written as a sum of non-negative quantities associated to the singular fibres ([5] Prop. X.10). Therefore $e_f = 0$ if and only if f has no singular fibres (i.e. f is smooth).

Taking into account the complex structure, we can first consider the *self-intersection of the relative canonical sheaf*,

$$K_f^2 := c_1 (\omega_{S/B})^2 = K_S^2 - 8 (g(B) - 1) (g - 1)$$

As e_f , it is always non-negative, and moreover, if $K_f^2 = 0$ then f is isotrivial. We can also define the *relative holomorphic Euler characteristic* as

$$\chi_f := \chi \left(\mathcal{O}_S \right) - \chi \left(\mathcal{O}_B \right) \chi \left(\mathcal{O}_C \right) =$$
$$= \chi \left(\mathcal{O}_S \right) - \left(g \left(B \right) - 1 \right) \left(g - 1 \right) = \deg f_* \omega_{S/B}.$$

This three invariants satisfy a relative version of the Noether's formula:

$$K_f^2 + e_f = 12\chi_f.$$

Hence, $\chi_f \ge 0$, and the equality implies that f is smooth and isotrivial (i.e., f is a fibre bundle).

In the case that f is not a fibre bundle, Xiao introduced in [43] the *slope* of f, defined as

$$\lambda_f := \frac{K_f^2}{\chi_f}.$$

In the same work, Xiao proved the so called *slope inequality*

$$\lambda_f \ge 4 - \frac{4}{g} \tag{3.3}$$

for a non-locally trivial fibration f of genus $g \ge 2$. This inequality had been proven before by Horikawa and Persson for hyperelliptic fibrations, and by Cornalba and Harris for semistable fibrations.

The last invariant we want to introduce is the Clifford index of a fibration, which plays a central role in the main result of this part of the Thesis (Theorem 6.3.4).

Definition 3.4.1 ([24] Def. 1.1). Given a fibration $f: S \to B$, its Clifford index is defined as

$$c_f = \max{\{\text{Cliff}(C_b) \mid C_b = f^{-1}(b) \text{ is smooth}\}},$$

which is attained for b ranging in a non-empty Zariski-open set.

The Clifford index allows to obtain several improvements of the inequality (3.3), for example, as those obtained by Konno in [24] and by Barja and Stoppino in [3].



DEFORMATIONS OF SMOOTH CURVES

In this chapter we deal with several aspects of deformations of (smooth) compact curves. In the first section we explore the relation between non-trivial infinitesimal deformations of a curve and its bicanonical embedding. The second section is simply a summary of the definition and main properties of the relative Ext sheaves, extracted from the first chapter of [7] (which is in turn taken from [21]). Finally, in the third section we use the relative Ext sheaves as a tool to construct global analogues of some concepts of the first section, considering arbitrary (local, compact) one-dimensional families of deformations (possibly with singular fibres).

4.1 INFINITESIMAL DEFORMATIONS

As mentioned above, we devote this section to study the relation between a non-trivial infinitesimal deformation of a smooth curve and the geometry of its bicanonical embedding. More precisely, we introduce the notion of a deformation being supported on an effective divisor, which is closely related to the span of the divisor in the bicanonical space. We also give upper and lower bounds for the rank of a deformation in terms of the numerical invariants of a supporting divisor (degree and dimension of the associated complete linear series), finding some relations with the Clifford index of the curve.

Almost all the definitions in this section are taken from [11], and most of the results (as well as some ideas of the proofs) already appeared in [17]. However, the latter contains some unaccuracies, hence we have preferred to include new versions of the results that are useful to our situation, adapting also some definitions and rewriting some proofs. Let C be a smooth curve of genus $g \geq 2$. An infinitesimal deformation of C is a proper flat morphism $\mathcal{C} \to \Delta$ over the spectrum of the dual numbers $\Delta = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[\epsilon] / (\epsilon^2)$, such that the special fibre (over $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}(\epsilon)$) is isomorphic to C.

Since the conormal sheaf $N_{C/\mathcal{C}}^{\vee}$ is trivial with fibre $T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee}$, the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow N_{C/\mathcal{C}}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \Omega_{\mathcal{C}|C}^1 \longrightarrow \omega_C \longrightarrow 0$$
(4.1)

determines an extension class $\xi \in H^1(C, T_C) \otimes T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee}$, which is nothing but the Kodaira-Spencer class of the deformation. Indeed, by choosing a generator of $T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \cong \mathbb{C}$, we can (and will very often do) think of ξ as an element of $H^1(C, T_C)$.

Throughout all the section we will assume that the deformation is not trivial, that is $\mathcal{C} \ncong C \times \Delta$, or equivalently, $\xi \neq 0$.

Denote by

$$\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}\left(H^0\left(C, \omega_C^{\otimes 2}\right)^{\vee}\right) = \mathbb{P}\left(H^1\left(C, T_C\right)\right)$$

the bicanonical space of C, and by $\phi_2 : C \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}$ the bicanonical embedding of C. Since $\xi \neq 0$, it determines a point $[\xi] \in \mathbb{P}$, which is in fact well defined, independently of the chosen isomorphism $T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \cong \mathbb{C}$.

Cup-product with ξ induces a map

$$\partial_{\xi} = \bigcup \xi : H^0(C, \omega_C) \longrightarrow H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$$

which coincides with the connecting homomorphism in the exact sequence of cohomology obtained form (4.1).

Definition 4.1.1. We define the rank of ξ as the rank of ∂_{ξ} , and denote it as

$$\operatorname{rk} \xi = \operatorname{rk} \partial_{\xi}.$$

Remark 4.1.2. If C is non-hyperelliptic, the map

$$H^1(C, T_C) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}\left(H^0(C, \omega_C), H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C)\right)$$

$$\xi \longmapsto \partial_{\xi}$$

is injective, hence no information is lost when considering ∂_{ξ} instead of ξ . However, if C is hyperelliptic, the above map is not injective, hence we may have $\operatorname{rk} \xi = 0$ even if $\xi \neq 0$. This exception is a manifestation of the failure of the infinitesimal Torelli Theorem for hyperelliptic curves. From now on, until the end of the section, $D = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i p_i$ will be an effective divisor on C, of degree $d = \deg D = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i$. We will also denote by $r = r(D) = h^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(D)) - 1$ the dimension of its complete linear series. The divisor D induces the exact sequences

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C(D) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_D(D) \longrightarrow 0 \tag{4.2}$$

and

$$0 \longrightarrow T_C \longrightarrow T_C(D) \longrightarrow T_C(D)_{|D} \longrightarrow 0, \tag{4.3}$$

with connecting homomorphisms

$$\partial_{\mathcal{O},D}: H^0(D,\mathcal{O}_D(D)) \longrightarrow H^1(C,\mathcal{O}_C)$$

and

$$\partial_{T,D}: H^0\left(D, T_C\left(D\right)_{|D}\right) \longrightarrow H^1\left(C, T_C\right).$$

We will denote their images as

$$\sigma_D = \operatorname{im} \partial_{\mathcal{O},D} = \ker \left(H^1 \left(C, \mathcal{O}_C \right) \longrightarrow H^1 \left(C, \mathcal{O}_C \left(D \right) \right) \right)$$

and

$$\tau_D = \operatorname{im} \partial_{T,D} = \ker \left(H^1(C, T_C) \longrightarrow H^1(C, T_C(D)) \right)$$

Lemma 4.1.3. Keeping the above notations,

1. dim $\sigma_D = d - r$ and

2. if
$$d < 2g - 2$$
, then dim $\tau_D = d$.

Proof. 1. From the exact sequence of cohomology of (4.2) and the definition of σ_D , the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathcal{O}_{C}) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathcal{O}_{C}(D)) \longrightarrow H^{0}(\mathcal{O}_{D}(D)) \longrightarrow \sigma_{D} \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact. Then

$$\dim \sigma_D = h^0 \left(\mathcal{O}_D \left(D \right) \right) - h^0 \left(\mathcal{O}_C \left(D \right) \right) + 1 = d - r.$$

2. The beginning of the cohomology sequence of (4.3) is

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(T_C) \longrightarrow H^0(T_C(D)) \longrightarrow H^0(T_C(D)_{|D}) \xrightarrow{\partial_{T,D}} H^1(T_C).$$

Since deg $T_C \leq \text{deg } T_C(D) = 2 - 2g + d < 0$, the first two terms vanish and the connecting homomorphism $\partial_{T,D}$ is injective. Therefore

$$\dim \tau_D = h^0 \left(T_C \left(D \right)_{|D} \right) = h^0 (\mathcal{O}_D) = \operatorname{length} \mathcal{O}_D = \operatorname{deg} D = d.$$

113

Remark 4.1.4. If D = p consists of a single point, then both σ_p and τ_p are one-dimensional, and the maps $p \mapsto \sigma_p \in \mathbb{P}\left(H^0(C, \omega_C)^{\vee}\right)$ and $p \mapsto \tau_p \in \mathbb{P}$ are precisely the canonical and bicanonical maps, respectively.

Definition 4.1.5. With the above notations, define the span of D as

$$\langle D \rangle = \mathbb{P}(\tau_D) \subseteq \mathbb{P}.$$

The next lemma is quite elementary (almost immediate), but will clarify the construction of the global analogue of $\langle D \rangle \subseteq \mathbb{P}$.

Lemma 4.1.6. The ideal sheaf $\mathcal{J}_D \subset \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}$ of $\langle D \rangle$ is the image of the map

$$H^0\left(C, \omega_C^{\otimes 2}\left(-D\right)\right) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(-1\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}.$$

Proof. Since $\langle D \rangle$ is a linear variety, its ideal sheaf is generated by linear forms, so we only need to see that the space $H^0(\mathbb{P}, \mathcal{J}_D(1))$ of linear equations defining $\langle D \rangle$ is $H^0(C, \omega_C^{\otimes 2}(-D))$. From the structural sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{J}_D \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\langle D \rangle} \to 0$$

of $\langle D \rangle$ we obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \to H^0\left(\mathcal{J}_D\left(1\right)\right) \to H^0\left(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}\left(1\right)\right) \cong H^0\left(C, \omega_C^{\otimes 2}\right) \to H^0\left(\mathcal{O}_{\langle D \rangle}\left(1\right)\right) \cong \tau_D^{\vee}.$$

The last map is the dual of the inclusion $\tau_D \hookrightarrow H^1(C, T_C)$, and therefore

$$H^{0}\left(\mathbb{P},\mathcal{J}_{D}\left(1\right)\right)\cong\left(H^{1}\left(C,T_{C}\left(D\right)\right)\right)^{\vee}\cong H^{0}\left(C,\omega_{C}^{\otimes2}\left(-D\right)\right)$$

because $H^1(C, T_C) \to H^1(C, T_C(D))$ is surjective.

Remark 4.1.7. One interpretation of the previous lemma is that $\langle D \rangle$ is the intersection of all the hyperplanes in \mathbb{P} that cut out on C at least the divisor D, which justifies the name span. In symbols:

$$\langle D \rangle = \langle \phi_2 (D) \rangle = \bigcap_{\substack{H \in \mathbb{P}^{\vee} \\ \phi_2^*(H) \ge D}} H$$

We now relate the divisor D and the deformation ξ , starting with a basic definition.

Definition 4.1.8. We say that the deformation ξ is supported on D if and only if $\xi \in \tau_D$.

Furthermore, if ξ is not supported on any strictly smaller effective divisor D' < D, we say that ξ is minimally supported on D.

Remark 4.1.9. The reason for the name is double. On the one hand, $\xi \in \tau_D$ means that there is a Laurent tail of a meromorphic vector bundle $\eta \in H^0\left(D, T_C(D)_{|D}\right)$ supported on D, such that $\xi = \partial_{T,D}(\eta)$. On the other hand, $\xi \in \tau_D$ if and only if $[\xi] \in \langle D \rangle$, that is, if $[\xi]$ is supported on the span of D in \mathbb{P} .

Remark 4.1.10. Observe that if D has the smallest degree among the divisors supporting ξ , then ξ is minimally supported on D, but not conversely. Indeed, ξ being minimally supported on a divisor D means that it is not possible to remove some point of D and still support ξ , but there is no reason for D to have minimal degree.

Remark 4.1.11. One could equivalently define ξ to be supported on the divisor D if and only if the top row in the following pull-back diagram is split.



Indeed, τ_D is the kernel of the map $H^1(C, T_C) \to H^1(C, T_C(D))$, which can be identified with the pull-back

 $\operatorname{Ext}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}^{1}\left(\omega_{C},\mathcal{O}_{C}\right)\longrightarrow\operatorname{Ext}_{\mathcal{O}_{C}}^{1}\left(\omega_{C}\left(-D\right),\mathcal{O}_{C}\right)$



However, for non-infinitesimal deformations (specially when the base is a compact curve) the splitting of the analogous pull-back is not always equivalent to the natural extension of Definition 4.1.8 (see Definition 4.3.13, Proposition 4.3.14 and Lemma 4.3.17).

Lemma 4.1.12. Suppose ξ is supported on D. Then

- 1. $H^0(C, \omega_C(-D)) \subseteq \ker \partial_{\xi}$, and
- 2. im $\partial_{\xi} \subseteq \sigma_D$.

Proof. Any 1-form $w \in H^0(C, \omega_C)$ induces (in fact, it is equivalent to) a map

$$w \cup : T_C \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_C,$$

and its restriction to $D, w_{|D} \in H^0(D, \omega_{C|D})$, induces

$$w_{|D} \cup : T_C(D)_{|D} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_D(D),$$

such that the diagram

is commutative.

Now, as we said in Remark 4.1.9, ξ is supported on D if and only if there is $\eta \in H^0\left(D, T_C(D)_{|D}\right)$ such that $\xi = \partial_{T,D}(\eta)$. Taking such an η , we can compute

$$\partial_{\xi}(w) = w \cup \xi = w \cup (\partial_{T,D}(\eta)) = \partial_{\mathcal{O},D}(w_{|D} \cup \eta)$$

$$(4.4)$$

Since $\sigma_D = \operatorname{im} \partial_{\mathcal{O},D}$, the second claim follows immediately.

As for the first claim, $w \in H^0(C, \omega_C(-D))$ if and only if $w_{|D} = 0$, which by (4.4) implies $\partial_{\xi}(w) = 0$ and the proof is done. Alternatively, the fact that ξ_D is split implies that all the sections of $\omega_C(-D)$ lift to sections of $\Omega^1_{C|C}$, and hence belong to the kernel of ∂_{ξ} .

Remark 4.1.13. Lemma 4.1.12 implies that if ξ is supported on a divisor D, the value of $\partial_{\xi}(w)$ depends only on the restriction $w_{|D}$. Furthermore, the proof shows that ∂_{ξ} can be factored as

$$H^{0}(C,\omega_{C}) \xrightarrow{rest_{D}} H^{0}(D,\omega_{C|D}) \xrightarrow{\cup \eta} H^{0}(D,\mathcal{O}_{D}(D)) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\mathcal{O},D}} H^{1}(C,\mathcal{O}_{C}),$$

where $\eta \in H^{0}\left(D, T_{C}\left(D\right)_{|D}\right)$ is a preimage of ξ by $\partial_{T,D}$.

Corollary 4.1.14. If ξ is supported on D, then $\operatorname{rk} \xi \leq \deg D - r(D)$.

Proof. It follows immediately from the facts that im $\partial_{\xi} \subseteq \sigma_D$ (Lemma 4.1.12) and dim $\sigma_D = d - r$ (Lemma 4.1.3).

After these preliminary results, we give the main Theorem of the section, which gives a *lower* bound for the rank of a deformation in terms of a supporting divisor.

Definition 4.1.15. Given any divisor D, we define its Clifford index as

$$\operatorname{Cliff}\left(D\right) = \operatorname{deg} D - 2r\left(D\right).$$

Remark 4.1.16. With the above definition, the Clifford index of the curve C is

$$\operatorname{Cliff}(C) = \min \left\{ \operatorname{Cliff}(D) \mid h^0(\mathcal{O}_C(D)), h^1(\mathcal{O}_C(D)) \ge 2 \right\}$$

The following is essentially the main statement of Theorem 2.5 in [17], with a slightly modified proof.

Theorem 4.1.17. If ξ is minimally supported on D, then

 $\operatorname{rk} \xi \geq \operatorname{deg} D - 2r(D) = \operatorname{Cliff}(D).$

Proof. Let $\eta \in H^0(D, T_C(D)|_D)$ be such that $\partial_{T,D}(\eta) = \xi$. From the factorization of Remark 4.1.13, and decomposing the restriction $rest_D$ as

$$H^{0}(C,\omega_{C}) \longrightarrow W = H^{0}(C,\omega_{C}) / H^{0}(C,\omega_{C}(-D)) \hookrightarrow H^{0}(D,\omega_{C|D}),$$

we obtain the following commutative diagram



Claim: If ξ is minimally supported on D, then $\cup \eta$ is an isomorphism.

Assuming the claim for a moment, the proof finishes as follows. Clearly, $\operatorname{rk} \xi = \operatorname{rk} \psi = \dim W - \dim \ker \psi$. On the one hand, by Riemann-Roch, $\dim W = d - r$. On the other hand, since $\cup \eta$ is injective

$$\ker \psi \cong \ker \left(\partial_{\mathcal{O}, D \mid \operatorname{im} \widetilde{\psi}} \right) \subseteq \ker \partial_{\mathcal{O}, D},$$

and hence dim ker $\psi \leq \dim \ker \partial_{\mathcal{O},D} = r$. Summing up, we finally obtain

$$\operatorname{rk} \xi \ge (d-r) - r = d - 2r.$$

Proof of the Claim: Let $D = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i p_i$, with $p_i \neq p_j$ for $i \neq j$, and for each i let z_i be a local coordinate centered at p_i . Then $\mathcal{O}_D \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \mathbb{C}[z_i] / (z_i^{n_i})$, and therefore

$$H^{0}\left(D, T_{C}\left(D\right)_{|D}\right) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\mathbb{C}\left[z_{i}\right]}{\left(z_{i}^{n_{i}}\right)} \left\langle \frac{1}{z_{i}^{n_{i}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}} \right\rangle \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \bigoplus_{j=1}^{n_{i}} \mathbb{C}\left\langle \frac{1}{z_{i}^{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_{i}} \right\rangle.$$

Hence, there exist scalars $\eta_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\eta = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} \eta_{ij} \frac{1}{z_i^j} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i},$$

and the minimality of D implies that $\eta_{in_i} \neq 0$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, k$. Indeed, ξ is supported on $D' = \sum_{i=1}^{k} m_i p_i < D$ if and only if it can be written as $\xi = \partial_{T,D'}(\eta')$ for some

$$\eta' = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{m_i} \eta'_{ij} \frac{1}{z_i^j} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}.$$

But the map $T_{C}(D') \xrightarrow{+(D-D')} T_{C}(D)$ induces a commutative diagram

where

$$\alpha\left(\frac{1}{z_i^{m_i}}\frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}\right) = z_i^{n_i - m_i}\left(\frac{1}{z_i^{n_i}}\frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}\right) = \frac{1}{z_i^{m_i}}\frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}.$$

Therefore, if $\eta_{in_i} = 0$ for some *i*, then ξ would be supported on $D - p_i$, contradicting the minimality of D.

Let us now compute the expression of $\cup \eta$ in these coordinates to show that $\eta_{in_i} \neq 0$ for all *i* implies that it is an isomorphism. $H^0(D, \omega_{C|D})$ and $H^0(D, \mathcal{O}_D(D))$ can be written explicitly as

$$H^{0}\left(D,\omega_{C|D}\right) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\mathbb{C}\left[z_{i}\right]}{\left(z_{i}^{n_{i}}\right)} \left\langle dz_{i|D}\right\rangle \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \bigoplus_{j=0}^{n_{i}-1} \mathbb{C}\left\langle z_{i}^{j} dz_{i|D}\right\rangle,$$
(4.5)

and

$$H^{0}(D,\mathcal{O}_{D}(D)) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \frac{\mathbb{C}[z_{i}]}{(z_{i}^{n_{i}})} \left\langle \frac{1}{z_{i}^{n_{i}}} \right\rangle \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{k} \bigoplus_{j=1}^{n_{i}} \mathbb{C}\left\langle \frac{1}{z_{i}^{j}} \right\rangle.$$
(4.6)

Since

$$(z_i^l dz_{i|D}) \cup \left(\frac{1}{z_i^m} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}\right) = \left(\frac{1}{z_i^{m-l}}\right)$$

(which is zero if $l \ge m$) and $\left(z_i^l dz_{i|D}\right) \cup \left(\frac{1}{z_j^m} \frac{\partial}{\partial z_j}\right) = 0$ for $i \ne j$, we have

$$(z_i^l dz_{i|D}) \cup \eta = \sum_{j=1}^{n_i-l} \eta_{i,j+l} \frac{1}{z_i^j}.$$

Hence, in the basis of (4.5) and (4.6), $\cup \eta$ is given by a matrix of the form

$$\left(\begin{array}{cccc} M_1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & M_2 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & M_k \end{array}\right),\,$$

where each block M_i has the form

$$M_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} \eta_{i1} & \eta_{i2} & \dots & \eta_{in_{i}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \eta_{i,n_{i}-1} & \eta_{in_{i}} & \dots & 0 \\ \eta_{in_{i}} & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

It is now clear that $\cup \eta$ is an isomorphism if and only if $\eta_{in_i} \neq 0$ for every i, and the theorem is proved.

4.2 **Relative Ext sheaves**

Since they will play a central role in the next section, we wish to recall the definition and some of the main properties of the relative Ext sheaves, which can be found in the first chapter of [7].

Definition 4.2.1 (Relative ext sheaves, [7] Def. 1.1.1). Given a morphism of schemes (or more generally, of ringed spaces) $f : X \to Y$, and an \mathcal{O}_X module \mathcal{F} , we define $\operatorname{Ext}_f^p(\mathcal{F}, -)$ as the p-th right derived functor of the left-exact functor $f_* \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{F}, -)$.

Example 4.2.2 ([7], Def.-Remark 1.1.2). Some particular cases:

- 1. If $Y = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}$ is a point, then $\operatorname{Ext}_{f}^{p}(\mathcal{F}, -) = \operatorname{Ext}_{\mathcal{O}_{X}}^{p}(\mathcal{F}, -)$, the global Ext functor. If furthermore $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}_{X}$, $\operatorname{Ext}_{f}^{p}(\mathcal{O}_{X}, -) = H^{p}(X, -)$ is the usual sheaf cohomology.
- 2. If f is the identity (hence Y = X), then $\mathcal{E}xt_f^p(\mathcal{F}, -) = \mathcal{E}xt_{\mathcal{O}_X}^p(\mathcal{F}, -)$ is the usual local $\mathcal{E}xt$ functor.

3. If $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}_X$, then $f_* \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{O}_X, -) = f_*$ is the usual push-forward functor, so that $\mathcal{E}xt_f^p(\mathcal{O}_X, -) = R^p f_*$ are the higher-direct image functors.

Theorem 4.2.3. Some properties:

1. ([7] Th. 1.1.3) For any \mathcal{O}_X -modules $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}, \mathcal{E}xt_f(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G})$ is the sheaf associated to the presheaf

$$U \mapsto \operatorname{Ext}_{\mathcal{O}_{f^{-1}(U)}}^{p} \left(\mathcal{F}_{|f^{-1}(U)}, \mathcal{G}_{|f^{-1}(U)} \right).$$

In particular, for any open subset $W \subseteq Y$,

$$\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p}\left(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}\right)_{|f^{-1}(W)}\cong\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p}\left(\mathcal{F}_{|f^{-1}(W)},\mathcal{G}_{|f^{-1}(W)}\right).$$

2. ([7] Th. 1.1.4) If \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{N} are locally free sheaves of finite rank on X and Y, respectively, then

$$\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p}\left(\mathcal{F}\otimes\mathcal{L},-\otimes f^{*}\mathcal{N}\right)\cong\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p}\left(\mathcal{F},-\otimes\mathcal{L}^{\vee}\otimes f^{*}\mathcal{N}\right)\cong\cong\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p}\left(\mathcal{F},-\otimes\mathcal{L}^{\vee}\right)\otimes\mathcal{N}.$$

3. ([7] Th. 1.1.5) If $0 \to \mathcal{F}' \to \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}'' \to 0$ is an exact sequence of \mathcal{O}_X -modules, and \mathcal{G} is another \mathcal{O}_X -module, then there is a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p-1}\left(\mathcal{F}',\mathcal{G}\right) \longrightarrow$$
$$\longrightarrow \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p}\left(\mathcal{F}'',\mathcal{G}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p}\left(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G}\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p}\left(\mathcal{F}',\mathcal{G}\right) \longrightarrow$$
$$\longrightarrow \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p+1}\left(\mathcal{F}'',\mathcal{G}\right) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

4. (Local to global spectral sequence, [7] Th. 1.2.1) Suppose $g: Y \to Z$ is another morphism, and denote $h = g \circ f$. For any \mathcal{O}_X -modules \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} there is a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = R^p g_* \operatorname{\mathcal{E}xt}_f^q \left(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \right) \Rightarrow \operatorname{\mathcal{E}xt}_h^{p+q} \left(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \right).$$

5. (Coherence, [7] Th. 1.3.1) If f is projective and \mathcal{F} , \mathcal{G} are coherent \mathcal{O}_X -modules, then $\mathcal{E}xt^p_f(\mathcal{F},\mathcal{G})$ is a coherent \mathcal{O}_Y -module.

4.3 GLOBAL CONSTRUCTIONS

In this last section we consider a non-isotrivial fibration of a smooth surface over a smooth (not necessarily compact) curve, considered as a onedimensional family of curves. We extend some of the constructions of Section 4.1 in order to obtain geometric tools to study the family, and more explicitly, to develop the notion of supporting divisor (or subscheme, more generally). As mentioned in the previous section, relative Ext sheaves are an essential tool, as well as some results of Chapter 3 relating the sheaf of relative differentials and the relative dualizing sheaf.

Let $f: S \to B$ be a non-isotrivial fibration of a smooth surface S over a smooth curve B. For any $b \in B$, let $C_b = S \times_B \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}(b)$ be the fibre over b. Denote by $B^o \subseteq B$ the open set of regular values, so that C_b is smooth if and only if $b \in B^o$, and denote also by $S^o = f^{-1}(B^o)$. We will assume that the generic (smooth) fibres have genus $g \geq 2$.

For every smooth fibre $C = C_b$, the fibration f induces an infinitesimal deformation, whose Kodaira-Spencer class $\xi_b \in H^1(C, T_C) \otimes T_{B,b}^{\vee}$ is the extension class of

$$0 \longrightarrow N_{C/S}^{\vee} = \mathcal{O}_C \otimes T_{B,b}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \Omega_{S|C}^1 \longrightarrow \omega_C \longrightarrow 0,$$

obtained by restricting the sequence

$$\xi: \quad 0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \longrightarrow 0 \tag{4.7}$$

defining the sheaf of relative differentials $\Omega^1_{S/B}$.

Since the fibration f is not isotrivial, $\xi_b \neq 0$ for general $b \in B^o$ and hence we can consider the point $[\xi_b] \in \mathbb{P}_b := \mathbb{P}(H^1(C_b, T_{C_b}))$. Furthermore, if $D \subset S$ is any divisor, we can also ask whether ξ_b is supported on $D_b = D_{|C_b}$, and if the answer is positive, what consequences for the fibration f does it have.

The aim of this section is to *glue* the constructions of Section 4.1 to the case of a smooth surface fibred over a curve (that is, a one-dimensional family of curves), extending them also to the singular fibres. Some of the ideas used here also appear in [37].

The first object to globalize is the ambient space: the vector space $H^1(C, T_C) \cong H^0(C, \omega_C^{\otimes 2})^{\vee}$ and its projectivization.

Definition 4.3.1. Let \mathcal{E} be the sheaf on B defined as

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_f^1\left(\Omega_{S/B}^1, f^*\omega_B\right) \cong \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_f^1\left(\Omega_{S/B}^1, \mathcal{O}_S\right) \otimes \omega_B,$$

and let

$$\mathbb{P} = \operatorname{Proj}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \left(\operatorname{Sym}^{*} \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \right)$$

be the associated projective bundle, with projection $\pi : \mathbb{P} \to B$.

Note that \mathcal{E}^{\vee} is torsion free over a smooth curve, hence it is locally free and \mathbb{P} is actually a projective bundle.

Recall that the *relative tangent sheaf* is defined as

$$T_{S/B} = \left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1}\right)^{\vee} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}\left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{S}\right).$$

Lemma 4.3.2. There is an injection

$$R^1 f_* T_{S/B} \otimes \omega_B \hookrightarrow \mathcal{E}$$

which is an isomorphism over B° . In particular, for any regular value $b \in B^{\circ}$ there is a natural isomorphism

$$\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathbb{C}(b) \cong H^1(C_b, T_{C_b}) \otimes T_{B,b}^{\vee}.$$

Proof. The injection is obtained directly from the local-global spectral sequence

$$R^{p}f_{*}\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}^{q}\left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1},f^{*}\omega_{B}\right)\Longrightarrow\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{p+q}\left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1},f^{*}\omega_{B}\right),$$

since the beginning of the corresponding five-term exact sequence is

$$R^{1}f_{*}\left(\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}\left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1}, f^{*}\omega_{B}\right)\right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{1}\left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1}, f^{*}\omega_{B}\right),$$

and clearly

$$R^{1}f_{*}\left(\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}\left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1}, f^{*}\omega_{B}\right)\right) \cong R^{1}f_{*}\left(T_{S/B}\otimes f^{*}\omega_{B}\right) \cong R^{1}f_{*}T_{S/B}\otimes\omega_{B}$$

by the projection formula.

As for the statement about the regular values, Lemma 3.2.6 implies that $\Omega^1_{S/B|S^o} \cong \omega_{S/B|S^o}$ and $\left(\Omega^1_{S/B|S^o}\right)^{\vee} = T_{S/B|S^o}$ are both locally free. Therefore, using Theorem 4.2.3 we get

$$\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{1}\left(\Omega_{S/B|S^{o}}^{1},\mathcal{O}_{S^{o}}\right)\otimes\omega_{B^{o}}\cong\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{1}\left(\mathcal{O}_{S^{o}},T_{S/B|S^{o}}\right)\otimes\omega_{B^{o}}\cong\\\cong\left(R^{1}f_{*}T_{S/B|S^{o}}\right)\otimes\omega_{B^{o}}=\left(R^{1}f_{*}T_{S/B}\otimes\omega_{B}\right)_{|B^{o}}.$$

Finally, $T_{S/B|C_b} = T_{C_b}$ for any smooth fibre, and since the relative dimension of f is 1, the base-change map $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathbb{C}(b) \to H^1(C_b, T_{C_b}) \otimes T_{B,b}^{\vee}$ is an isomorphism for every $b \in B^o$.

By the previous Lemma, the fibres of \mathbb{P} over the regular values are isomorphic to the bicanonical spaces of the fibres, as wanted. The twisting by ω_B (or $T_{B,b}^{\vee}$) may seem strange, but it is indeed absolutely natural, as mentioned at the beginning of Section 4.1. Moreover, although we could forget about the ω_B because of the isomorphism $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{E}) \cong \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{E} \otimes T_B)$, it is convenient to keep it in order to simplify the next construction.

We define now a morphism $\gamma: B \to \mathbb{P}$ (in fact, a section of $\pi: \mathbb{P} \to B$), which maps every regular value $b \in B^o$ to $[\xi_b]$. Recall that the fibration $f: S \to B$ defines an element $\xi \in \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{O}_S}\left(\Omega^1_{S/B}, f^*\omega_B\right)$ (the extension class of (4.7)). Now, the spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = H^p\left(B, \mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_f^q\left(\Omega_{S/B}^1, f^*\omega_B\right)\right) \Longrightarrow \mathrm{Ext}_{\mathcal{O}_S}^{p+q}\left(\Omega_{S/B}^1, f^*\omega_B\right)$$
(4.8)

gives the map

$$\rho : \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}\left(\Omega^{1}_{S/B}, f^{*}\omega_{B}\right) \longrightarrow H^{0}\left(B, \mathcal{E}\operatorname{xt}^{1}_{f}\left(\Omega^{1}_{S/B}, f^{*}\omega_{B}\right)\right) = H^{0}\left(B, \mathcal{E}\right).$$

Lemma 4.3.3. The map ρ is an isomorphism.

Proof. By the five-term exact sequence associated to the spectral sequence (4.8), we have

$$\ker \rho = H^1\left(B, f_* \operatorname{\mathcal{H}om}_{\mathcal{O}_S}\left(\Omega^1_{S/B}, f^*\omega_B\right)\right)$$

and

coker
$$\rho \subseteq H^2\left(B, f_* \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_S}\left(\Omega^1_{S/B}, f^*\omega_B\right)\right)$$
.

Since dim B = 1, it is clear that coker $\rho = 0$. It remains to show that ker $\rho = 0$, and we will directly show that $f_* \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_S} \left(\Omega^1_{S/B}, f^*\omega_B\right) = 0$. Indeed,

$$f_* \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_S} \left(\Omega^1_{S/B}, f^* \omega_B \right) \cong \left(f_* T_{S/B} \right) \otimes \omega_B.$$

Since $T_{S/B}$ is torsion-free, so is $f_*T_{S/B}$, and since the base B is a curve, $f_*T_{S/B}$ is a vector bundle of rank $h^0(C_b, T_{S/B|C_b})$ for general $b \in B$. In particular, if $b \in B^o$ is a regular value, then $T_{S/B|C_b} \cong T_{C_b}$, which has no sections because we are assuming $g(C_b) \ge 2$. Therefore, $f_*T_{S/B} = 0$ and the proof is done.

Because of Lemma 4.3.3, we can identify ξ with a section $\rho(\xi)$ of \mathcal{E} , which by construction maps any regular value $b \in B^o$ to the Kodaira-Spencer class ξ_b of the deformation of C_b . Since we assumed the fibration f to be nonisotrivial, $\rho(\xi)$ does not vanish identically and induces the wanted section $\gamma: B \to \mathbb{P}$.

Remark 4.3.4. We can construct $\gamma : B \to \mathbb{P}$ more formally as follows. Consider the evaluation of $\rho(\xi)$

$$\mathbb{C}\left\langle \rho\left(\xi\right)\right\rangle \otimes\mathcal{O}_{B}\cong\mathcal{O}_{B}\longrightarrow\mathcal{E},$$

and let $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{O}_B$ be the image of its dual \mathcal{E}^{\vee} . According to [22], Proposition II.7.12, the surjection $\mathcal{E}^{\vee} \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{M}$ corresponds to a map $\gamma : B \to \mathbb{P}$ such that $\gamma^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1) = \mathcal{M}$, and it is easy to see that it is the section we want.

The next step is to construct (up to blowing-up some points of S contained in the singular fibres) a B-morphism $\phi : S \to \mathbb{P}$ (i.e. such that $\pi \circ \phi = f$) inducing the bicanonical map on the smooth fibres. Following Proposition II.7.12 in [22] as in the previous remark, it must correspond to a line bundle \mathcal{L}_{ϕ} on S and a map $f^* \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{L}_{\phi}$, surjective at least on $S^o = f^{-1}(B^o)$.

Lemma 4.3.5. There is a natural morphism of sheaves on S

 $f^* \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \left(\Omega^1_{S/B}\right)^{\vee \vee} \otimes \omega_{S/B} \otimes f^* T_B,$

which is surjective on S^{o} and induces the bicanonical map on any smooth fibre.

Proof. We have seen above (Lemma 4.3.2) that there is an injective map of sheaves $R^1 f_* T_{S/B} \otimes \omega_B \hookrightarrow \mathcal{E}$. Dualizing we get a map

$$\mathcal{E}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \left(R^1 f_* T_{S/B} \otimes \omega_B \right)^{\vee} \cong f_* \left(\left(\Omega^1_{S/B} \right)^{\vee \vee} \otimes \omega_{S/B} \right) \otimes T_B, \tag{4.9}$$

where in the last isomorphism we have used relative duality together with the fact (Lemma 3.2.8) that $\omega_{S/B}$ is the relative dualizing sheaf. Moreover, Lemma 4.3.2 also implies that the map (4.9) is an isomorphism on B° . Pulling back this map to S and composing with the "relative evaluation map"

$$f^*\left(f_*\left(\left(\Omega^1_{S/B}\right)^{\vee\vee}\otimes\omega_{S/B}\right)\otimes T_B\right)\longrightarrow \left(\Omega^1_{S/B}\right)^{\vee\vee}\otimes\omega_{S/B}\otimes f^*T_B,$$

we obtain the map we wanted:

$$f^* \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\phi} := \left(\Omega^1_{S/B}\right)^{\vee \vee} \otimes \omega_{S/B} \otimes f^* T_B.$$
(4.10)

Since $\Omega^1_{S/B|S^o} \cong \omega_{S/B|S^o}$ (Lemma 3.2.6), it holds $\Omega^1_{S/B|C_b} \cong \omega_{S/B|C_b} \cong \omega_{C_b}$, hence it is immediate that $\mathcal{L}_{\phi|C_b} \cong \omega_{C_b}^{\otimes 2} \otimes T_{B,b}$. Finally, since the bicanonical sheaf of a smooth fibre is globally generated, the map (4.10) is surjective on S^o , so that the induced rational map ϕ is defined on every smooth fibre and restricts to its bicanonical embedding.

Remark 4.3.6. Note that in this construction it has appeared an "extra" f^*T_B . This happens because of the choice of the sheaf \mathcal{E} instead of

 $\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_{f}^{1}\left(\Omega_{S/B}^{1}, \mathcal{O}_{S}\right)$, which has the same associated projective bundle, but with different tautological sheaf $\mathcal{O}(1)$. The only important consequence of this extra factor is that for any regular value $b \in B^{o}$,

$$\phi_b^* \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_b} \left(1 \right) = \omega_{C_b}^{\otimes 2} \otimes T_{B,b}$$

instead of simply the bicanonical sheaf (where $\mathbb{P}_b = \pi^{-1}(b)$ is the fibre of \mathbb{P} over b, and $\phi_b = \phi_{|C_b} : C_b \to \mathbb{P}_b$).

Finally, we present a way to globalize the span of a divisor on a fibre. Instead of considering only divisors on the surface, we will start from a more general point of view, taking into account any closed subscheme $\Gamma \subset S$. Recall the natural map $\alpha : \Omega^1_{S/B} \to \omega_{S/B}$ of Lemma 3.2.6.

Definition 4.3.7. For any closed subscheme $\Gamma \subset S$ with ideal sheaf \mathcal{I}_{Γ} , define

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma} = \alpha^{-1} \left(\omega_{S/B} \otimes \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma} \right) = \ker \left(\Omega^{1}_{S/B} \longrightarrow \omega_{S/B} \longrightarrow \omega_{S/B|\Gamma} \right),$$

and

$$\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma} = \mathcal{E} \operatorname{xt}_{f}^{1} \left(\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}, f^{*} \omega_{B} \right).$$

The inclusion $\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma} \subseteq \Omega^1_{S/B}$ induces maps of sheaves

$$\mathcal{E} \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}$$
 and its dual $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$. (4.11)

Lemma 4.3.8. The map $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$ is injective. Moreover, if $\Gamma_2 \subseteq \Gamma_1$ are two nested closed subschemes, then the induced map $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma_1}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma_2}^{\vee}$ is injective.

Proof. By replacing B by some open subset (removing the singular fibres and those containing isolated or embedded points of Γ), we may assume that $\Omega^1_{S/B} = \omega_{S/B}$ and that $\Gamma = \Gamma_{div}$ is an effective divisor. Then the map $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$ is simply the natural map

$$\left(f_*\omega_{S/B}^{\otimes 2}\left(-\Gamma\right)\right)\otimes T_B\longrightarrow \left(f_*\omega_{S/B}^{\otimes 2}\right)\otimes T_B,$$

which is clearly injective.

Going back to the original (complete) fibration, the kernel of $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$ must be supported on a closed subset, hence it is a torsion sheaf. But $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee}$ is torsion-free, so the kernel is zero and the claim is proved.

As for the second asertion, just note that the map $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma_1}^{\vee} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$ factors through $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma_1}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma_2}^{\vee}$. \Box

Using the sheaf \mathcal{E}_{Γ} we construct now a subvariety $\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma} \subseteq \mathbb{P}$ with the property that $\rho(\xi)$ belongs to the kernel of $H^0(\mathcal{E}) \to H^0(\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{L}})$ if and only if the image of γ is contained in \mathbb{P}_{Γ} . In this way, we generalize the notion of a deformation being supported on a divisor on a smooth fibre.

Composing the pull-back of $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{E}^{\vee}$ by π with the natural surjection $\pi^* \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1)$ we obtain a map

$$\mu_{\Gamma}(1): \pi^* \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1).$$

Definition 4.3.9. We define $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}} \subseteq \mathbb{P}$ as the closed subscheme whose sheaf of ideals \mathcal{J}_{Γ} is the image of

$$\mu_{\Gamma}: \pi^* \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}.$$

The subscheme $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}}$ is a first generalization of the span of a divisor on a fibre. However, it is not fine enough for us, since it may contain several irreducible components which do not dominate *B* and hence cannot contain the curve of deformations $\gamma(B)$.

Lemma 4.3.10. $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\Gamma}$ contains a unique irreducible component \mathbb{P}_{Γ} dominating B. The fibre of \mathbb{P}_{Γ} over a general point $b \in B^{o}$ is precisely the span of $\Gamma_{|C_{b}}$ (in the sense of Definition 4.1.5). Moreover, if $\Gamma' \subseteq S$ is another subscheme with the same components as Γ dominating B, then $\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma'} = \mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}$.

Proof. Let $D \subset S$ be the union of the (divisorial) components of Γ that dominate B, and let $U \subseteq B^o$ be the open set such that $\Gamma_{|f^{-1}(U)} = D_{|f^{-1}(U)}$ (the complement in B^o of the image of the components of Γ not dominating B). Then, as we have shown in the proof of Lemma 4.3.8,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma|f^{-1}(U)} \cong \left(\omega_{S/B}(-D)\right)_{|f^{-1}(U)}$$

and

$$\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma|U}^{\vee} \cong f_*\left(\omega_{S/B}^{\otimes 2}(-D)\right)_{|U} \otimes T_U.$$

Let $V \subseteq U$ be the open set where the function $b \mapsto h^0(C_b, \omega_{C_b}^{\otimes 2}(-D_b))$ is constant. For any $b \in V$, the base-change map gives an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \otimes \mathbb{C}(b) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^0\left(C_b, \omega_{C_b}^{\otimes 2}(-D_b)\right) \otimes T_{B,b}.$$

Therefore, the map μ_{Γ} restricts to

$$\mu_{\Gamma|\mathbb{P}_b}: H^0\left(C_b, \omega_{C_b}^{\otimes 2}\left(-D_b\right)\right) \otimes T_{B,b} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_b}(-1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_b},$$

which coincides with the map in Lemma 4.1.6 (the twisting by $T_{B,b}$ is explained in Remark 4.3.6). This shows that the fibres of $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}}$ over any $b \in V$ are the spans of $D_b = \Gamma_b$ and all of them have the same dimension. Hence $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}} \cap \pi^{-1}(V)$ is irreducible, and we define \mathbb{P}_{Γ} to be its closure in \mathbb{P} .

The last assertion follows because \mathbb{P}_{Γ} is determined by the components of Γ dominating B.

Definition 4.3.11 (Span of a subscheme). Given a subscheme $\Gamma \subset S$, we define its span as the subvariety \mathbb{P}_{Γ} of Lemma 4.3.10.

- **Remark 4.3.12.** 1. By Lemma 4.3.10, the span of a subscheme is determined only by its divisorial components not contained in fibres.
 - 2. Because of this reason, the span of Γ may not contain its image $\phi(\Gamma)$ by the relative bicanonical map.

Definition 4.3.13. Analogously to the case of an infinitesimal deformation, we say that the extension $\xi \in \operatorname{Ext}_{\mathcal{O}_S}^1\left(\Omega_{S/B}^1, f^*\omega_B\right) \cong H^0(B, \mathcal{E})$, or also the fibration f, is supported on a subscheme $\Gamma \subset S$ if it is mapped to zero by the map

$$H^0(B,\mathcal{E}) \longrightarrow H^0(B,\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma})$$

associated to (4.11).

As in the infinitesimal case, being supported on a subscheme Γ is related to its span in the bicanonical embedding.

Proposition 4.3.14. The deformation ξ is supported on Γ if and only if the image of $\gamma : B \to \mathbb{P}$ lies in \mathbb{P}_{Γ} .

Proof. Since \mathbb{P}_{Γ} is the only component of $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}}$ dominating B, and $\gamma(B)$ dominates B, the statement is equivalent to prove that ξ is supported on Γ if and only if $\gamma(B) \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}}$. To this aim, consider the commutative diagram

$$\operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}\left(\Omega^{1}_{S/B}, f^{*}\omega_{B}\right) \xrightarrow{\iota^{*}} \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}\left(\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}, f^{*}\omega_{B}\right)$$

$$\begin{array}{c} \rho \\ \rho \\ H^{0}\left(B, \mathcal{E}\right) \xrightarrow{\iota^{*}} H^{0}\left(B, \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}\right) \end{array}$$

where the vertical maps are given by the corresponding local-global spectral sequences, and the horizontal ones are induced by the inclusion of sheaves $\iota : \mathcal{L}_{\Gamma} \hookrightarrow \Omega^{1}_{S/B}$.

We want to show that $\gamma(B) \subseteq \widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}}$ if and only if the section

$$\widetilde{\xi_{\Gamma}} := \rho_{\Gamma}(\iota^*(\xi)) = \widetilde{\iota^*}(\rho(\xi)) \in H^0(B, \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma})$$

is zero. Recall that the morphism $\gamma: B \to \mathbb{P}$ was defined by the evaluation of $\rho(\xi)$, so that (see Remark 4.3.4)

$$\gamma^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(1)\cong\mathcal{M}=\operatorname{im}\left(\mathcal{E}^{\vee}\longrightarrow\mathcal{O}_B\right)\subseteq\mathcal{O}_B$$

Recall also that the ideal sheaf \mathcal{J}_{Γ} of $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}}$ is the image of the composition

$$\pi^* \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee}(-1) \longrightarrow \pi^* \mathcal{E}^{\vee}(-1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}},$$

so $\gamma^* \mathcal{J}_{\Gamma}(1)$ is generated by the image of the composition

$$\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}_{B}$$

But this composition is dual to the composition of the evaluation of $\rho(\xi)$ and the map $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}$, which is precisely the evaluation of $\tilde{\xi}_{\Gamma}$.

Therefore, $\xi_{\Gamma} = 0$ if and only if the map $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} \to \mathcal{M}$ vanishes. By the previous discussion, this is equivalent to the vanishing of $\gamma^* \mathcal{J}_{\Gamma} \to \mathcal{O}_B$, which means precisely that the image of γ is (schematically) contained in $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma}}$, finishing the proof.

Corollary 4.3.15. If $\Gamma, \Gamma' \subset S$ are two subschemes with exactly the same components dominating B, then ξ is supported on Γ if and only if it is supported on Γ' .

Proof. It is a consequence of Proposition 4.3.14, since $\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma} = \mathbb{P}_{\Gamma'}$ because of Lemma 4.3.10.

We will also need to take care of changes of base.

Lemma 4.3.16. Let $p: B' \to B$ be a finite morphism, let S' be the minimal desingularization of $S \times_B B'$, and consider the induced commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} S' \xrightarrow{p'} S \\ f' \downarrow & \downarrow f \\ B' \xrightarrow{p} B \end{array}$$

Suppose that ξ is supported on a divisor D. Then the extension class ξ' corresponding to the fibration f' is supported on $D' = (p')^* D$.

Proof. Denote by $\mathcal{E}', \mathbb{P}'$ and $\mathbb{P}'_{D'}$ the obvious analogues of \mathcal{E}, \mathbb{P} and \mathbb{P}_D attached to the fibration f' and the divisor D'.

Let $b' \in B'$ be a point such that p is not ramified at b'. Then there is an analytic open neighbourhood $U' \subseteq B'$ of b' such that $p_{|U'}$ gives an isomorphism with an open subset $U \subset B$. Furthermore, the restrictions of f' and f to $(f')^{-1}(U')$ and $f^{-1}(U)$ respectively are naturally isomorphic, hence

$$\xi'_{|U'} = p^* \xi_{|U|}$$

as sections of $\mathcal{E}'_{|U'} \stackrel{p^*}{\cong} \mathcal{E}_{|U}$, and also $\mathbb{P}'_{D'|U'} \stackrel{p^*}{\cong} \mathbb{P}_{D|U}$. Since ξ is supported on D, it follows that $\xi'_{|U'}$ is supported on $D'_{|U'}$. To finish, note that the union of the U' (as b' ranges over the points where p is not ramified) is a Zariski open subset of B'.

Proposition 4.3.14 shows that Definition 4.3.13 is the correct geometric analogue to the infinitesimal one (Definition 4.1.8). However, ξ being supported on Γ is not in general equivalent to the splitting of the pull-back sequence

$$\xi_{\Gamma}: 0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{\Gamma} \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{\Gamma} \longrightarrow 0.$$
(4.12)

Therefore, the global analogue of Remark 4.1.11 is not equivalent to Definition 4.3.13 for a general subscheme Γ . Fortunately, the two notions are equivalent in some cases, as the following Lemma shows, and these cases are more than enough for our purposes.

Lemma 4.3.17. If $\Gamma_{div} \cdot C_b < 2g - 2$ for some fibre C_b , then ξ is supported on Γ if and only if the pull-back sequence (4.12) splits.

Proof. In this case, the beginning of the five-term exact sequence associated to the local to global spectral sequence is

$$0 \longrightarrow H^1(B, f_* \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}, f^* \omega_B)) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{O}_S}(\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}, f^* \omega_B) \xrightarrow{\rho_{\Gamma}} H^0(B, \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma})$$

By definition, ξ is supported on Γ if and only if $\xi_{\Gamma} \in \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}(\mathcal{L}, f^{*}\omega_{B})$ belongs to the kernel of ρ_{Γ} . Therefore, it is enough to show that

$$H^1(B, f_* \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}, f^*\omega_B)) = 0.$$

Indeed, analogously to the proof of Lemma 4.3.3, we will show that the sheaf $f_* \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}, f^*\omega_B)$ is zero.

First of all, $f_* \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}, f^*\omega_B) = (f_*\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}^{\vee}) \otimes \omega_B$, so it will be enough to prove that $f_*\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}^{\vee} = 0$. The dual $\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}^{\vee}$ is torsion-free, so its direct image $f_*\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}^{\vee}$ is also torsion-free, hence it is a vector bundle. Therefore, we will be done if we see that $(f_*\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}^{\vee}) \otimes \mathbb{C}(b) = 0$ for general b. As in the proof of Lemma 4.3.10, for a general smooth fibre C_b we have $\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma|C_b} = (\omega_{S/B} \otimes \mathcal{I}_{\Gamma})_{|C_b} = \omega_{C_b}(-\Gamma_{|C_b})$ and

$$(f_*\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}^{\vee})\otimes\mathbb{C}(b)=H^0(C_b,T_{C_b}(\Gamma_{|C_b})).$$

To finish, the second term vanishes because the hypothesis $\Gamma \cdot C_b < 2g - 2$ is equivalent to deg $(T_{C_b}(\Gamma_{|C_b})) < 0$.

Remark 4.3.18. It is very likely that almost all the constructions and results of this section (except the relative bicanonical map of Lemma 4.3.5) can be generalized with minor changes to one-dimensional families of varieties of any dimension.

Chapter Five

ADJOINT IMAGES

The main topic of this chapter are *adjoint images*, which have proved to be a useful tool to study both infinitesimal and local deformations of irregular varieties. They were introduced in the study of curves by Collino and Pirola in [10], and then extended to higher-dimensional varieties by Pirola an Zucconi in [34]. The aim of this chapter is to construct a further generalization of adjoint images to the case of arbitrary (one-dimensional) families of irregular varieties, which in particular allows us to deal with compact surfaces fibred over curves.

The first section of the chapter is devoted to introduce the main definitions and known results about adjoint images, which will be used in the sequel. In the second section we extend a construction made in section 1.3 of [10], which gives us the existence of subspaces with vanishing adjoint class under suitable numerical hypothesis. Most of the definitions and results appearing therein are valid for infinitesimal deformations of irregular varieties of any dimension (sometimes the restriction that they have no higher-irrational pencils is needed), but we have restricted ourselves to the case of curves because it is our primary interest. Finally, the third (and last) section deals with the global setting, where the base of a family is a compact curve B.

5.1 ADJOINT IMAGES AND INFINITESIMAL DE-FORMATIONS

In this section we introduce the theory of adjoint images. Although in the rest of the chapter we basically deal with curves, some of the forthcoming constructions and results also work for higher dimensions. Hence, we have choosen to present adjoint images in their most general form, for varieties of arbitrary dimension. We start recalling the basic definitions (generalizing also Definition 4.1.8 to higher-dimensional varieties) and the two main

results: the Adjoint Theorem (Theorem 5.1.4) and the Volumetric Theorem (Theorem 5.1.5). The Adjoint Theorem was first proven by Collino and Pirola for curves ([10] Th. 1.1.8), and then it was generalized to arbitrary dimensions by Pirola and Zucconi ([34] Th. 1.5.1). The Volumetric Theorem concerns local families of varieties (it is not valid for infinitesimal deformations), and was proven by Pirola and Zucconi ([34] Th. 1.5.3).

Let X be a smooth projective variety of dimension d. For any integer $k = 1, \ldots, d$ we consider the map

$$\psi_k : \bigwedge^k H^0\left(X, \Omega^1_X\right) \longrightarrow H^0\left(X, \Omega^k_X\right)$$

given by wedge product (for k = 1 it is simply the identity). Given a linear subspace $W \subseteq H^0(X, \Omega^1_X)$, we define

$$W^{k} = \psi_{k} \left(\bigwedge^{k} W \right) \subseteq H^{0} \left(X, \Omega_{X}^{k} \right).$$

In particular, for k = d, $W^d \subseteq H^0(X, \omega_X)$. Hence, if $W^d \neq 0$, it induces a linear subsystem $|W^d| \subseteq |\omega_X|$ of the canonical linear series. In this case, denote by D_W the common components to all divisors in $|W^d|$, that is, the base divisor of the linear series.

Consider now an infinitesimal deformation $\mathcal{X} \to \Delta$ of X (where as usual $\Delta = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C} [\epsilon] / (\epsilon^2)$ is the spectrum of the dual numbers). As in the case of curves, considered in the previous chapter, the deformation is equivalent to the class $\xi \in \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{O}_X} (\Omega^1_X, \mathcal{O}_X \otimes T^{\vee}_{\Delta,0}) \cong H^1(X, T_X) \otimes T^{\vee}_{\Delta,0} \cong H^1(X, T_X)$ of the extension

$$0 \longrightarrow N_{X/\mathcal{X}}^{\vee} = \mathcal{O}_X \otimes T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \cong \mathcal{O}_X \longrightarrow \Omega_{\mathcal{X}|X}^1 \longrightarrow \Omega_X^1 \longrightarrow 0.$$

The corresponding connecting homomorphism

$$\partial_{\xi} = \cup \xi : H^0\left(X, \Omega^1_X\right) \longrightarrow H^1\left(X, \mathcal{O}_X\right) \otimes T^{\vee}_{\Delta, 0}$$

is given by cup-product with ξ . Denote by

$$K_{\xi} = \ker \partial_{\xi} = \operatorname{im} \left(H^0 \left(X, \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}|X} \right) \longrightarrow H^0 \left(X, \Omega^1_X \right) \right)$$

the subspace of 1-forms on X that are liftable to the infinitesimal deformation \mathcal{X} , and assume dim $K_{\xi} \geq d+1$ (in particular, $q(X) \geq d+1$).

Consider now d + 1 linearly independent 1-forms $\mathcal{B} = \{\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_{d+1}\}$ in K_{ξ} , and let $W \subseteq K_{\xi}$ be the linear subspace spanned by the η_i . Taking any

liftings $s_i \in H^0(X, \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}|X})$, the wedge product $s_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge s_{d+1}$ gives a section of

$$\bigwedge^{a+1} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}|X} = \omega_{\mathcal{X}|X} \cong \omega_X \otimes T^{\vee}_{\Delta,0} \cong \omega_X.$$

The composed isomorphism is the Lie contraction with $\frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon}$, a chosen generator of $T_{\Delta,0}$, somehow analogous to the Poincaré residue. The image $w = w_{\mathcal{B}} \in H^0(X, \omega_X)$ of $s_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge s_{d+1}$ is called an *adjoint image* of the η_i . This definition clearly depends on the choice of the liftings s_i , but the difference between any two adjoint images is a linear combination of the *d*-fold wedge products

$$\zeta_i = \eta_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{\eta_i} \wedge \cdots \wedge \eta_{d+1} \in H^0(X, \omega_X).$$

Therefore, the class [w] of w modulo the linear subspace $W^d \subseteq H^0(X, \omega_X)$ is actually well-defined, and we call it the *adjoint class* of $\mathcal{B} = \{\eta_1, \cdots, \eta_{d+1}\}$.

Furthermore, if we take a different basis of W or a different generator of $T_{\Delta,0}$, the two adjoint classes will differ by the product of a non-zero scalar (the determinant of the change of basis), so the notion which is truly intrinsical of the subspace W is the *vanishing* of the adjoint class:

Definition 5.1.1 (Vanishing adjoint image of a subspace). Given a (d + 1)dimensional subspace $W \subseteq K_{\xi}$, we say that its adjoint image vanishes if [w] = 0 for some (hence any) choice of basis of W.

Remark 5.1.2. If the adjoint class of $\mathcal{B} = \{\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_{d+1}\}$ is zero, it is possible to find representatives $s_i \in H^0(X, \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}|X})$ such that

$$s_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge s_{d+1} = 0 \in H^0\left(X, \Omega^{d+1}_{\mathcal{X}|X}\right),$$

and not only is a linear combination of the

$$\sigma_i = s_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widetilde{s_i} \wedge \cdots \wedge s_{d+1}.$$

Indeed, if the adjoint class of \mathcal{B} is zero, there exist scalars $a_i \in \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$s_1 \wedge \dots \wedge s_{d+1} = d\epsilon \wedge \left(\sum_{i=1}^{d+1} a_i \sigma_i\right)$$

(where $d\epsilon$ is a generator of $T^{\vee}_{\Delta,0}$). Defining new liftings as $\tilde{s}_i = s_i + (-1)^i a_i d\epsilon$ it is immediate that

$$\widetilde{s_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \widetilde{s_{d+1}} = 0.$$

We will now relate the adjoint images of a subspace to some properties of the infinitesimal deformation.

As in the case of curves, an effective divisor D on X induces the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T_X \longrightarrow T_X(D) \longrightarrow T_X(D)|_D \longrightarrow 0$$

and the connecting homomorphism

$$\partial_{T,D}: H^0\left(D, T_X\left(D\right)_{|D}\right) \longrightarrow H^1\left(X, T_X\right).$$

Following the analogy with curves, one can make the following

Definition 5.1.3. We say that the deformation ξ is supported on D if and only if

$$\xi \in \operatorname{im}\left(\partial_{T,D}\right) = \ker\left(H^{1}\left(X,T_{X}\right) \longrightarrow H^{1}\left(X,T_{X}\left(D\right)\right)\right),$$

or equivalently, if the pull-back sequence

splits.

We are now ready to state the main known result concerning adjoint images:

Theorem 5.1.4 (Adjoint Theorem, [34] Th. 1.5.1, [10] Th. 1.1.8 for curves). Let $W \subseteq K_{\xi} \subseteq H^0(X, \omega_X)$ be a (d+1)-dimensional subspace such that $W^d \neq 0$, and let $D = D_W$ be the base locus of the corresponding linear series $|W^d| \subseteq |\omega_X|$. If the adjoint image of W vanishes, then ξ is supported on D, i.e.

$$\xi \in \ker \left(H^1(X, T_X) \longrightarrow H^1(X, T_X(D)) \right).$$

While all the previous considerations concern infinitesimal deformations, we give now another result of Pirola and Zucconi (the *Volumetric Theorem*, [34] Th. 1.5.3) about *local* families of irregular varieties.

Let thus B be an open analytic curve (e.g. the unit disk), and let $\pi : \mathcal{X} \to B$ be a smooth family of d-dimensional varieties. Assume also that the varieties $X_b = \pi^{-1}(b)$ (for b varying in B) are not birational (such a family is called *strongly non-isotrivial* in [34]).

Furthermore, let A be an Abelian variety and suppose there is a morphism $\Phi : \mathcal{X} \to A \times B$ such that $p_2 \circ \Phi = \pi$ (where $p_2 : A \times B \to B$ is the projection onto the second factor). We can think of such a Φ as a family of morphisms $\phi_b : X_b \to A$ from the fibres of π to the fixed Abelian variety A. Given a (d+1)-dimensional subspace $W \subseteq H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$, denote by $W_b = \phi_b^* W \subseteq H^0(X_b, \Omega^1_{X_b})$ its pull-back to X_b , and by $[w_b]$ one of the adjoint classes of W_b .

Theorem 5.1.5 (Volumetric Theorem, [34] Theorem 1.5.3). Keep the above notations and assume still that the family π is strongly non-isotrivial. Suppose also that for some $b_0 \in B$, $\phi_{b_0} : X_{b_0} \to A$ is birational onto its image Y, and that Y generates A as a group. Then for generic (d + 1)-dimensional $W \subseteq H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$ and generic $b \in B$, the adjoint class $[w_b]$ does not vanish.

We would like to give a sketch the proof of the Volumetric Theorem 5.1.5, since some ideas contained in it have inspired some results of the next chapter.

First of all, after taking an infinite, étale covering $\rho : \mathcal{X}' \to \mathcal{X}$ it is possible to define a map

$$\mathcal{X}' \longrightarrow H^0 \left(A, \Omega^1_A \right)^{\vee}$$
.

Furthermore, if $W \subseteq H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)$ is a generic subspace of dimension d + 1, then the composition $\Psi : \mathcal{X}' \to W^{\vee}$ of the above map with the projection $H^0(A, \Omega^1_A)^{\vee} \to W^{\vee}$ is one-to one on every fibre.

Take now a basis $\{w_1, \ldots, w_{d+1}\}$ of W, and denote by Ψ_i the components of Ψ with respect to that basis. Let $\eta_i = \Psi^* w_i = d\Psi_i \in H^0(\mathcal{X}', \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}'})$ denote the pull-backs of the basis to \mathcal{X}' , so that (up to shrinking B) the restrictions $\eta_{i|X'_b} \in H^0\left(X'_b, \Omega^1_{X'_b}\right)$ form a basis of $\rho^* W_b$ for all b.

In this setting, if the generic adjoint class $[w_b]$ vanishes, then (up to shrinking *B* again if necessary) the $a_i d\epsilon$ of Remark 5.1.2 glue to give *holomorphic* 1-forms $a_i(t) dt$ on *B*, where *t* is a coordinate on *B*. Modifying the η_i as

$$\widetilde{\eta_i} = \eta_i + (-1)^i \, a_i \left(t \right) dt \in H^0 \left(\mathcal{X}', \Omega^1_{\mathcal{X}'} \right)$$

we obtain d + 1 forms on the total space \mathcal{X}' whose wedge product is zero. But this wedge product is the pull-back of a volume form on W^{\vee} by the modified morphism $\widetilde{\Psi} : \mathcal{X}' \to W^{\vee}$, whose coordinates are given by

$$\Psi_i = \Psi_i + (-1)^i a_i.$$

This implies that the image Y of $\tilde{\Psi}$ has dimension d (one less than \mathcal{X}'), and the rest of the hypothesis of the Theorem imply that every fibre X'_b maps birationally to Y. To finish, a monodromy argument shows that the isotriviality of the étale covering \mathcal{X}' implies the isotriviality of \mathcal{X} .

5.2 The case of curves

Consider now an infinitesimal deformation ξ of a smooth curve C of genus $g \geq 2$. The aim of this section is to give a numerical condition on ξ that guarantees the existence of a 2-dimensional subspace $W \subseteq K_{\xi} \subseteq H^0(C, \omega_C)$ with vanishing adjoint image. Some of the definitions and results of this section are inspired by the study of special deformations carried out by Collino and Pirola in [10], Section 1.3.

In order to do that, we define a vector bundle \mathcal{A} on $\mathbb{G} = Gr(2, K_{\xi})$ together with a section $\nu \in H^0(\mathbb{G}, \mathcal{A})$, which we call the *adjoint bundle* and *adjoint map* respectively. The main issue is to show that if K_{ξ} is big enough, then ν vanishes at some point $W \in \mathbb{G}$.

We first write down more precisely and intrinsically the construction of the adjoint images. For the sake of simplicity, denote by $K = K_{\xi}$. Given any subspace $W \subseteq K$, denote by $\widetilde{W} \subseteq H^0(C, \Omega^1_{\mathcal{C}|C})$ its preimage, so that we have the following exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T^{\vee}_{\Delta,0} \longrightarrow \widetilde{W} \longrightarrow W \longrightarrow 0,$$

from which we obtain the presentation

$$T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \otimes \widetilde{W} \xrightarrow{\wedge} \bigwedge^2 \widetilde{W} \longrightarrow \bigwedge^2 W \longrightarrow 0.$$

Wedge product induces also a map

$$\bigwedge^{2} \widetilde{W} \longrightarrow H^{0}\left(C, \Omega^{2}_{\mathcal{C}|C}\right) \cong T^{\vee}_{\Delta_{0}} \otimes H^{0}\left(C, \omega_{C}\right),$$

and it is clear that the image of $T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \otimes \widetilde{W}$ maps precisely to $T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \otimes W$. Hence, there is a well-defined map

$$\nu_W: \bigwedge^2 W \longrightarrow T^{\vee}_{\Delta,0} \otimes \left(H^0(C, \omega_C) / W \right)$$
(5.1)

completing the diagram below.
Definition 5.2.1. We call the map ν_W in (5.1) the adjoint map associated to W.

Remark 5.2.2. Note that this construction is valid for any subspace W of dimension at least 2. If we restrict ourselves to the case dim W = 2, then the choice of a basis $\mathcal{B} = \{w_1, w_2\}$ of W gives a generator $e_{\mathcal{B}} = w_1 \wedge w_2$ of $\bigwedge^2 W$, and the adjoint class $[w_{\mathcal{B}}]$ defined in the previous section is precisely $\nu_W(e_{\mathcal{B}})$.

Remark 5.2.3. The above construction can be easily generalized to higherdimensional varieties, giving a map

$$\nu_{W}: \bigwedge^{d+1} W \longrightarrow T^{\vee}_{\Delta,0} \otimes \left(H^{0}\left(X, \omega_{X} \right) / W^{d} \right)$$

for any subspace $W \subseteq K_{\xi}$ of dimension at least d + 1.

Let us now focus on the case dim W = 2. Let $\mathbb{G} = Gr(2, K)$ be the Grassmannian variety of 2-dimensional subspaces of K. For any vector space E, denote by $E_{\mathbb{G}} = E \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}}$ the trivial vector bundle with fibre E. As customary, denote by $S \subseteq K_{\mathbb{G}}$ and $Q = K_{\mathbb{G}}/S$ the tautological subbundle and quotient bundle. Note that since $K \subseteq H^0(C, \omega_C)$, the tautological subbundle S injects in $H^0(C, \omega_C)_{\mathbb{G}}$ and the quotient is also a vector bundle (of rank g - 2).

Lemma 5.2.4. The adjoint maps ν_W depend holomorphically on $W \in \mathbb{G}$. More precisely, there exists a map of vector bundles

$$\nu: \bigwedge^{2} S \longrightarrow T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \otimes \left(H^{0} \left(C, \omega_{C} \right)_{\mathbb{G}} / S \right)$$

such that $\nu \otimes \mathbb{C}(W) = \nu_W$.

Proof. The proof is quite immediate. One only has to mimick the construction of the ν_W replacing W by the tautological subbundle S.

Denote by $\widetilde{S} \subseteq H^0\left(C, \Omega^1_{\mathcal{C}|C}\right)_{\mathbb{G}}$ the preimage of $S \subseteq K_{\mathbb{G}}$ by the natural projection $\pi : H^0\left(C, \Omega^1_{\mathcal{C}|C}\right) \to K$, which is a vector bundle of rank 3 and fits into the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow T^{\vee}_{\mathbb{G}} \longrightarrow \widetilde{S} \longrightarrow S \longrightarrow 0,$$

(where $T = T^{\vee}_{\Delta,0}$). The analogue to the diagram (5.2) is

where the central vertical arrow is also given by wedge product and the isomorphism $\Omega^2_{C|C} \cong T^{\vee} \otimes \omega_C$. It is immediate to check that the map ν gives the adjoint map ν_W at any point W.

Definition 5.2.5. We call the map ν constructed in the previous Lemma simply the adjoint map of the deformation ξ . It can be seen as a section of the vector bundle

$$\mathcal{A} = T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \otimes \bigwedge^2 S^{\vee} \otimes \left(H^0 \left(C, \omega_C \right)_{\mathbb{G}} / S \right),$$

which we call the adjoint bundle.

Remark 5.2.6. Unlike the adjoint map associated to a fixed subspace, the extension of Definition 5.2.5 to higher-dimensional varieties is not so straightforward. We can consider the Grassmannian $\mathbb{G} = Gr(d+1, K_{\xi})$ and its tautological subbundle S. Then the adjoint map should go from the line bundle $\bigwedge^{d+1} S$ to something like $T_{\Delta,0}^{\vee} \otimes (H^0(X, \omega_X)_{\mathbb{G}} / S^d)$, where S^d has to be understood as the image of $\bigwedge^d S$ in $H^0(X, \omega_X)_{\mathbb{G}}$ by the wedge product map ψ_d .

The problem arises with this last object, since it is not necessarily a vector bundle. However, if X does not admit a higher irrational pencil, the construction carries over without any problem. Indeed, the Generalized Castelnuovo-de Franchis Theorem (Theorem 1.2.3) implies that the map

$$\bigwedge^{d} S \longrightarrow H^{0}\left(X, \omega_{X}\right)_{\mathbb{G}}$$

is everywhere injective, so $\bigwedge^{d} S \cong S^{d}$ and the quotient $H^{0}(X, \omega_{X})_{\mathbb{G}}/S^{d}$ is a vector bundle of rank $p_{q}(X) - (d+1)$.

We are now ready to state and prove the main result of this section.

Theorem 5.2.7. If $V \subseteq K_{\xi}$ has dimension dim $V > \frac{g+1}{2}$, then there exists some 2-dimensional subspace $W \subseteq V$ such that $\nu_W = 0$.

Proof. Let $\mathbb{G}_V = Gr(2, V) \subseteq \mathbb{G}$ be the subvariety of \mathbb{G} consisting of the 2dimensional subspaces of K contained in V, which is in turn a Grassmannian variety. Furthermore, the tautological subbundle S_V of \mathbb{G}_V is the restriction of S, and the adjoint map ν restricts to

$$\nu_V: \bigwedge^2 S_V \longrightarrow T^{\vee} \otimes \left(H^0 \left(C, \omega_C \right)_{\mathbb{G}_V} / S_V \right)$$

(as above, we have simplified $T = T_{\Delta,0}$) which is a section of

$$\mathcal{A}_{V} = T^{\vee} \otimes \bigwedge^{2} S_{V}^{\vee} \otimes \left(H^{0} \left(C, \omega_{C} \right)_{\mathbb{G}_{V}} / S_{V} \right) = \mathcal{A}_{|V}.$$

Denoting by $Z = Z(\nu) \subseteq \mathbb{G}$ the zero locus of ν , and by Z_V the zero locus of ν_V , it is clear that $Z_V = Z \cap \mathbb{G}_V$.

With these notations, the theorem says that $Z_V \neq \emptyset$. In order to prove that, we will compute the top Chern class of \mathcal{A}_V and show that it does not vanish. This is enough, since if a vector bundle admits a nowhere vanishing section, then its top Chern class is zero.

First of all, our only hypothesis is equivalent to dim $V \ge \frac{g}{2} + 1$. Hence

$$\operatorname{rk} \mathcal{A}_V = g - 2 \le 2 \, (\dim V - 2) = \dim \mathbb{G}_V,$$

so it is indeed possible that $c_{g-2}(\mathcal{A}_V) \neq 0$.

Secondly, up to the trivial twisting by T^{\vee} , \mathcal{A}_V is the globally generated bundle

$$\mathcal{G} = H^0 \left(C, \omega_C \right)_{\mathbb{G}_V} / S_V$$

twisted by the line bundle $\bigwedge^2 S_V^{\vee} \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}_V}(1)$, which is the very ample line bundle inducing the Plücker embedding.

Therefore, we can use the formula (see [16] Remark 3.2.3.(b))

$$c_k(E \otimes L) = \sum_{i=0}^k {\binom{r-k+i}{r-k}} c_{k-i}(E) c_1(L)^i$$

to compute the Chern classes of a vector bundle E of rank r twisted by a line bundle L (on any variety), which for k = r reduces to

$$c_r\left(E\otimes L\right) = \sum_{i=0}^r c_{r-i}\left(E\right) c_1\left(L\right)^i.$$

Summing up, since all the Chern classes of \mathcal{G} are represented by zero or effective cycles (because it is globally generated), we obtain

$$c_{g-2}(\mathcal{A}_V) = \sum_{i=0}^r c_{r-i}(\mathcal{G}) c_1 (\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}_V}(1))^i =$$
$$= c_1 (\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}_V}(1))^{g-2} + (\text{effective classes}) \neq 0$$

because $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}_V}(1)$ is very ample.

Corollary 5.2.8. If $V \subseteq K_{\xi}$ has dimension greater than $\frac{g+1}{2}$, then there exists a two-dimensional subspace $W \subseteq V$ whose adjoint class vanishes.

Remark 5.2.9. It is possible to get similar results for higher-dimensional varieties without higher irrational pencils (see Remark 5.2.6). The same proof goes over as soon as the rank of the adjoint bundle is not greater than the dimension of the Grassmannian variety. In symbols, we need

$$p_a - (d+1) \le (d+1) (\dim V - d - 1),$$

which in particular implies (since dim $V \leq q$)

$$p_g \le (d+1)\left(q-d\right).$$

For higher dimensions this inequality becomes a quite restrictive condition (combined with the non-existence of higher irrational pencils). For example, the only surfaces to which this method could be applied are those satisfying

$$2q - 3 \le p_g \le 3(q - 2),$$

where the first inequality is the Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality.

5.3 GLOBAL ADJOINT

In this last section we extend the previous constructions to the case of a fibration over a compact curve. As in the previous sections, we stick to the case when the fibres are curves, though some constructions and results can be carried over to some cases with higher-dimensional fibres.

Therefore, let $f: S \to B$ be a fibration of a surface S over a curve B, and denote by

$$V = V_f = H^0(S, \Omega_S^1) / f^* H^0(B, \omega_B),$$

which has dimension q_f , the relative irregularity of f.

According to Lemma 3.1.7, V naturally injects into $H^0(C, \omega_C)$ for any smooth fibre C of f. Furthermore, if $\xi \in H^1(C, T_C)$ is the infinitesimal deformation of C induced by f, then V is contained in the kernel K_{ξ} of the cup-product map

$$\cup \xi : H^0(C, \omega_C) \to H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C).$$

In the previous section we constructed the adjoint map associated to any subspace of K_{ξ} . We restrict now to a slightly less general version, considering only subspaces W of V. All the injections $V \subseteq H^0(C, \omega_C)$ for smooth fibres glue together into an inclusion of vector bundles

$$V_B = V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B \longleftrightarrow f_* \omega_{S/B} \tag{5.3}$$

whose cokernel \mathcal{G} is locally free (see Theorem 3.2.9 and Corollary 3.2.10, due to Fujita). The results of Fujita [15] say moreover that the inclusion splits (so $f_*\omega_{S/B} \cong V_B \oplus \mathcal{G}$) and \mathcal{G} has some good cohomological properties, but we will not use them in the sequel.

The inclusion (5.3) can be alternatively constructed as follows. First of all, wedge product gives a natural map $H^0(S, \Omega_S^1) \otimes \omega_B \to f_*\omega_S$. Clearly $(f^*H^0(B, \omega_B)) \otimes \omega_B$ maps to zero, so there is an induced map

$$V \otimes \omega_B \longrightarrow f_* \omega_S = (f_* \omega_{S/B}) \otimes \omega_B$$

Since it is injective over a generic $b \in B$, it is everywhere injective (as a map of sheaves), and cancelling the twist by ω_B we obtain the inclusion (5.3).

Denote now by $\mathbb{G} = Gr(2, V)$ the Grassmannian of 2-planes of V, and by $S_V \subseteq V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{G}}$ the tautological subbundle. Consider the product $Y = B \times \mathbb{G}$, and denote by $p_1 : Y \to B$ and $p_2 : Y \to \mathbb{G}$ the natural projections. The variety Y is the Grassmann bundle of 2-dimensional subspaces of V_B , and $\mathcal{S} = p_2^* S_V$ is the corresponding tautological subbundle. Clearly, \mathcal{S} is a vector subbundle¹ of $V_Y = V \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y = p_1^* V_B$, hence also of $p_1^* f_* \omega_{S/B}$.

Denote by $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \subseteq H^0(S, \Omega^1_S) \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y$ the natural preimage of \mathcal{S} , so that

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(B, \omega_B) \xrightarrow{f^*} \widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{S} \longrightarrow 0$$

is an exact sequence of vector bundles on Y. Therefore, we obtain the following presentation of $\bigwedge^2 S$,

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \otimes H^0(B,\omega_B) \longrightarrow \bigwedge^2 \widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \longrightarrow \bigwedge^2 \mathcal{S} \longrightarrow 0$$
 (5.4)

The wedge product $\bigwedge^2 H^0(S, \Omega^1_S) \to H^0(S, \omega_S) = H^0(B, f_*\omega_S)$ and the evaluation map $H^0(B, f_*\omega_S) \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y \cong H^0(Y, p_1^*f_*\omega_S) \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y \to p_1^*f_*\omega_S$ give a map of vector bundles on Y

$$\widetilde{\nu}: \bigwedge^2 \widetilde{\mathcal{S}} \longrightarrow p_1^* f_* \omega_S.$$

¹By a *vector subbundle* of a vector bundle V we mean a locally free subsheaf whose quotient is also locally free.

Clearly, this map sends the image of $\mathcal{S} \otimes H^0(B, \omega_B)$ into the subsheaf $\mathcal{S} \otimes p_1^* \omega_B$. Hence, according to equation (5.4), $\tilde{\nu}$ induces a well-defined map of vector bundles on Y:

$$\nu: \bigwedge^{2} \mathcal{S} \longrightarrow \left(p_{1}^{*} f_{*} \omega_{S} \right) / \left(\mathcal{S} \otimes p_{1}^{*} \omega_{B} \right).$$
(5.5)

Definition 5.3.1 (Global Adjoint Map). We call the map ν in (5.5) the global adjoint map of the fibration f.

Remark 5.3.2. It is clear from the construction that if $C = f^{-1}(b)$ is a smooth fibre of f, the restriction $\nu_{|\{b\}\times\mathbb{G}}$ coincides with the adjoint map constructed in Definition 5.2.5, restricted to the Grassmannian subvariety Gr(2, V).

To close both this section and the chapter, we give a result analogous to Theorem 5.2.7 and Corollary 5.2.8. Instead of 2-dimensional vector subspaces $W \subseteq K_{\xi}$, we will consider vector subbundles of rank two $W \subseteq V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B$. Such a vector subbundle defines a section

$$\eta_{\mathcal{W}}: B \longrightarrow Y$$

of p_1 , such that $\eta_{\mathcal{W}}(b)$ is the subspace $\mathcal{W} \otimes \mathbb{C}(b) \subseteq V$. Conversely, given any section $\eta: B \to Y$ of p_1 , it defines the vector subbundle

$$\mathcal{W}_{\eta} = \eta^* \mathcal{S} \hookrightarrow \eta^* \left(V \otimes \mathcal{O}_Y \right) = V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B.$$

Clearly, the assignations $\mathcal{W} \mapsto \eta_{\mathcal{W}}$ and $\eta \mapsto \mathcal{W}_{\eta}$ are mutually inverse, giving a one-to-one correspondence between the sets of vector subbundles of $V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B$ of rank 2 and the sections of $p_1 : Y \to B$.

Now, given a vector subbundle \mathcal{W} as above, we can consider the restriction $\nu_{\mathcal{W}}$ of the adjoint map ν to the curve $\eta_{\mathcal{W}}(B) \cong B$, which can be seen as a map of vector bundles on B:

$$\nu_{\mathcal{W}}: \bigwedge^{2} \mathcal{W} \longrightarrow \left(f_{*}\omega_{S}\right) / \left(\mathcal{W} \otimes \omega_{B}\right).$$
(5.6)

Definition 5.3.3 (Global Adjoint Map associated to a subbundle). We call the map $\nu_{\mathcal{W}}$ in equation (5.6) the global adjoint map associated to the subbundle \mathcal{W} .

We are now ready to state the wanted global result.

Theorem 5.3.4. If

$$q_f > \frac{g+1}{2},$$

then there exist a finite base change $\pi : B' \to B$ and a rank-two vector subbundle $\mathcal{W} \subseteq V \otimes \mathcal{O}_{B'}$ whose associated global adjoint map vanishes identically.

Proof. Let $Z \subseteq Y$ be the zero set of the global adjoint map ν , which is an analytic subvariety. By Remark 5.3.2, for any regular value b, the set $Z_b = Z \cap (\{b\} \times \mathbb{G})$ is the vanishing set of the adjoint map of C_b , which is non-empty by Corollary 5.2.8. Therefore, there is a component of Zdominating B, hence it is possible to choose a curve $\widetilde{B} \subseteq Z$ dominating B. Let $\mu : B' \to \widetilde{B}$ be the normalization of \widetilde{B} , and define the covering π as the composition $p_1 \circ \mu : B' \to B$. As for the vector subbundle, let $\eta : B' \to B' \times_B Y \cong B' \times \mathbb{G}$ be the section induced from the map $B' \to \widetilde{B} \to Y$, and let $\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}_{\eta}$. Since the image of η is contained in the zero locus of the adjoint map associated to the fibration $S' = S \times_B B' \to B'$, (see next remark), it is almost tautological that the globa adjoint map associated to \mathcal{W} vanishes identically. \Box

Remark 5.3.5 (Global Adjoint Maps and base change). Consider any finite base change $\pi : B' \to B$. Denote by $f' : S' = S \times_B B' \to B'$ the resulting fibration, and by $V' = V_{f'} = H^0(S', \Omega^1_{S'}) / (f')^* H^0(B', \omega'_B)$ the corresponding space of relative 1-forms. Define also $\mathbb{G}' = Gr(2, V')$ and $Y' = B' \times \mathbb{G}'$, and let ν' be the global adjoint map of f'.

According to Corollary 3.1.9, V injects into V'. Therefore, $B' \times \mathbb{G}$ is naturally a subvariety of Y'. Furthermore, the pull-back (by $\pi \times id_{\mathbb{G}}$) of ν is the restriction to $B' \times \mathbb{G}$ of ν' . Hence, the zero locus of ν' always contains the preimage of the zero locus of ν .

Chapter Six

ON A CONJECTURE OF XIAO

In this last chapter we prove the main results of the second part of the Thesis. The first one is Theorem 6.3.1, a structure result for some fibred surfaces that seems to be generalizable to higher-dimensional fibrations over a curve. As an application, we prove Theorem 6.3.4. We postpose the proofs to Section 6.3, starting the chapter with a summary of the main known results concerning the triviality and isotriviality of a fibration on a surface, and their implications to the relative irregularity and the genus of the fibres (Section 6.1). After that, Section 6.2 contains a technical result that will simplify the final proofs, allowing us to write them more neatly.

Through the whole chapter, $f : S \to B$ will denote a fibration from a smooth surface S to a smooth curve B. We will denote by g = g(C) the genus of any smooth fibre C, and $q_f = q(S) - g(B)$ denote the relative irregularity of the fibration. In Sections 6.2 and 6.3 we assume furthermore that $g \ge 2$.

6.1 STATE OF THE ART

In this section we expose a summary of the main known results relating the numerical invariants g and q_f to the isotriviality of the fibration. We also motivate Xiao's conjecture and the correction proposed after it was shown to be false.

To begin with, a fundamental result relating the numerical invariants of a fibration and its isotriviality was given by Beauville in his appendix to [12]. It gives a first restriction on the relative irregularity of any fibration, and characterizes those fibrations that are birational to a product.

Theorem 6.1.1 ([12], Lemma in the Appendix). Any fibration $f: S \to B$ satisfies

$$0 \le q_f \le g.$$

Furthermore, the equality $q_f = g$ holds if and only if S is birational to a product $B \times C$, and in particular the fibration is isotrivial.

Therefore, non-trivial fibrations must satisfy $0 \leq q_f < g$. A more detailed analysis of the isotrivial case is carried out by Serrano in [40], which has as a consequence that non-trivial isotrivial fibrations satisfy an inequality much stronger than $q_f < g$.

Theorem 6.1.2 ([40] 1.1). If $f : S \to B$ is an isotrivial fibration with general fibre C, then there exist a smooth curve B' and a finite group G acting algebraically both on B' and C, such that S is birational to $(B' \times C)/G$ (with the diagonal action), $B \cong B'/G$, and the diagram



commutes.

Proposition 6.1.3 ([40] Prop. 2.2). If S is birational to a quotient $(B' \times C)/G$ as in the above theorem, then

$$q(S) = g(B'/G) + g(C/G).$$

Corollary 6.1.4. If $f: S \to B$ is a non-trivial isotrivial fibration, then

$$0 \le q_f \le \frac{g+1}{2}.$$

Proof. With the notation of Theorem 6.1.2, Proposition 6.1.3 implies that $q_f = g(C/G)$. Since the fibration is not trivial, $|G| \ge 2$ and hence the map $C \to C/G$ has degree at least 2. This immediately implies that

$$q_f = g(C/G) \le \frac{g(C) + 1}{2} = \frac{g + 1}{2}.$$

For non-isotrivial fibrations, the only general upper bound for q_f is given by Xiao in [43].

Theorem 6.1.5 ([43] Section 3, Cor. 3). If $f : S \to B$ is a non-trivial fibration, then

$$q_f \le \frac{5g+1}{6}.\tag{6.1}$$

However, according to some comments made by Xiao in his later work [44], there is little hope for the inequality (6.1) to be sharp, since the methods used to prove it are not very accurate. In fact, in [44] he consider the special case in which the base is $B \cong \mathbb{P}^1$, obtaining the same lower-bound known for non-trivial isotrivial fibrations:

Theorem 6.1.6 ([44] Th. 1). If $f : S \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is a non-isotrivial fibration, then

$$q\left(S\right) = q_f \le \frac{g+1}{2}.$$

In view of this result, Xiao conjectured that the same bound should hold for every non-trivial fibration, and he provided several examples attaining the equality. However, the conjecture was shown to be false by Pirola. In fact, in [33], Theorem 2, he provided a non-isotrivial fibration with fibres of genus g = 4 and relative irregularity $q_f = 3 \leq \frac{5}{2} = \frac{g+1}{2}$. The same method can be applied to other cases, giving different counterexamples for even gand satisfying

$$q_f = \frac{g}{2} + 1 = \frac{g+1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}.$$

The fact that the only known counterexamples fail by just $\frac{1}{2}$ motivates the following version of the conjecture.

Conjecture 6.1.7. For any non-trivial fibration $f: S \to B$ one has

$$q_f \le \frac{g}{2} + 1,$$

or equivalently

$$q_f \leq \left\lceil \frac{g+1}{2} \right\rceil.$$

Remark 6.1.8. Note that for odd values of g, Conjecture 6.1.7 is equivalent to the original conjecture posed by Xiao.

Note also that for $g \leq 1$, the conjecture and all the theorems above are trivially satisfied, since they are all equivalent to Theorem 6.1.1. Hence we shall assume from now on that the fibration f has genus $g \geq 2$.

6.2 A TECHNICAL RESULT

Before going through the proof of the main theorems, we need a technical result (Proposition 6.2.2) about inclusions $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ or $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B}$ lifting to Ω^1_S (see Definition 6.2.1 below). It will allow us to improve the properties

of any subscheme supporting a global deformation, relating the liftings to Ω_S^1 with the framework of Section 4.3.

Since this notion will appear very often through the rest of the section, we make first the next

Definition 6.2.1. We say that a rank-one subsheaf \mathcal{L} of $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ (resp. $\omega_{S/B}$) lifts to Ω^1_S if the inclusion can be factored as an injection $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_S$ followed by the natural projection $\Omega^1_S \to \Omega^1_{S/B}$ (resp. the same projection composed with $\alpha : \Omega^1_{S/B} \to \omega_{S/B}$).

Recall the natural map $\alpha : \Omega^1_{S/B} \to \omega_{S/B}$ defined in Lemma 3.2.6, which is injective if and only if f has reduced fibres. More generally, it is an isomorphism over the open set of regular points of f. Recall also the notation

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma} = \ker \left(\Omega^1_{S/B} \to \omega_{S/B|\Gamma} \right)$$

introduced in Definition 4.3.7 for any subscheme $\Gamma \subseteq S$.

As we have done repeatedly in the previous chapters, we denote by $\xi \in \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{S}}\left(\Omega^{1}_{S/B}, f^{*}\omega_{B}\right)$ the extension class of the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \longrightarrow 0.$$

More generally, if $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ is any subsheaf, $\xi_{\mathcal{L}} \in \operatorname{Ext}^1_{\mathcal{O}_S}(\mathcal{L}, f^*\omega_B)$ will denote the extension class of the pull-back sequence



In the case $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}$ for some subscheme Γ , we simply write ξ_{Γ} (resp. \mathcal{F}_{Γ}) instead of $\xi_{\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}}$ (resp. $\mathcal{F}_{\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}}$).

We are now ready to state the announced

Proposition 6.2.2. Let $f: S \to B$ be a fibration with reduced fibres. If a rank-one subsheaf $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω^1_S and satisfies deg $(\mathcal{L}_{|C_b}) > 0$ for some smooth fibre C_b , then there exists an effective divisor D on S such that

1. the inclusions $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ and $\omega_{S/B}(-D) \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B}$ fit into the following chain

$$\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B} (-D) \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \stackrel{\alpha}{\hookrightarrow} \omega_{S/B},$$

- 2. the injection $\omega_{S/B}(-D) \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω^1_S ,
- 3. $D \cdot C_b < 2g 2$ for any fibre C_b ,
- 4. D has no component contracted by f, and
- 5. the quotient $\Omega_{S}^{1}/\omega_{S/B}(-D)$ is isomorphic to

$$f^{*}\omega_{B}\otimes\mathcal{O}_{S}\left(D
ight)\otimes I_{Z}$$

for some finite subscheme $Z \subset S$, hence torsion-free.

Proof. We proceed in several steps.

Step 1: Obtaining a first divisor E satisfying 1, 2 and 3.

We first show that the double dual $\mathcal{L}^{\vee\vee}$ still injects into $\Omega_{S/B}^1$ and lifts to Ω_S^1 . Indeed, on the one hand, the lifting $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega_S^1$ induces an injective map $\mathcal{L}^{\vee\vee} \hookrightarrow \Omega_S^1$. On the other hand, \mathcal{L} also injects in $\omega_{S/B}$ because α is injective, hence there is a second injection $\mathcal{L}^{\vee\vee} \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B}$. Both injections fit into the commutative diagram



so that the composition $\mathcal{L}^{\vee\vee} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_S \to \Omega^1_{S/B}$ must still be injective, as claimed, and it clearly lifts to Ω^1_S by construction.

Therefore, we have the sequence of nested sheaves

$$\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{L}^{\vee \vee} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \stackrel{\alpha}{\hookrightarrow} \omega_{S/B}.$$

But $\mathcal{L}^{\vee\vee}$ is a locally free (reflexive of rank one) subsheaf of $\omega_{S/B}$, hence of the form $\omega_{S/B} (-E)$ for a unique effective divisor E. As for the inequality $E \cdot C_b < 2g - 2$ for some (any) fibre C_b , it follows directly from the hypothesis deg $(\mathcal{L}_{|C_b}) > 0$.

Step 2: Removing the vertical components.

As a previous step, we see that ξ is supported on E. To this aim, consider the pull-back diagram



where the diagonal arrow λ is the lifting. Since $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_E$ is the pullback of



the universal property implies that λ factors through an injective map $\omega_{S/B}(-E) \hookrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}_E$, hence ζ_E splits. Now, completing the diagram with exact rows

we obtain an injective map $\iota_E : \mathcal{L}_E \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B}(-E)$, and

 $\xi_E: 0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_E \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}_E \longrightarrow 0$

is the pull-back of ζ_E by ι_E . Therefore, ξ_E is split, and thus ξ is supported on E (recall Definition 4.3.13).

Denote by $E' \leq E$ the divisor obtained by removing from E the components contracted by f. Corollary 4.3.15 says that ξ is also supported on E'. Furthermore, since $E' \cdot C_b = E \cdot C_b < 2g - 2$ for any fibre C_b , Lemma 4.3.17 implies that

$$\xi_{E'}: 0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}_{E'} \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}_{E'} \longrightarrow 0$$

is also split. Hence $\mathcal{L}_{E'} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω^1_S , and analogously as we showed in Step 1, $\mathcal{L}_{E'}^{\vee\vee} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ also lifts to Ω^1_S . To finish, we prove that $\mathcal{L}_{E'}^{\vee\vee} \cong \omega_{S/B}(-E')$, so that E' will satisfy conditons 1 through 4. Indeed, the injection $\iota_{E'} : \mathcal{L}_{E'} \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B}(-E')$ and its double dual $\iota_{E'}^{\vee\vee} : \mathcal{L}_{E'}^{\vee\vee} \hookrightarrow \omega_{S/B}(-E')$ are isomorphisms away from the critical points of f. But the critical points form a set of codimension 2 because f has reduced fibres, hence $\iota_{E'}^{\vee\vee}$ is an isomorphism, as wanted.

Step 3: Removing the torsion of the cokernel.

Up to now, we have an effective divisor E' satisfying conditions 1 through 4. In particular, $\omega_{S/B}(-E')$ lifts to Ω_S^1 . Denote by $\mathcal{M}_0 \subseteq \Omega_S^1$ its image, and by $\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}$ the quotient Ω_S^1/\mathcal{M}_0 . Let \mathcal{T} be the torsion subsheaf of $\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}$, and $\mathcal{K} = \widetilde{\mathcal{K}}/\mathcal{T}$ its torsion-free quotient. Finally, let \mathcal{M} be the kernel of the composition of surjections $\Omega^1_S \twoheadrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{K}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{K}$. We want to see that \mathcal{M} is isomorphic to $\omega_{S/B}(-D)$ for some divisor $0 \leq D \leq E'$.

We first show that \mathcal{M} is locally free. Clearly, it is torsion-free, and the inclusion $\mathcal{M} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_S$ factors as $\mathcal{M} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{M}^{\vee \vee} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_S$. Consider now the exact diagram



where we have used the snake lemma to identify the cokernel of the first row and the kernel of the last row. On the one hand, both \mathcal{M} and $\mathcal{M}^{\vee\vee}$ have rank one, so \mathcal{G} is a torsion sheaf and, on the other hand, \mathcal{G} is torsion free since \mathcal{K} is. Therefore $\mathcal{G} = 0$ and $\mathcal{M} \cong \mathcal{M}^{\vee\vee}$ is locally free.

To finish, the composition

$$\mathcal{M} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \omega_{S/B}$$

is injective. Indeed, the image $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$ is of rank 1 because $\mathcal{M}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{M}$ and the image of \mathcal{M}_0 is $\omega_{S/B}(-E')$, so the kernel of $\mathcal{M} \to \omega_{S/B}$ is a rank-zero subsheaf of a torsion-free sheaf, hence zero. Therefore,

$$\mathcal{M}\cong\mathcal{M}=\omega_{S/B}\left(-D\right)$$

with $D \leq E'$ because by construction $\omega_{S/B}(-E') \subseteq \widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$. For the other asertion about $\mathcal{K} = \Omega^1_S / \omega_{S/B}(-D)$, we first compute the Chern class

$$c_1\left(\mathcal{K}\right) = c_1\left(\Omega_S^1\right) - c_1\left(\omega_{S/B}\left(-D\right)\right) = c_1\left(f^*\omega_B \otimes \mathcal{O}_S\left(D\right)\right)$$

Since \mathcal{K} is torsion-free, this means that $\mathcal{K} \cong f^* \omega_B \otimes \mathcal{O}_S(D) \otimes L \otimes I_Z$ for some finite subscheme $Z \subset S$ and some $L \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(S)$.

Consider now the diagram of exact rows

Since f has reduced fibres, the map $\alpha : \Omega^1_{S/B} \to \omega_{S/B}$ is injective and its cokernel is supported on the finite subscheme Z' of critical points of f (Lemma 3.2.6). Hence the central map in (6.2) has kernel $f^*\omega_B$ and cokernel $\omega_{S/B|Z'}$, and the snake lemma leads to the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \mathcal{K} \longrightarrow \omega_{S/B|D} \longrightarrow \omega_{S/B|Z'} \longrightarrow 0.$$

The first map corresponds to a section

$$\sigma \in H^0\left(S, \mathcal{O}_S\left(D\right) \otimes L \otimes I_Z\right) \subset H^0\left(S, \mathcal{O}_S\left(D\right) \otimes L\right)$$

whose zero scheme is D. Indeed, the zero scheme $Z(\sigma)$ is contained in D, and coincides with it outside the finite subscheme Z'. This implies that $L \cong \mathcal{O}_S$ and we are done.

Remark 6.2.3 (About Step 3 in the proof of Proposition 6.2.2). If a subsheaf of the form $\mathcal{M}_0 = \omega_{S/B}(-E') \subseteq \omega_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω_S^1 , there is an easy geometric interpretation of the support of the divisor E': it is the locus where $\mathcal{M}_0 \subseteq \Omega_S^1$ is not transverse to $f^*\omega_B$, that is

Supp
$$E' = \left\{ p \mid \operatorname{im} \left(\left(f^* \omega_B \oplus \mathcal{M}_0 \right)_p \to \Omega^1_{S,p} \right) \neq \Omega^1_{S,p} \right\}$$

= $\left\{ p \mid \operatorname{im} \left(\left(f^* \omega_B \oplus \mathcal{M}_0 \right) \otimes \mathbb{C} \left(p \right) \to \Omega^1_S \otimes \mathbb{C} \left(p \right) \right) \neq \Omega^1_S \otimes \mathbb{C} \left(p \right) \right\}.$

The failure of the transversality at some regular point $p \in E'$ may occur either because the images of $\mathcal{M}_0 \otimes \mathbb{C}(p)$ and $(f^*\omega_B) \otimes \mathbb{C}(p)$ in $\Omega_S^1 \otimes \mathbb{C}(p)$ coincide, or because $\mathcal{M}_0 \otimes \mathbb{C}(p)$ maps to zero in $\Omega_S^1 \otimes \mathbb{C}(p)$. The first case means that not all local sections of \mathcal{M}_0 vanish at p, but their values are proportional to pull-backs of 1-forms on B, while the second case means that all local sections of \mathcal{M}_0 vanish at p. An immediate computation in local coordinates shows that if the second case happens along some components E'_0 of E', the quotient sheaf Ω_S^1/\mathcal{M}_0 would have torsion supported on E'_0 . The last step in the proof of Proposition 6.2.2 replaces E' by $D = E' - E'_0$.

6.3 MAIN RESULTS

This is the very last section in the Thesis, and it is devoted to prove Theorems 6.3.1 and 6.3.4 about the isotriviality of fibred surfaces. The first one is a general result, while the second one is an inequality for the relative irregularity of a fibred surface in terms of its Clifford index. We have included several different proofs for some parts, using different techniques and generalizable to different situations.

Theorem 6.3.1. Let $f : S \to B$ be a fibration of genus g and relative irregularity $q_f \ge 2$. Suppose it is supported on an effective divisor D such that $D \cdot C < 2g - 2$ and $h^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(D_{|C})) = 1$ for some smooth fibre C. Then, after finitely many blow-ups and a change of base, there is a different fibration $h : S \to B'$ over a curve of genus $g(B') = q_f$. In particular S is a covering of the product $B \times B'$, and both surfaces have the same irregularity.

Proof. By Lemma 3.1.12, after blowing-up some points and a change of base, we can assume that f has reduced fibres and still satisfies the rest of the hypotheses. Also, the new fibration is isotrivial if and only if the original one was.

Now, deg $(\mathcal{L}_{D|C}) = 2g - 2 - (D \cdot C) > 0$ for a general fibre C because $D \cdot C < 2g - 2$. The same inequality gives, by Lemma 4.3.17, that the inclusion $\mathcal{L}_D \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω^1_S . Applying Proposition 6.2.2, we can replace D by a subdivisor (still called D for simplicity) and assume that $\omega_{S/B}(-D)$ lifts to Ω^1_S , D has no component contracted by f and that the cokernel $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}_D$ of the lifting is torsion-free, isomorphic to $f^*\omega_B \otimes \mathcal{O}_S(D) \otimes I_Z$ for some finite subscheme $Z \subset S$. Since we have replaced D by a subdivisor, the fact that $h^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(D|_C)) = 1$ for some smooth fibre C does not change. $Claim: h^0(S, \omega_{S/B}(-D)) \geq q_f$. Indeed, it follows from the exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \omega_{S/B} (-D) \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \mathcal{K} \longrightarrow 0$$

that $h^0(\omega_{S/B}(-D)) \ge h^0(\Omega^1_S) - h^0(\mathcal{K}) = q(S) - h^0(\mathcal{K})$, so it is enough to prove that $h^0(\mathcal{K}) = g(B)$.

Since f has reduced fibres, $\Omega^1_{S/B}$ is a subsheaf of $\omega_{S/B}$ (Lemma 3.2.6) and the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \omega_{S/B}$$

is exact. Applying the snake lemma to the diagram of exact rows

we get that the kernel of $\mathcal{K} \to \omega_{S/B|D}$ is also $f^*\omega_B$. Therefore, taking direct images, we obtain the following exact sequence of sheaves on B

$$0 \longrightarrow \omega_B \longrightarrow f_* \mathcal{K} \longrightarrow f_* \omega_{S/B|D}.$$

Since $\mathcal{K} \cong f^* \omega_B \otimes \mathcal{O}_S(D) \otimes I_Z$ is torsion-free and $D_{|C|}$ is rigid for a general fibre C,

$$f_*\mathcal{K} = \omega_B \otimes f_* \left(\mathcal{O}_S(D) \otimes I_Z \right)$$

is a vector bundle (torsion-free over a curve) of rank one. Therefore, the cokernel of the injection $\omega_B \hookrightarrow f_* \mathcal{K}$ must be a torsion subsheaf of $f_* \omega_{S/B|D}$. But the latter is torsion-free because D has no component contracted by f (see Lemma 6.3.2 below), so the injection $\omega_B \hookrightarrow f_* \mathcal{K}$ is in fact an isomorphism, and

$$h^{0}(S, \mathcal{K}) = h^{0}(B, f_{*}\mathcal{K}) = h^{0}(B, \omega_{B}) = g(B),$$

finishing the proof of the claim.

Since the lifting of $\omega_{S/B}(-D)$ to Ω_S^1 is a line bundle \mathcal{L} , the wedge product of any two of its sections is zero. Therefore, since we have just seen that $h^0(\mathcal{L}) \ge q_f \ge 2$, the Castelnuovo-de Franchis Theorem 3.1.14 implies the existence of the fibration $h: S \to B'$ over a curve B' of genus $g(B') \ge q_f$.

It remains to show that $g(B') = q_f$, which follows from the last structural statement. In fact, the two fibrations give a covering π completing the diagram



Since π is surjective, $q(S) \ge q(B \times B') = g(B) + g(B')$, hence $g(B') \le q_f$, and the proof is finished.

Lemma 6.3.2. If $f: S \to B$ is any fibration, D is an effective divisor on S without components contracted by f, and L is any line bundle on S, then $f_*(L_{|D})$ is a torsion-free sheaf on B.

Proof. We have to show that, given any open subset $U \subseteq B$ and any nonzero section $\alpha \in H^0(U, f_*(L_{|D})) = H^0(f^{-1}(U), L_{|D})$, the condition

$$\phi \alpha = 0 \in H^0(U, f_*(L_{|D})) = H^0(f^{-1}(U), L_{|D})$$

for some $\phi \in H^0(U, \mathcal{O}_B)$ implies that $\phi = 0$.

Let $p \in D \cap f^{-1}(U)$ be any point, $R = \mathcal{O}_{S,p}$ and $T = \mathcal{O}_{B,f(p)}$ the local rings at p and f(p), and \mathfrak{m}_R and \mathfrak{m}_T the corresponding maximal ideals.

Recall that both R and T are factorial rings because S and B are smooth varieties, and also that f induces an injection $f^* : T \hookrightarrow R$ (because it is surjective).

Let $d \in \mathfrak{m}_R$ be a local equation for D near p, which has no factors in $f^*\mathfrak{m}_T$ because D has no component contracted by f. Let

$$\widetilde{\alpha} \in L_p \cong R$$

be a germ of section of L at p that restricts to the germ of α in

$$L_{|D,p} \cong R/\langle d \rangle$$
.

The condition $\phi \alpha = 0$ means that $(f^*\phi_p) \widetilde{\alpha} \in \langle d \rangle$. But the factoriality of R and the fact that d has no factors in $f^*\mathfrak{m}_T$ imply that either $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \langle d \rangle$ or $f^*\phi_p = 0$. But the first condition cannot happen for every $p \in D \cap f^{-1}(U)$, since it would imply that $\alpha = 0$. Hence we obtain that for some p we have $\phi_p = 0$, and therefore $\phi = 0$, as wanted. \Box

Remark 6.3.3. If the generalizations pointed out in Remark 4.3.18 do actually work, it is also very reasonable to expect higher-dimensional analogues of Proposition 6.2.2 and Theorem 6.3.1, obtaining some extra structure for one-dimensional compact families of irregular varieties such that the fibrewise deformations are supported on rigid divisors.

We use Theorem 6.3.1 to prove the following result. Recall (Definition 3.4.1) that the Clifford index of the fibration is defined as

$$c_f = \max \left\{ \text{Cliff} \left(C_b \right) \mid C_b \text{ is smooth} \right\}.$$

Theorem 6.3.4. Let $f : S \to B$ be a fibration of genus g, relative irregularity q_f and Clifford index c_f . If f is non-isotrivial, then

$$q_f \le g - c_f.$$

Remark 6.3.5. Theorem 6.3.4 can be interpreted as the most general case of Conjecture 6.1.7. In fact, a general curve of genus g has Clifford index $\lfloor \frac{g-1}{2} \rfloor$. Hence if the fibres are general in moduli, Theorem 6.3.4 says that the fibration satisfies

$$q_f \leq g - \left\lfloor \frac{g-1}{2} \right\rfloor = \left\lceil \frac{g+1}{2} \right\rceil,$$

which coincides with the bound predicted in Conjecture 6.1.7.

Observe that if f is not trivial and $q_f > 0$, the fibres cannot have very general moduli. Indeed, in this case, the fibres must have decomposable Jacobian varieties, and such curves form a countable union of closed subsets \mathcal{Z} in the moduli space \mathcal{M}_g . Anyway, the locus of curves with maximal Clifford index is open in \mathcal{M}_g , hence it intersects all but (at most) finitely many of the components of \mathcal{Z} and Conjecture 6.1.7 holds for general nonisotrivial fibrations.

In order to improve Theorem 6.3.4, it would be interesting to study the incidence relations between the components of \mathcal{Z} and the strata of \mathcal{M}_g given by the Clifford index.

Remark 6.3.6. Although in general our bound is better than the general one (6.1) proved by Xiao, for small c_f our Theorem is worse. As a extremal case, if the general fibres are hyperelliptic, $c_f = 0$ and Theorem 6.3.4 has no content at all. But in this special case we can prove that the strong inequality $q_f \leq \frac{g+1}{2}$ holds using the rigidity results of Pirola in [32].

In order to prove Theorem 6.3.4, we first need to produce (modulo change of base) a subsheaf $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ admitting a lifting to Ω^1_S . Using Theorem 5.3.4, we may obtain a rank-two vector bundle $\mathcal{W} \subseteq V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B$ with vanishing adjoint map. We show now in Proposition 6.3.7 how such a \mathcal{W} leads to the existence of the wanted subsheaf \mathcal{L} , giving two essentially different proofs. In the first proof we use the Adjoint Theorem 5.1.4 and the results on global deformations of Section 4.3, while in the second one we directly construct the lifting $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_S$ along the ideas in the proof of the Volumetric Theorem 5.1.5.

Recall from Section 4.3 the projective bundle $\pi : \mathbb{P} \to B$ associated to the sheaf $\mathcal{E}\mathrm{xt}_f^1\left(\Omega_{S/B}^1, f^*\omega_B\right)$, the subvariety $\mathbb{P}_{\Gamma} \subseteq \mathbb{P}$ associated to any subscheme $\Gamma \subset S$, and the section $\gamma : B \to \mathbb{P}$, which is defined for any non-isotrivial fibration and a generic value $b \in B$ to the class of ξ_b . Recall also that ξ is supported on Γ if and only if the image of γ lies on \mathbb{P}_{Γ} .

Proposition 6.3.7. If $\mathcal{W} \subseteq V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B$ is a rank-two vector subbundle whose associated adjoint map vanishes, then the subsheaf

$$\mathcal{L} = \operatorname{im} \left(f^* \mathcal{W} \to \Omega^1_{S/B} \right) \subseteq \Omega^1_{S/B}$$

lifts to Ω^1_S and deg $(\mathcal{L}_{|C}) > 0$ for a general fibre C.

First proof of Proposition 6.3.7. If f is isotrivial, then the sequence

$$\xi: 0 \longrightarrow f^* \omega_B \longrightarrow \Omega^1_S \longrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \longrightarrow 0$$

is split and there is nothing to prove. Hence, we may assume from now on that f is not isotrivial.

There exist an effective divisor $D \subset S$ and a non-empty open subset $U \subseteq B$ of regular values such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{|f^{-1}(U)} \cong \omega_{S/B} \left(-D \right)_{|f^{-1}(U)}.$$

Indeed, the image sheaf

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{L}} = \operatorname{im}\left(\mathcal{L} \longleftrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \omega_{S/B}\right) \subseteq \omega_{S/B}$$

is of the form $\widetilde{\mathcal{L}} = \omega_{S/B} \otimes I_{\Gamma}$ for some subscheme $\Gamma \subset S$. Then it is enough to take D to be the divisorial part of Γ , and U to be the complement in Bof the image of the critical points of f and the embedded or isolated points of Γ .

Then, for any $b \in U$ we have that C_b is smooth and $\mathcal{L}_{|C_b} \cong \omega_{C_b}(-D_b)$ (where $D_b = D_{|C_b}$). Furthermore, by construction, D_b is the base locus of the linear subsystem $|W_b| \subseteq |\omega_{C_b}|$ of the canonical system of C_b given by $W_b \subseteq H^0(C_b, \omega_{C_b})$, the fibre of \mathcal{W} over b. This implies in particular that $\deg D_b < 2g - 2$, hence $\deg (\mathcal{L}_{|C_b}) > 0$.

Now, by the Adjoint Theorem 5.1.4, the deformation ξ_b is supported on D_b . Since this happens for b varying on a non-empty subset of B, it implies that $\gamma(B)$ is contained in \mathbb{P}_D , that is, ξ is supported on D (by Proposition 4.3.14). According to Corollary 4.3.15, ξ is also supported on Γ , and by Lemma 4.3.17, the pullback ξ_{Γ} is split and $\mathcal{L}_{\Gamma} \subseteq \Omega^1_{S/B}$ lifts to Ω^1_S .

Finally, since the composition $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B} \to \omega_{S/B|\Gamma}$ vanishes by definition, there is an inclusion $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \mathcal{L}_{\Gamma}$ and hence $\mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S/B}$ also lifts to Ω^1_S .

Second proof of Proposition 6.3.7. The fact that deg $(\mathcal{L}_{|C}) > 0$ for a general fibre C follows, as above, from the fact that $\mathcal{L}_{|C} \hookrightarrow \omega_C$ is generated by two linearly independent 1-forms on C.

Recall the injection of sheaves on B

$$V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B \hookrightarrow f_* \Omega^1_{S/B} \tag{6.3}$$

introduced in Remark 3.2.7. We now construct an injective map of vector bundles $\mathcal{W} \hookrightarrow f_*\Omega^1_S$ completing the diagram

in such a way that the image of the composition $f^*\mathcal{W} \hookrightarrow f^*f_*\Omega_S^1 \to \Omega_S^1$ is a sheaf \mathcal{L}_0 of rank 1. In fact, we construct a subsheaf $\mathcal{G} \hookrightarrow f_*\Omega_S^1$ isomorphic to \mathcal{W} and satisfying the last property. We build \mathcal{G} giving its sections over any sufficiently small affine open subset $U \subseteq B$, which will be a free $H^0(U, \mathcal{O}_B)$ module of rank 2. More precisely, let $U \subset B$ be any open affine subset where \mathcal{W} is trivial, and let $s_1, s_2 \in H^0(U, \mathcal{W})$ be two sections giving the isomorphism $\mathcal{O}_U^{\oplus 2} \cong \mathcal{W}_{|U}$. Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{W}} \subseteq H^0(S, \Omega_S^1) \otimes \mathcal{O}_B$ be the preimage of \mathcal{W} by the natural projection $H^0(S, \Omega_S^1) \otimes \mathcal{O}_B \to V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B$, and let

$$\widetilde{s}_{i} \in H^{0}\left(U, \widetilde{\mathcal{W}}\right) \subseteq H^{0}\left(U, H^{0}\left(S, \Omega_{S}^{1}\right) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{B}\right)$$

be any preimages of the s_i .

The vanishing of the adjoint map of \mathcal{W} means that the image of $\bigwedge^2 \widetilde{\mathcal{W}}$ in $f_*\omega_S$ lies in the subsheaf $\mathcal{W} \otimes \omega_B$. This implies that the wedge product $\widetilde{s_1} \wedge \widetilde{s_2}$ belongs to $H^0(U, \mathcal{W} \otimes \omega_B) \cong H^0(U, \omega_B) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}\langle s_1, s_2 \rangle$, and therefore there are uniquely determined $\beta_i \in H^0(U, \omega_B)$ such that

$$\widetilde{s_1} \wedge \widetilde{s_2} = \widetilde{s_1} \wedge f^* \beta_2 - \widetilde{s_2} \wedge f^* \beta_1,$$

or equivalently

$$(\widetilde{s}_1 - f^*\beta_1) \wedge (\widetilde{s}_2 - f^*\beta_2) = 0.$$
(6.4)

Define $\sigma_i = \tilde{s}_i - f^* \beta_i$, and let $\mathcal{G}_{|U} \subseteq (f_* \Omega^1_S)_{|U}$ be the subsheaf generated by σ_1, σ_2 . The uniqueness of the β_i implies that the σ_i are independent of the choice of the \tilde{s}_i . Furthermore, if s'_1, s'_2 is another pair of trivializing sections of $\mathcal{W}_{|U}$, the σ'_i obtained imposing (6.4) will be $\mathcal{O}_B(U)$ -linear combinations of the σ_i . Therefore, $\mathcal{G}_{|U}$ is well-defined. Moreover, if U' is another open affine subset trivializing \mathcal{W} , the definitions of $\mathcal{G}_{|U}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{|U'}$ must agree on $U \cap U'$ by uniqueness, so there is a well defined locally free sheaf $\mathcal{G} \hookrightarrow f_* \Omega^1_S$ of rank two, and it is clearly isomorphic to \mathcal{W} , as wanted.

Furthermore, since local sections of \mathcal{G} wedge to zero, clearly the subsheaf $\mathcal{L}_0 \subseteq \Omega^1_S$ generated by $f^*\mathcal{G}$ is of rank one.

We finally show that \mathcal{L}_0 maps isomorphically to \mathcal{L} . It is obvious by construction that there is a surjective map $\mathcal{L}_0 \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{L}$. But this map must also be injective, since both sheaves have the same rank and \mathcal{L}_0 is torsion-free (it is a subsheaf of a locally free sheaf).

We can now proceed with the

Proof of Theorem 6.3.4. Suppose, looking for a contradiction, that the fibration $f: S \to B$ is non-isotrivial and that $q_f > g - c_f$. If f' is the fibration obtained after finitely mainy blow-ups at points and a change of base, it is still non-isotrivial, and Corollary 3.1.9 gives that $q_{f'} \ge q_f$. Hence

we may apply Lemma 3.1.12 and assume in addition that f has reduced fibres.

Since in general it holds that $c_f \leq \frac{g-1}{2}$, our assumptions imply in particular that $q_f > \frac{g+1}{2}$. Hence, by Theorem 5.3.4 we may assume (possibly after another change of base) that there exists a vector subbundle $\mathcal{W} \subseteq V \otimes \mathcal{O}_B$ of rank 2 and with vanishing adjoint map. Now Proposition 6.3.7 gives a subsheaf $\mathcal{L} \subseteq \Omega^1_{S/B}$ such that the inclusion lifts to Ω^1_S . By Proposition 6.2.2, we may assume that $\mathcal{L} \cong \omega_{S/B} (-D)$ for some effective divisor D such that $d = D \cdot C < 2g - 2$ for any fibre C.

We consider now two cases:

Case 1: The divisor D is relatively rigid, that is $h^0(C, \mathcal{O}_C(D)) = 1$ for some smooth fibre $C = C_b$. In this case we can apply Theorem 6.3.1 to obtain a new fibration $h: S \to B'$ over a curve of genus $g(B') = q_f$ (after a change of base). Let $\phi: C \to B'$ be the restriction of h to the smooth fibre C. Applying Riemann-Hurwitz we obtain

$$2g - 2 \ge \deg \phi \, (2q_f - 2).$$

But we have from the beginning that $q_f > \frac{g+1}{2}$, so that $2q_f - 2 > g - 1$, and thus

$$2(g-1) > \deg \phi \, (g-1).$$

It follows that deg $\phi = 1$ (recall that we have assumed $g \ge 2$ from the beginning), so every smooth fibre is isomorphic to B' and hence f is isotrivial.

Case 2: The divisor D moves on any smooth fibre, i.e. $h^0(C_b, \mathcal{O}_{C_b}(D)) \geq 2$ for every regular value $b \in B$.

After a further change of base, we may assume that D consists of d sections of f (possibly with multiplicities), and the new fibration is still supported on D (Lemma 4.3.16). Then we can replace D by a minimal subdivisor $D' \leq D$ such that ξ is still supported on D'. Since D is composed by sections of f, this implies that for general $b \in B$, the deformation ξ_b is minimally supported on $D_{|C_b}$. Note that this might not be true if the supporting divisors were not a union of sections, as different points of $D_{|C_b}$ lying on the same irreducible component of D may be redundant.

If this new D is relatively rigid, the proof finishes as in Case 1. Otherwise, if still $h^0(C_b, \mathcal{O}_{C_b}(D)) \geq 2$ for generic $b \in B$, we may use Theorem 4.1.17 to obtain

$$\operatorname{rk} \xi_b \ge \operatorname{Cliff} \left(D_{|C_b} \right) = c_f. \tag{6.5}$$

But $V \subseteq \ker \partial_{\xi_b} = K_{\xi_b}$, so that $\operatorname{rk} \xi_b = g - \dim K_{\xi_b} \leq g - q_f$, and the inequality (6.5) implies that

$$g - q_f \ge c_f,$$

which contradicts our very first hypothesis.

Remark 6.3.8. Note that, whenever we can produce a relatively rigid divisor D supporting the fibration, the inequality $q_f > \frac{g+1}{2}$ is enough (together with the structure Theorem 6.3.1) to prove that the fibration f is isotrivial, while the stronger inequality $q_f > g - c_f$ is used only if it is impossible to find such a D (allowing arbitrary changes of base). Hence, all possible counterexamples to Xiao's original conjecture must fall into this second case.

We wish to close this final section with Proposition 6.3.9, which gives an alternative proof of Case 1 in the proof of Theorem 6.3.4. This Proposition uses the Volumetric Theorem 5.1.5 instead of Theorem 6.3.1, hence applies for non-necessarily compact families. On the contrary, the compactness of the surface is crucial in Theorem 6.3.1, since it uses the Castelnuovo-de Franchis Theorem.

Proposition 6.3.9. Suppose that $f: S \to B$ is a fibration where the base B is a smooth, not necessarily compact curve. Assume that there is an Abelian variety A of dimension a, and a morphism $\Phi: S \to A \times B$ respecting the fibres of f and such that the image of any restriction to a fibre $\phi_b: C_b \to A$ generates A. Suppose also that the deformation is supported on a divisor $D \subset S$ such that $h^0(C_b, \mathcal{O}_{C_b}(D)) = 1$ for general $b \in B$. If $a > \frac{g+1}{2}$, then f is isotrivial.

Remark 6.3.10. If we start from a fibration with compact B, we may take A to be the kernel of a_f : Alb $(S) \rightarrow J(B)$, which has dimension $a = q_f$. After replacing B by an open disk, the Albanese map gives a morphism Φ as above (for more details, see Section 3.3). Hence, Proposition 6.3.9 gives indeed a new proof of the first case in the proof of Theorem 6.3.4 above.

Proof of Proposition 6.3.9. Take any $b \in B$ such that C_b is smooth, and let $\widetilde{C_b}$ be the image of $\phi_b : C_b \to A$. Since $\widetilde{C_b}$ generates A, it has genus $g' \geq \dim A = a > \frac{g+1}{2}$. This implies, by Riemann-Hurwitz, that ϕ_b is birational onto its image for any regular value $b \in B$.

If f is not isotrivial, the Volumetric Theorem 5.1.5 implies that, for a general fibre $C = C_b$, the adjoint class of a generic 2-dimensional subspace

$$W \subseteq V := H^0\left(A, \Omega^1_A\right) \subseteq H^0\left(C, \omega_C\right)$$

is non-zero.

However, we show now that, for *every* fibre, the adjoint class of *every* 2-dimensional subspace of V vanishes, which finishes the proof. Fix any regular value $b \in B$ and denote by $C = C_b$ the corresponding fibre, by $\xi = \xi_b$ the infinitesimal deformation induced by f, and by $D = D_{|C}$ the restriction of the global divisor. Let also $K = K_{\xi}$ be the kernel of ∂_{ξ} . Since ξ is supported on D, Lemma 4.1.12 gives the inclusion $H^0(C, \omega_C(-D)) \subseteq K$, which is in fact an equality. Indeed, on the one hand we have

$$\dim H^0\left(C,\omega_C\left(-D\right)\right) = g - \deg D$$

because D is rigid, while on the other hand it holds

$$\dim K = g - \operatorname{rk} \xi = g - \deg D$$

because of the combination of Corollary 4.1.14 and Theorem 4.1.17. Therefore, $V \subseteq K = H^0(C, \omega_C(-D))$.

Now, according to Remark 4.1.11, the upper sequence in

is split, giving a lifting $\omega_C(-D) \hookrightarrow \Omega^1_{S|C}$ such that every pair of elements of $H^0(C, \omega_C(-D)) \subseteq H^0(C, \Omega^1_{S|C})$ wedge to zero (they are sections of the same sub-line bundle of $\Omega^1_{S|C}$), which finishes the proof. \Box

Remark 6.3.11. In the above proof, to show that the images C_b are all isomorphic it is only necessary to use the Volumetric Theorem 5.1.5. The inequality $a > \frac{g+1}{2}$ is only used, combined with Riemann-Hurwitz, to show that the maps ϕ_b are birational. Therefore, if we drop the inequality $a > \frac{g+1}{2}$ from the hypothesis (but still keep that the deformations are supported on rigid divisors), the same proof shows that the fibres C_b are coverings of a fixed curve \widetilde{C}_b .

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] Luchezar L. Avramov. Complete intersections and symmetric algebras. J. Algebra, 73(1):248–263, 1981.
- [2] M. A. Barja, J. C. Naranjo, and G. P. Pirola. On the topological index of irregular surfaces. J. Algebraic Geom., 16(3):435–458, 2007.
- [3] Miguel Ángel Barja and Lidia Stoppino. Linear stability of projected canonical curves with applications to the slope of fibred surfaces. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 60(1):171–192, 2008.
- [4] Wolf P. Barth, Klaus Hulek, Chris A. M. Peters, and Antonius Van de Ven. Compact complex surfaces, volume 4 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 2004.
- [5] Arnaud Beauville. Complex algebraic surfaces, volume 34 of London Mathematical Society Student Texts. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1996. Translated from the 1978 French original by R. Barlow, with assistance from N. I. Shepherd-Barron and M. Reid.
- [6] I. N. Bernšteĭn, I. M. Gel'fand, and S. I. Gel'fand. Algebraic vector bundles on Pⁿ and problems of linear algebra. *Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen.*, 12(3):66–67, 1978.
- [7] Caucher Birkar. Topics in algebraic geometry, 2011.
- [8] Winfried Bruns and Udo Vetter. Determinantal rings, volume 45 of Monografías de Matemática [Mathematical Monographs]. Instituto de Matemática Pura e Aplicada (IMPA), Rio de Janeiro, 1988.
- [9] Fabrizio Catanese. Moduli and classification of irregular Kaehler manifolds (and algebraic varieties) with Albanese general type fibrations. *Invent. Math.*, 104(2):263–289, 1991.
- [10] Andrea Causin and Gian Pietro Pirola. Hermitian matrices and cohomology of Kähler varieties. *Manuscripta Math.*, 121(2):157–168, 2006.

- [11] Alberto Collino and Gian Pietro Pirola. The Griffiths infinitesimal invariant for a curve in its Jacobian. Duke Math. J., 78(1):59–88, 1995.
- [12] O. Debarre. Inégalités numériques pour les surfaces de type général. Bull. Soc. Math. France, 110(3):319–346, 1982. With an appendix by A. Beauville.
- [13] Lawrence Ein and Robert Lazarsfeld. Singularities of theta divisors and the birational geometry of irregular varieties. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 10(1):243–258, 1997.
- [14] David Eisenbud. Commutative algebra, volume 150 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995. With a view toward algebraic geometry.
- [15] Takao Fujita. On Kähler fiber spaces over curves. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 30(4):779–794, 1978.
- [16] William Fulton. Intersection theory, volume 2 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [17] Adam Ginensky. A generalization of the clifford index and determinantal equations for curves and their secant varieties, 2010.
- [18] Mark Green and Robert Lazarsfeld. Deformation theory, generic vanishing theorems, and some conjectures of Enriques, Catanese and Beauville. *Invent. Math.*, 90(2):389–407, 1987.
- [19] Mark Green and Robert Lazarsfeld. Higher obstructions to deforming cohomology groups of line bundles. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 4(1):87–103, 1991.
- [20] Phillip Griffiths and Joseph Harris. Principles of algebraic geometry. Wiley-Interscience [John Wiley & Sons], New York, 1978. Pure and Applied Mathematics.
- [21] Alexander Grothendieck. SGA, Séminaire de géométrie algébrique, 1-7.
- [22] Robin Hartshorne. Algebraic geometry. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52.
- [23] Daniel Huybrechts and Manfred Lehn. The geometry of moduli spaces of sheaves. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2010.

- [24] Kazuhiro Konno. Clifford index and the slope of fibered surfaces. J. Algebraic Geom., 8(2):207–220, 1999.
- [25] Robert Lazarsfeld. Positivity in algebraic geometry. I, volume 48 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. Classical setting: line bundles and linear series.
- [26] Robert Lazarsfeld. Positivity in algebraic geometry. II, volume 49 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. Positivity for vector bundles, and multiplier ideals.
- [27] Robert Lazarsfeld and Mihnea Popa. Derivative complex, BGG correspondence, and numerical inequalities for compact Kähler manifolds. *Invent. Math.*, 182(3):605–633, 2010.
- [28] Luigi Lombardi. Inequalities for the Hodge numbers of irregular compact Kaehler manifolds. Int Math Res Notices (2012), 2011.
- [29] Laurentiu Maxim and Jörg Schürmann. Hirzebruch invariants of symmetric products. In *Topology of algebraic varieties and singularities*, volume 538 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 163–177. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2011.
- [30] Margarida Mendes-Lopes, Rita Pardini, and Gian Pietro Pirola. Continuous families of divisors, paracanonical systems and a new inequality for varieties of maximal Albanese dimension, 2012.
- [31] Giuseppe Pareschi and Mihnea Popa. Strong generic vanishing and a higher-dimensional Castelnuovo-de Franchis inequality. *Duke Math.* J., 150(2):269–285, 2009.
- [32] Gian Pietro Pirola. Curves on generic Kummer varieties. Duke Math. J., 59(3):701–708, 1989.
- [33] Gian Pietro Pirola. On a conjecture of Xiao. J. Reine Angew. Math., 431:75–89, 1992.
- [34] Gian Pietro Pirola and Francesco Zucconi. Variations of the Albanese morphisms. J. Algebraic Geom., 12(3):535–572, 2003.

- [35] Ziv Ran. On subvarieties of abelian varieties. Invent. Math., 62(3):459– 479, 1981.
- [36] Fumio Sakai. Weil divisors on normal surfaces. Duke Math. J., 51(4):877–887, 1984.
- [37] Edoardo Sernesi. General curves on algebraic surfaces, 2013.
- [38] Fernando Serrano. Fibred surfaces and moduli. *Duke Math. J.*, 67(2):407–421, 1992.
- [39] Fernando Serrano. The sheaf of relative differentials of a fibred surface. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc., 114(3):461–470, 1993.
- [40] Fernando Serrano. Isotrivial fibred surfaces. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 171:63–81, 1996.
- [41] Carlos Simpson. Subspaces of moduli spaces of rank one local systems. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 26(3):361–401, 1993.
- [42] Claire Voisin. Hodge theory and complex algebraic geometry. I, volume 76 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, english edition, 2007. Translated from the French by Leila Schneps.
- [43] Gang Xiao. Fibered algebraic surfaces with low slope. *Math. Ann.*, 276(3):449–466, 1987.
- [44] Gang Xiao. Irregularity of surfaces with a linear pencil. Duke Math. J., 55(3):597–602, 1987.